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DEPARTMENT FOR BUSINESS INNOVATION AND SKILLS 
 


THE FUTURE OF NARRATIVE REPORTING 
 
 


                  CBI  RESPONSE                            October 2010 
 
 
I     INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY  
 
1. The Confederation of British Industry (CBI) is pleased to respond to the BIS consultation. 


 
2. There have been lots of initiatives concerning narrative reporting in recent years. 
Although much is made of the repeal of the statutory Operating and Financial Review (OFR)           
in 2005, this was soon substantially reinstated in the form of the Business Review in                               
the Companies Act 2006. In addition, the Reporting Standard developed by the Accounting 
Standards Board in support of the statutory OFR, has remained in place as voluntary guidance.                          
Other initiatives include the IASB proposals for Management Commentary. 
 
3. Narrative reporting is also underpinned by UK Corporate Governance Code, where this has been 
good practice right from the outset of the first Cadbury Code of corporate governance. In the most 
recent UK Corporate Governance Code 2010, the importance of narrative reporting has been 
further underpinned with new recommendations for boards to report on their company’s business 
model. 
 
4. In addition to regulatory bodies, various organizations and stakeholders have produced their 
own guidance and suggestions in particular areas or topics of narrative reporting, such as 
environmental reporting. 
 
5. Accordingly, narrative reporting has received much attention in recent years by a wide range of 
bodies, and on the face of it, there are no obvious gaps or weaknesses where further statutory 
intervention is required or justified. That does not mean that there is not scope for individual 
companies to improve their reporting, but pressure on them for improvement is best coming from 
their shareholders, to whom the annual report is addressed. 
 
 
 







 
6. We also mention a recent Deloitte / ACCA survey on narrative reporting.  74% of respondents 
wanted more discretion and less regulation on narrative reporting.  Even our investor members 
acknowledge that there is a need for stability in the reporting framework. The Survey also found 
that the general level of disclosure of the statutory Business Review requirements was very good. 
 
7. Therefore, if any change and improvement is sought, this is best in the form of guidance, such 
as any appropriate updating of the ASB Reporting Statement. 
 
8. CBI members also acknowledge the work going on in providing guidance on the reporting of 
greenhouse gas emissions in response to Climate Change and the requirements of the Climate 
Change Act 2008.  Whilst there is at present a lack of consistency and comparability in how 
companies report their greenhouse gas emissions, the Government should adopt a proportionate 
approach. Any carbon reporting mechanism must avoid policy overlap and be based on a 
methodology that is internationally recognized. 
 
9. We also acknowledge the contribution made by Awards for Annual Reports, which helps to 
drive quality, best practice and improvements in reporting. 
 
 
10. We comment further overleaf in response to the specific consultation questions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 
 
 


II     RESPONSES TO CONSULTATION QUESTIONS 
 
Value of narrative reporting  
 
Q.1.   Are company directors providing useful and relevant information on the company’s forward‐
looking strategy and risks and uncertainties ?  
 
Subject to any specific legal requirements, such as the Business Review, companies and boards must 
generally be free to frame their narrative reports in the way they judge most appropriate. 
 
At the time of the former statutory OFR, CBI members were very concerned at the lack of a safe 
harbour, i.e. some protection from legal liability, particularly if it involved disclosure of forward‐looking 
information. CBI members were pleased that Section 463 Companies Act 2006 was enacted to mitigate 
these concerns. Subsequently following the Davies Report, HM Treasury instigated adoption                        
by Parliament of additional safe harbour measures in other relevant UK Regulations concerned with 
the financial markets, which the CBI strongly supported. 
 
Disclosure of risks and uncertainties is also required by the Business Review, and in compliance with 
EU Directive requirements, such as the EU Accounts Modernisation Directive and the EU Transparency 
Directive. Appropriate sanctions are available, if necessary, if any company fails to meet its legal 
obligations, and we trust that most companies do make the necessary disclosures in most material 
respects. 
 
Since the provisions are relatively new, it will inevitably be the case that there is an element of some 
companies “feeling their way” in determining the style, nature and extent of the disclosures they 
make, including making comparisons with other companies, as good practice in this area develops. 
 
 
Q.2. What are the constraints on companies providing information on these issues ?  
 
See response to Q.1. 
 
Q.3. Does the information provided reflect the issues discussed by the directors in board meetings ?  
 
We would have thought so. 
 
 
Q.4. Does the information help shareholders to press directors on key issues relating to strategy             
and risk, or inform their business decisions ?  
 
We would have thought so. 
 
 
Q.5. If a company does not provide sufficient or material information to you, do you challenge it?            
Is there anything which could help you to do so ?  
 
Primarily for investors and their representative bodies to comment on, but we would expect investors 
who have queries or concerns to do so as part of the engagement process. 
 
 
 







 
 
 
Q.6. What other sources of company information do you use and how valuable are they                             
(e.g. information provided on the website, analysts’ briefings, dialogue with the company, corporate 
social responsibility report) ?  
 
For Investors and their representative bodies to comment. 
 
 
Q.7. Is there scope to reduce or simplify the requirements on which companies report ?  
 
There may be scope to draw together the regulatory requirements of the various bodies setting 
narrative reporting requirements, to make it easier for companies to know and to help them ensure 
compliance with their various obligations. 
 
BIS might also review the various disclosure obligations in relation to the Directors’ Report,                              
and whether the requirements could be better structured and presented, since many of                              
the requirements have grown piece‐meal over the years to address various Government policy 
objectives of the day. 
 
 
Q.8. Is there scope to arrange the information in a more useful way ?  
 
See response to Q.7. 
 
 
Business Review  
 
Q.9.  Looking at an OFR and the existing Business Review (see Annex D), do you see value in 
reinstating elements of an OFR and if so what would they be?    In particular, would a statutory 
reporting standard help to improve the quality of reporting?  
 
We are not convinced that it is necessary to upgrade the existing ASB Reporting Statement, which is 
intended as good practice, to a formal Reporting Standard. This would seem only to add to the volume 
of existing regulatory requirements on narrative reporting, when what is needed is regularly updated 
guidance. 
 
Accordingly some updating of the ASB Reporting Statement, as a good practice guidance document, 
may now be timely. However, if it became a mandatory Reporting Standard, it would just encourage 
boiler plate reporting for probably little additional benefit, whereas what should be encouraged is for 
companies and boards to report in the way they consider most appropriate and useful for their 
shareholders and stakeholders, and according to their company’s particular situation, circumstances, 
objectives and priorities. 
 
The Statutory OFR also placed some enhanced responsibilities on auditors. Specifically in respect of 
quoted companies, the auditors must state in their report both whether in their opinion the 
information given in the OFR is consistent with the audited accounts, and whether there is any 
information given in the OFR which is inconsistent with anything that came to their attention                
when carrying out the audit. 
 
We strongly support the simplified provisions now contained in Section 496 Companies Act 2006 that 
the auditors state in their report whether in their opinion the information given in the directors’ report 
is consistent with the audited accounts. 







 
 
Audit firms do carry out their obligations in this area and do raise any matters with the company’s 
board and management in the final stages of settling the form and content of the annual report              
and accounts. 
 
We therefore see no need for additional regulatory intervention in this area. 
 
 
Q.10. The business review provisions require quoted companies to report, to the extent necessary, 
on:  
           ‐   main trends and factors likely to affect the future development, performance and position  
                of  the company’s business  
          ‐   information on environmental matters  


‐  information on employees       
‐  information on social and community matters  
‐  persons with whom the company has essential contractual and other relationships  


Is this information useful to you?   How do you use it?  
Could disclosure be improved?   If so, how?  
Are there key issues which are missing?    If so, please explain?  
 
See our earlier comments. 
 
 
Q.11.   Would more guidance be helpful?   If so, what form should this take ?  
        For example: best practice example, sample Key Performance Indicators, etc ?  
 
See our earlier comments, such as the ASB Reporting Statement, which might the best medium  
for good practice guidance. 
 
 
Q.12. Should there be a shareholder’s advisory vote on the Business Review ?  
 
No.  There is already a shareholder vote on the Annual Report and Accounts, and CBI members do 
not see a role for additional advisory votes. 
 
Moreover for FTSE 350 companies, proceedings and voting at the AGM are already in the process 
of being significantly lengthened by the Governance Code recommendation for the annual 
election of every director of a FTSE 350 company. This therefore provides a mechanism to hold  
the performance of each individual director, and the board collectively, of such companies open  
to review and challenge at each AGM. 
 
 
Q.13.  Are there non‐regulatory solutions to increasing quality through better guidance or 
publicising excellence in business reports?  If so, what?  
 
See our earlier comments. 
 
We  also  support  the  contribution  that  Awards  for  company  reports  can  play  in  encouraging                  
the development of good, and often best, practice. 
 
 
 







 
 
 
Directors’ Remuneration Report  
 
Q.14.  Do the current disclosure requirements provide clear and usable information about:  
         ‐        the total remuneration paid to directors, and how this is made up;  
         ‐        the performance criteria for payments to directors, and how these relate to  
                  the  company’s strategic objectives;  


‐      the company performance against these criteria, so that there is a demonstrable link 
between pay and performance;  


‐      the process by which directors’ remuneration is decided ?  
If not, please explain including any views on how this might be improved.  
 
The CBI supports transparency around directors’ remuneration, including the composition of pay 
and the link between pay and performance, as reflected in the existing statutory Remuneration 
Regulations. 
 
These Regulations also include a requirement for listed companies to make a statement in                   
the board’s remuneration report on how pay and employment conditions of the workforce              
were taken into account when determining directors’ remuneration for the relevant financial year.    
 
However, we would caution that the UK should not set remuneration or taxation requirements 
that would place the UK at a competitive disadvantage internationally, either in causing talent             
to leave the UK who would otherwise be content to remain, or in failing to attract overseas 
personnel to the UK with the skills necessary to further UK growth and employment opportunities.       
 
We would also caution against a league table approach to disclosure, which would have                       
the unintended consequence of putting upward pressure on pay as individuals compete to be              
in the upper echelons of pay reward. 
 
We believe that the existing Remuneration Regulations are very comprehensive in achieving               
the Government’s disclosure objectives.  


 
 
 
Potential Costs  
 
Q.15.  If you can provide any  information on costs associated either with the existing narrative 
reporting requirements e.g. preparing your business review or your views on potential costs and 
benefits in relation to any of the ideas in this consultation, please give details.  
 
 


 








 


 
 
 
Consultation response form: The Future of Narrative Reporting  
 
A copy of the consultation available at: http://www.bis.gov.uk/consultations. 
 
Responses to the Consultation by be received by 19 October 2010 
 
Name: ACCOUNTING STANDARDS COMMITTEE & BUSINESS POLICY 
COMMITTEE 
 
Organisation (if applicable):  Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland 
 
Address: CA House, 21 Haymarket Yards, Edinburgh, EH12 5BH 
 
Email:  
 
Return completed forms to: 
Jane Leavens  
Corporate Law & Governance Directorate  
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills 
1 Victoria Street 
London 
SW1H 0ET 
 
Tel: 020 7215 1686 
Narrativereporting@bis.gsi.gov.uk 
 
Please tick the box from the following list of options that best describes 
you: 
 
 Quoted company 
 Other company  
 Investor or investment manager 
 Business representative organisation 
 Investor representative organisation  
 Non governmental organisation (NGO) 
 Trade Union 
 Lawyer or accountant 


 Other (e.g. consultant or private individual) 
 



http://www.bis.gov.uk/consultations�

mailto:Narrativereporting@bis.gsi.gov.uk�





 
Value of narrative reporting  
 
Question 1: Are company directors providing useful and relevant 
information on the company’s: 


i) forward-looking strategy and  
ii) principal risks and opportunities? 


 
Comments 
 
We have received consistent feedback through our own recent 
consultation document “Making Corporate Reports Readable” (a copy of 
this document is enclosed for your consideration) that the current 
narrative reporting framework for corporate annual reports requires 
major improvement.  Companies see the production of the annual report 
as an exercise in regulatory compliance.   
 
Ideally, narrative reporting should provide the directors of a company 
with the opportunity to tell a cohesive story about the business that 
explains and enhances the financial information in the annual report.  
This should include an explanation of the business model, the key risks 
and areas of significant management judgement and the forward-
looking prospects for the business.  
 
We believe that the corporate report should be addressed to the 
shareholder as the primary stakeholder.  Where other stakeholders 
require the disclosure of information this should be done through a 
separate reporting medium, such as a separate report or throught the 
company’s website.  The current reporting framework is a confused 
clutter of regulatory requirements, which often require the same 
information to be disclosed several times.     
 
Recent ICAS research found that while users generally believe there is a 
value to narrative reporting provided in a company’s annual report, its 
usefulness is currently limited by factors such as the use of 
standardised ‘boilerplate’ language and directors’ fear of being held 
accountable for unrealised predictions.  The disclosure of “principal” 
risks often results in the disclosure of every risk recorded on the 
company’s risk register.   
 
The overall length and complexity of corporate annual reports are also 
barriers to the usefulness of narrative reporting.  There are a number of 
factors contributing to this, including increasing regulatory 
requirements and increasing complexity in the underlying business 
model of many companies.  The volume and level of detail in annual 
reports can obscure key business information, and it can be difficult to 







relate information in the narrative sections of the report to information in 
the financial statements.  With preparers and users focusing on large 
volumes of highly-detailed, standardised disclosures, there is a danger 
that the bigger picture is missed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Question 2: What are the constraints on companies providing information 
on these issues? 
 
Comments 
 
The starting point must be the need to “tell the story” of the business. 
 
As stated above, two of the main constraints on companies providing 
this information are the complexity of the business model and the 
complexity and volume of regulatory reporting requirements.  Often it is 
very difficult to identify these disclosure requirements when they are 
found in several pieces of legislation, regulations and guidance.  This 
makes it difficult for management to exercise judgement in determining 
the key information to be presented in the narrative report.  
  
There are a wide variety of user groups of a company’s annual report 
with different and often competing information needs, therefore it is 
difficult for one report to meet all of these needs satisfactorily. 
 
The usefulness of narrative reporting can also be constrained by the 
fear of litigation and other negative reactions in response to forward-
looking or judgemental information provided.  In particular companies 
are concerned about the reaction of the markets if they start to focus on 
only the key issues.   
 
Companies are also concerned about the disclosure of commercially 
sensitive information.  Some information they are happy to provide in 
one-to-one meetings with investors or even in the analyst presentation 
(which can often be found on the company’s website) but they do not 
want to disclose this in the annual report.  There is a belief that it is 
easier to explain the context through verbal communication – and 
therefore prevent an adverse reaction from the markets.   
 
 
 
 







 
 


 
 
Question 3: Does the information provided reflect the issues discussed by 
the directors in board meetings?  
 
Comments 
 
We think it is unlikely that information provided in narrative reports 
reflects the issues discussed by the directors in board meetings.  
External reporting is likely to be less frank than informal discussions 
because of concerns about confidentiality and negative reaction to 
forward-looking information provided to the market.  ‘Safe harbours’ in 
narrative reporting are considered to be vital to allow directors to 
provide a more frank discussion of key areas of judgement, particularly 
when these are forward looking.   
 
There is also a disconnect between external financial reporting and 
internal management reporting:  external financial information is 
prepared on a specific historical basis in order to comply with regulation 
and accounting standards, while different techniques are used to report 
internally on a more ‘real-time’ basis. 







Question 4: Does the information help shareholders to press directors on 
key issues relating to strategy and risk, or inform their business decisions?  
 
Comments 
 
In order to consider the needs of shareholders it is necessary to 
understand who the shareholders are.  In the UK, many companies have 
a small number of institutional investors and some have no retail 
shareholders at all.  Some shareholders are concerned only with making 
a short term gain, while others invest over considerably longer periods 
of time.  These shareholders have different reporting needs.  Retail 
shareholders may only need a high level general purpose document, 
while professional analyst will require significantly more detail.   
 
The narrative information in an annual report is also only one element in 
a range of information used by shareholders to assess a company and 
challenge directors on key issues.  As discussed above, the current 
reporting model does not make it easy for directors to communicate, or 
for shareholders to respond to, the key issues relating to strategy and 
risk. 
 
ICAS has recently published ‘Making Corporate Reports Readable’ – a 
proposal for a new short-form financial report which would replace the 
current annual review and summary financial statements.  This model 
would require directors to tell a succinct and cohesive story about the 
company, explaining the business model, key risks and judgements, 
and demonstrating how these link to the financial statements.  This 
short report would act as a ‘road map’, enabling shareholders and other 
users to access more detailed information if they require it.  
 
 In the longer term we would envisage that the short form would replace 
the front half of the full annual report, with the detail being easily 
available from the company’s website.  The replacement of the annual 
review and summary financial statements would be a first step but 
would only benefit those companies who actually use the annual review 
and summary financial statements – normally those companies who 
have a large retail shareholder base.       
 
A copy of ‘Making Corporate Reports Readable’ has been sent with this 
response. 
 
 
 
 
 
 







  
 
Question 5: If a company does not provide sufficient or material 
information to you, do you challenge it? Is there anything which could help 
you to do so?   
 
Comments 
 
It should be noted that the level of challenge to management also 
depends in part on the level of engagement  by the investor and 
therefore there is a limit to the extent to which changes to 
communication by companies will impact upon this. 
 
The volume of information currently provided means it can be difficult 
for users to assess what is the most important information and 
consequently undoubtedly affects the extent to which many 
shareholders are able to engage with a company.   
 
The short form report proposed by ICAS acts as a summary highlighting 
key areas which would allow users to investigate further as appropriate. 
A vital element of the short form report is that it would make clear the 
significant judgements that management has made – these are likely to 
be the types of issues that the external auditor reports to the audit 
committee, who have a key role in challenging management on behalf of 
the shareholders. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
Question 6: What other sources of company information do you use and 
how valuable are they (e.g. information provided on the website, analysts’ 
briefings, dialogue with the company, corporate social responsibility 
report)? 
 
Comments 
 
Investors and analysts report that results announcements and 
presentations and meetings with management are amongst the most 
useful sources of company information. These are particularly valuable 
because of their timeliness and the opportunity to engage directly with 
the directors.   
 







CSR reports are important for certain businesses and shareholders but 
not for all.  It is important to remember that shareholders are not a 
homogenous group and therefore have differing information 
requirements. 
 
Most companies now provide a considerable amount of information on 
their websites.  The ICAS short form report model would involve 
regulatory information being provided on a company website.  The short 
form report would be addressed to the shareholder.   
 
 
 
 
 
 







Question 7: Is there scope to reduce or simplify the requirements on which 
companies report?   
 
Comments 
 
The short form report proposed by ICAS in ‘Making Corporate Reports 
Readable’ is a means of achieving this aim, by replacing the annual 
review and summary financial statements, and providing a roadmap to 
more detailed information that would be provided on the website. 
 
This would only be the first step to reform as only some companies use 
the annual review and summary financial statements.  We believe that 
the short form report could eventually replace the front half of the 
annual report. 
 
The short form report is developed on a principles basis and we would 
not proposed detailed guidance or prescribed formats.  Instead we 
would envisage a greater role for the external auditor in the front half of 
the annual report (and therefore in the short form report).  We envisage 
that the auditor could provide an overall assurance across the whole 
report, to a lower standard than the “true and fair” opinion given on the 
financial statements.  This assurance could be in the form of a 
“balanced and reasonable” opinion or similar.       
 
It should be remembered that the main purpose of financial reporting is 
accountability and stewardship and is not to satisfy regulatory 
requirements – this information should be separate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Question 8: Is there scope to arrange the information in a more useful way?  
 
Comments 
 
The proposals in ‘Making Corporate Reports Readable’ achieve this by 
requiring a brief overview of the company and its business model, an 
explanation of the business model and the significant judgements made 
by the directors.  This provides a cohesive view of the business and 
signposts users towards further information if it is required. 
 
 







 
 
 
 


 







Business Review 
 
Question 9: Looking at an Operating & Financial Review and the existing 
business review (see Annex D), do you see value in reinstating elements of 
an OFR and if so what would they be? In particular, would a statutory 
reporting standard help to improve the quality of reporting?   
 
Comments 
 
We do not believe there is particular merit in looking at specific 
elements of the OFR, since this is unlikely to result in significant 
changes to narrative reporting.  Rather, it is more important to look at 
the overall framework and consider how this can be improved.  
 
A statutory reporting standard is preferable to non-mandatory guidance, 
but this must be principles-based with limited guidance, in order to 
prevent the development of yet more boiler-plate disclosure. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Question 10: The business review provisions require quoted companies to 
report, to the extent necessary, on:  
 main trends and factors likely to affect the future development, 


performance and position of the company’s business 
 information on environmental matters 
 information on employees 
 information on social and community matters 
 persons with whom the company has essential contractual and other 


relationships   
i) is this information useful to you?  How do you use it? 
ii) Could disclosure be improved? If so, how?  
iii) Are there key issues which are missing? If so, please explain? 


 
Comments 
 
This information will be useful for some companies and shareholders 
but not for others.  There is a risk that these types of requirements 
result in ‘boiler-plate’ information being produced which does not help 
to tell the story about a business. 
 
 
 







 
 







Question 11: Would more guidance be helpful?  If so, what form should this 
take? For example, best practice example, sample Key Performance 
Indicators, etc?  
 
Comments 
 
We believe that guidance should be kept to a minimum as detailed 
guidance, sample KPIs etc risk being used as a checklist, making it less 
likely that companies will consider their relevance or whether any 
alternatives could be more useful. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Question 12: Should there be a shareholder’s advisory vote on the 
Business Review? 
 
Comments 
 
There is a risk that such a vote becomes purely procedural and 
therefore it is unlikely to have a significant impact.  We believe it is more 
important to focus on improving the quality of the narrative reporting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Question 13: Are there non-regulatory solutions to increasing quality 
through better guidance or publicising excellence in business reports? If 
so, what? 
 
Comments 







 
Non-regulatory solutions are unlikely to have a significant impact.  Fears 
over litigation and market reaction will prevent companies from taking 
the initiative to improve their reporting without regulatory intervention.  
In addition regulation is one of the causes of the current problems with 
narrative reporting; therefore regulatory change will be required to make 
meaningful improvements. 
 
 
 
 







Directors’ Remuneration Report 
 
Question 14: Do the current disclosure requirements provide clear and 
usable information about:  


 the total remuneration paid to directors, and how this is made up; 
 the performance criteria for payments to directors, and how 


these relate to the company’s strategic objectives; 
 company performance against these criteria, so that there is a 


demonstrable link between pay and performance.; 
 the process by which directors’ remuneration is decided? 


 
 
Comments 
 
We believe there is merit in investigating whether the remuneration 
report should be removed from the annual report and filed separately 
with an appropriate regulator (as happens in the US where such reports 
are filed with the SEC).  This would contribute to simplifying the annual 
report.  Our short form report includes a high level remuneration report 
which provides the headline figures but we do not believe that the large 
volume of detail is necessary in the primary corporate report.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Costs 
  
Question 15:  
If you can provide any information on costs associated either with the 
existing narrative reporting requirements eg preparing your business 
review or your views on potential costs and benefits in relation to any of 
the ideas in this consultation, please give details    
 
 
Comments 
 
Not applicable 
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An ability to discern the wood from the trees
is a tribute to effective communication. Over
the last decade the corporate reporting wood
has become undeniably dense and dark,
especially in the banking and financial services
sectors. Shareholders have been the so-called
beneficiaries of more information than they
could have ever believed possible. But more
does not mean better. The reality is that more
and more corporate information meant that
directors and shareholders struggled silently
to deliver effective accountability. Stewardship
suffered and today we are slowly coming to
terms with the painful consequences. 


The UK Financial
Reporting Council
(FRC), and the US
Securities and
Exchange
Commission’s
(SEC) Advisory
Committee on
Improvements to
Financial Reporting have been considering the
complexity of financial statements. The FRC
has sought views on the issue, in relation to
broader corporate reporting requirements. To
address the issue of complexity, the US
Committee has made a number of
recommendations, including a new executive
summary in the company annual reports and
greater use of interactive data-tagging in
financial statements.


These are welcome developments but the rate
of progress is agonisingly slow and in the
meantime there is no respite as regulators
gear up for a new era of  regulation with a
presumption that more does mean better. It is
important that the accounting profession does
not lose sight that accounts are primarily for
shareholders and not regulators – they are for
accountability and stewardship and not for
financial stability.


Hence, the Institute’s initiative to advance the
debate and do so boldly by cutting to the
chase is a breath of fresh air that has the
potential to accelerate the winds of change.
The proposals deserve serious consideration


by all the cast involved in the production of
corporate reports. We all have a part to play
and we all have a right – and a responsibility –
to let our views be known. 


The Short Form Report, which is embodied 
in the report and is a blueprint for change, 
is a manifestation of what can be done to
enable clear messages to be delivered about
a company’s past, present and future. Take


note that it provides all the important
information in less than 30 pages and in the
future could harness alternative reporting
technology, such as XBRL, to deliver a
comprehensive suite of useful information. It


banishes
boilerplate
narrative, which
of itself is a
major step to
achieving
relevance and
clarity.


It is now in the gift of preparers, users,
auditors, regulators and commentators to
grasp the nettle of complexity and respond
constructively to the Institute’s proposals. 
In doing so, it is hoped that some will provide
leadership and put the spirit of the proposals
into practice. As President Obama pointed out
in a speech marking the anniversary of
Lehman’s collapse, there is no need to await a
new law or a new regulation to implement
change. It is time to cut to the chase. It is time
to enable shareholders to see the wood from
the trees.


The Institute’s Technical Policy Board and its
Accounting Standards Committee are to be
congratulated for seizing the initiative. ICAS
looks forward to assisting in the debate on the
future of corporate reporting and hopes that
this report will make a major contribution to
and advance the achievement of effective
accountability and sound stewardship.


Guy R Jubb
Edinburgh
December 2009 
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In a recent press release, The Institute of
Chartered Accountants of Scotland (ICAS) noted
that key business information and risks are
being obscured by the volume and level of
detail of disclosures in corporate annual
reports. The release noted that “the corporate
report does not tell a clear story about the
performance of a business”.  We are by no
means alone in this view.  


In its May 2009 report on the banking 
crisis, the House of Commons Treasury Select
Committee argued that the complexity and
length of financial reports represent a missed
opportunity to improve users’ understanding
of the financial
health of
companies. The
Committee
complained 
that corporate
reports “do not
tell the reader
much of a story”
and appealed
instead for listed
companies to set
out in a short
jargon-free business review what is their
business model, how they have made (or lost)
money and what the main future risks are
judged to be.    


In summary, few would disagree with the view
that many UK corporate reports have become
a lengthy exercise in regulatory compliance
but fail to communicate a compelling account
of how the business has performed.  In other
words, they are not obviously “decision-
useful”.  If that is the case, what hope do we
have that things will get better in the near
term?


Where we are heading


In October 2008, the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) and the US Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) jointly
released their Discussion Paper “Preliminary
Views on Financial Statement Presentation”.
The objective was to create a standard that
“requires entities to organise financial
statements in a manner that clearly


communicates an integrated financial picture
of the entity.”  To effect this, the Boards
proposed that companies follow two
objectives:


• cohesiveness – formatting the information
in financial statements so that a reader
can follow the flow of information through
the various statements; and 


• disaggregation – separating information
that responds differently to economic
events.


There is not space to describe the paper fully
here and do
justice to its
detailed
proposals.  But
what can we
glean from
those who have
commented on
the paper?  


Unsurprisingly,
with over 200
comment


letters, there was a mix of views.  But many
respondents, including ICAS and the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales
(ICAEW), were concerned at the level of detail
implied by the disaggregation objective.  We
seem to be heading for a world of even
greater detail precisely when many users
would rather see less information – but less
information presented in a more relevant and
vital way.  Directionally, therefore, the Boards
seem to have got it wrong.  What might an
alternative look like?


A blueprint for change


Imagine a world in which the primary
statutory report – the Short Form Annual
Report and Results Announcement (“Short
Form Report”) – had to comply with the
following requirements:


• it must be produced in short form only –
say 30 pages or less.  It is, in other words,
Top Management’s summary of what they
consider to be most important; 


INTRODUCTION


The state of play today


It is simply not acceptable that 
annual reports which run to several
hundred pages fail to tell the reader 


a compelling story.
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• it must be used as the centrepiece of a
company’s results announcement (or
similar communication); and 


• it must meet the minimum benchmarks
specified in the box below 


We would welcome the Short Form Report
being used as the centrepiece of a company’s
results announcement and replacing the
company’s annual review and summary
financial statements. It would essentially tell
Top Management’s “story” and eliminate much
of the boilerplate narrative which pervades
annual reports today.  And for those who
might worry about the loss of disclosure,
readers would be able to access such detail via
alternative reporting technologies such as
XBRL.  Effectively, the full annual report we
see today would still sit behind the Short Form
Report.  


The Short Form Report
The Short Form Report in the following pages
sets out an illustrative proforma for a large
international bank.  We have chosen a bank
because such institutions are particularly
topical today and because they are among the
most complex of organisations.  However, the
presentational ideas can also easily be
extended to the generality of companies and
we hope that these ideas will be considered in
that context.


Although it is largely based on public
documents issued by UK banks, there are
some important differences which make the
Short Form Report unique.  In particular, it
differs from the typical summary annual
review in the following important ways:


• there is an exposition of the business
model and how the business makes
money;


• the most significant accounting policies
are identified and summarised; 


• the most significant notes and judgements
are identified and summarised; and 


• there is a single statement by the
Chairman on behalf of the Board.


There are other less important differences,
such as the inclusion of a short form statement
of recognised income and expense as well as a
short form cash flow statement.  However, the
main point is that the document seeks to be a
self-contained summary of what is significant.
This cannot be said of the typical annual
review, which in most cases says nothing about
the business model, accounting policies or
significant notes and judgements. The same
comments apply to most results
announcements, with the qualification that
these frequently do include explanatory notes
– but usually at the expense of many more
pages than the attached proforma.


Concluding comments


It is hoped that the Short Form Report could
address a number of needs and perceived
shortfalls in corporate reporting – not only in
the UK but potentially overseas as well.  As a
short statement of what Top Management
considers to be important, it would command
attention and become an important source for
understanding Top Management’s view of their
business – in other words, it would become the
vehicle for management commentary
considered so important by most standard
setters, including the IASB.


Minimum benchmarks for 
Short Form Reports 


1. Be consistent with the full annual report
presented on a true and fair view.


2. Explain the company’s business model and
strategy and its performance against these.


3. Deliver a clear message about
management’s stewardship of  the
company’s assets – the past.


4. Deliver a clear message about the
company’s current asset-liability mix and
liquidity position – the present.


5. Deliver a clear message about where the
company is headed – the future.


6. Use alternative reporting technologies to
allow readers to access the more detailed
disclosure and regulatory information
required by law, analyst requests and
similar.


7. Report historic cash flow and liquidity
information in a way which is meaningful to
management.


8. Avoid repetition but provide all important
information.


9. Ensure consistency of  information
presented.  For example, management’s
commentary should be consistent with the
results of  the formal tools used internally to
measure performance such as economic
profit.


10. Make clear the significant judgements that
have been made.  These should reflect inter
alia the content of  the external auditors’
report to the audit committee.
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Furthermore, we see no conflicts either 
with the EU Transparency Obligations
Directive or with extant company law in the
UK. This means that there is nothing to stop
companies adopting these proposals with
immediate effect.


Today’s annual reports are no longer an
effective tool for communication and we 
sense a growing loss of confidence in financial
reporting in the wake of the financial crisis.  
It is simply not acceptable that annual reports


which run to several hundred pages fail to tell
the reader a compelling story. Something must
be done – and the current crisis presents a
golden opportunity to do so.


We would welcome comments on our
proposals by 31st July 2010.


Please send comments to: 
Karen Shaw (Secretary to Accounting
Standards Committee) 
Email: accountingandauditing@icas.org.uk
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                                              Year Ended            Year Ended           %                            Selected Definitions
                                              31.12.08 £m           31.12.07 £m          % Change


Group Results                      


Total income XX XX xx


Impairment charges and XX XX xx
other credit provisions 


Operating expenses XX XX xx


Gains on acquisitions XX XX xx


Profit before tax XX XX xx


Profit after tax XX XX xx


Profit attributable to equity XX XX xx 
holders of  the parent 


Economic profit XX XX xx Profit after tax 
& minority interests;
less capital charge
(average
shareholders’ equity
& goodwill excluding
minority interests
multiplied by group
cost of  capital)


Basic earnings per share XX XX xx Profit attributable to
equity holders of  the
parent over the basic
weighted average
number of  shares
excluding own shares
held in employee
benefit trusts and
shares held for
trading.


Dividend per share XX XX xx


                                              Year Ended            Year Ended           %                            Selected Definitions
                                              31.12.08 £m           31.12.07 £m          % Change


Performance Ratios


Return on average                        XX                            XX                          xx                   Profit after tax
shareholders’                                                                                                                     divided by equity
equity                                                                                                                                  shareholders’ equity


during the year,
which is made up of
share capital,
retained earnings &
other reserves


Cost:income ratio                        XX:XX                      XX:XX                       xx                   Ratio of  operating
expenses to total
income


Cost:net income ratio                  XX:XX                      XX:XX                       xx                   Operating expenses
compared to total
income less
impairment charges


1. Highlights
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                                              Year Ended            Year Ended           %                            Selected Definitions
                                              31.12.08 £m           31.12.07 £m          % Change


Profit Before Tax by 
Business                              


Model Retail and                           XX                           XX                         xx
Commercial Bank                          


Model Investment                          XX                           XX                         xx
Banking and Wealth                      


                                              Year Ended            Year Ended           %                            Selected Definitions
                                              31.12.08 £m           31.12.07 £m          % Change


Capital and Balance                                                                                 
Sheet                                            


Risk weighted assets                     XX                           XX                         xx                    The assets of  the
bank multiplied
by weightings
established by the
regulatory
authorities to
represent the relative
risk of  these assets


Equity Tier 1 ratio                        XX:XX                      XX:XX                       xx                    Ratio of  called-up
share capital and
eligible reserves plus
equity minority
interests less
intangible assets, to
risk weighted assets


Net asset value per share             XX                           XX                         xx


Total shareholders’ equity             XX                           XX                         xx                    


Total assets                                   XX                           XX                         xx







2. Report of the Chairman on behalf of the Board to
the Shareholders


Our Performance in Summary
2008 was an extremely difficult year for the economy and for the financial sector.  Model Bank undertook
a capital raising during the year and incurred credit market losses of approximately £XXm.  Nonetheless,
we made a profit before tax of £XXm.


The capital base of the bank has been strengthened as a result of raising over £XXbn in equity and Tier 1
capital in 2008.  We also have over £XXbn of equity capital and reserves.  We are working to increase
liquidity and are managing down our risk-weighted assets in order to protect our capital position.


Share price performance during the year was disappointing and no dividends have been paid out.  The
Board intends to resume dividend payments in the second half of 2009, following the decision not to pay a
final dividend for 2008. 


Profit before tax decreased xx% to £XXm in 2008. The results included the following significant items in
Model Investment Banking and Wealth : 


• gains on acquisition of new businesses of £XXm,
• credit market losses and impairment of £XXm, or £XXm net of related hedges of £XXm and gains on


own credit of £XXm.
In addition, the results included impairment charges in Model Retail and Commercial Bank of £XXm.
Further detail is given in section 11.


Profit after tax increased xx% to £XXm.. This reflected an effective tax rate of xx% (2007: xx%).
Earnings per share were Xp (2007: Xp), a decline of xx% from 2007.


Operating expenses increased xx% to £XXm. We continued to invest in our distribution network in the
Model Retail and Commercial Bank businesses. Expenses fell in Model Investment Banking and Wealth
due to lower performance-related costs. The Group cost: income ratio deteriorated by xx percentage points
to xx%.


The equity Tier 1 ratio was xx% at 31st December 2008 and our Tier 1 ratio was xx%. Our capital ratios
reflect a xx% increase in risk-weighted assets to £XXbn during the year. This was driven by the combined
impacts on risk-weighted assets of the weakening of Sterling and the pro-cyclical effects of the
International Basel Accord as well as lending growth in 2008. Our capital ratios reflect this risk-weighted
asset growth and benefited from the increases in capital.


Total assets increased £XXbn to £XXbn in 2008. Of this increase, £XXbn was attributable to an increase
in derivative assets and £XXbn was attributable to increased loans and advances. Other assets declined by
£XXbn. Volatility in reference rates and yield curves used for pricing have led to significantly higher values
for derivative assets and liabilities.


Outlook for 2009 
We expect 2009 to be another challenging year for the banking industry.  We anticipate that the impact of
credit market losses will lessen, but we also expect the recessionary climate in our major markets to increase
the loan loss rates on our loans and advances.  The general lack of lending is a cause for concern.  Interest
rates in many jurisdictions have been reduced significantly in response to the recession.  This will have the
impact of substantially reducing the spread generated on our retail and commercial banking liabilities.
The impact on Model Bank will be reduced to an extent by our interest rate hedges.
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3. Overview of the bank today 


(i) Key facts
Model Bank is a major global financial services provider listed in London.  


Senior Management


Group chairman                                                                                  –


Group chief  executive                                                                         –


Chief  executive, model retail and commercial banking                      –


Chief  executive, model investment banking and wealth                     –


Model Retail and Commercial Banking


Number of  countries operated In                                                        XX


Number of  customers                                                                         XX


Number of  employees                                                                         XX


Model Investment Banking and Wealth


Number of  countries operated In                                                        XX


Assets under management                                                                 £XXm


Client assets                                                                                        £XXm
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(ii) Our Business Model


Model Retail and Commercial Banking
• Income is earned in essentially two ways:


     – interest margin on lending in various forms, along with related charges/penalties, and against which
must be set impairment losses on non-performing/delinquent loans; and 


     – fees for services of various types.


    Lending:
     – interest margin represents the spread earned from lending funds out versus our borrowings (net


interest income);
     – lending comes in many different forms but includes most notably:
     v  loans to corporates and other institutions, which take many forms and characteristics, for


example: secured, unsecured, variable rate, fixed rate, term; and
     v  loans to individuals, again in many forms and characteristics: secured (mortgages principally),


unsecured (personal loans and credit cards principally), variable rate, fixed rate, term;
     – charges and penalties are levied for late payments, unauthorised borrowings/overdrafts and non-


compliance with loan agreements/covenants;
     – all lending takes place within authorised limits which reflect: credit risk, country risk,


sector/concentration risk, availability and quality of collateral; and
     – where loans become non-performing or delinquent, impairment losses are recognised as appropriate.


    Fees are earned for a variety of services performed including:
     – arrangement fees for setting up loans;
     – commitment fees for maintaining undrawn facilities;
     – syndication fees for arranging multiple borrowers on larger corporate/institutional borrowings;
     – transaction fees for processing electronic payment transfers (including foreign exchange) and certain


cheques; 
     – transaction fees for ATM usage (although some usage is free);
     – overdraft protection fees; 
     – annual fees for certain credit cards; and
     – a wide range of other fees relating to account administration.
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Investment Banking and Wealth
Investment Banking and Wealth earn income as described below.


• The Investment Banking Division helps clients raise funds in the debt and equity markets, as well as
advising clients on merger and acquisition activity. The investment banking division is divided into
industry and product coverage areas. Industry coverage groups focus on a specific industry such as
healthcare or technology.  Product coverage groups focus on financial products including leveraged
finance, equity, and high-grade debt. 


• The Sales and Trading Division of the bank is described below.  The sales teams work to generate
orders from clients and pass accepted orders to traders for pricing and execution.  Income is earned
from the spread at which buy/sell trades are executed.  The main sales and trading areas for these so-
called “flow” products are:


     – equities – including cash, derivatives and equity-linked notes;
     – commodities – including cash, derivatives and commodity-linked notes;
     – fixed income and interest rate products – including cash, derivatives and notes;
     – credit products – including notes and derivatives;
     – foreign exchange – both cash and derivatives; and 
     – money markets – both cash and derivatives.


• Structuring involves the creation of more complex products which typically offer greater margin and
returns than the higher volume “flow” products described above. Such structuring typically involves the
creation of bespoke products which are tailored towards the specific risk appetite of the client.  The
structuring areas mirror those of the Sales and Trading Division.


• The Proprietary Trading Division takes principal risk positions on behalf of the bank and seeks to
profit by timely management and exit of positions.  The proprietary trading areas mirror those of the
Sales and Trading Division.  


• Wealth earns fees from the professional management of securities on behalf of both institutional and
private clients. The securities managed are principally equities and bonds. Fees are earned in a  number
of different ways:


     – management fees;
     – advisory fees;
     – brokerage fees; and
     – performance fees where returns exceed pre-defined criteria. 
     In addition charges and penalties may be levied in certain situations, principally in relation to early


surrender of term products.
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4. Segmental Performance


(i) Retail and Commercial Banking
Income in Model Retail and Commercial Banking increased by £XXm (xx%) on 2007 and was
particularly strong in overseas business.  This growth was achieved despite the need for greater stringency
in the extension of credit.  


Impairment losses remained at levels well below the banking sector as a whole, reflecting management’s
strong focus on credit selection and management.  Nonetheless, we expect impairment losses to accelerate
somewhat in the next 12-18 months.


Operating expenses increased xx% to £XXm as we continued our programme of investment in the
distribution network and our general upgrading of branches.


Overall Model Retail and Commercial Banking continues to build a strong and competitive business
which is increasingly diversified overseas.  We are well placed to take advantage of market opportunities as
the global economy emerges from recession.


A detailed analysis of the income is shown opposite:
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Corporates and Individuals Total
institutions


Net interest income on lending: £m  % total income £m  % total income £m  % total income


Secured – fixed rate XX        xx% XX        xx% XX        xx%


Secured – variable rate XX        xx% XX        xx% XX        xx%


Unsecured – fixed rate XX        xx% XX        xx% XX        xx%


Unsecured – variable rate XX        xx% XX        xx% XX        xx%


Charges and penalties on lending:


Secured – fixed rate XX        xx% XX        xx% XX        xx%


Secured – variable rate XX        xx% XX        xx% XX        xx%


Unsecured – fixed rate XX        xx% XX        xx% XX        xx%


Unsecured – variable rate XX        xx% XX        xx% XX        xx%


Impairment losses on lending:


Secured – fixed rate XX        xx% XX        xx% XX        xx%


Secured – variable rate XX        xx% XX        xx% XX        xx%


Unsecured – fixed rate XX        xx% XX        xx% XX        xx%


Unsecured – variable rate XX        xx% XX        xx% XX        xx%


Fees


Arrangement fees XX        xx% XX        xx% XX        xx%


Commitment fees XX        xx% XX        xx% XX        xx%


Syndication fees XX        xx% XX        xx% XX        xx%


Transaction fees – processing XX        xx% XX        xx% XX        xx%


Transaction fees – ATM XX        xx% XX        xx% XX        xx%


Overdraft protection fees                         XX        xx%                  XX        xx%                  XX        xx%


Total                                                         XX                                 XX                                 XX


Further detail on the above income split may be found at our website at www.xxxx.


Retail and Commercial Banking
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(ii) Investment Banking and Wealth
The Investment Banking and Wealth division was affected by the severe market conditions of 2008, with
income falling by £XXm (xx%) on 2007.  This reflected the credit market and impairment losses of £XXm
referred to in section 2.


Setting aside the difficult credit market environment, underlying performance in the Investment Banking
and Wealth division was sound when compared to 2007.  All other sectors grew or remained broadly flat
in gross income terms, with the exception that structuring activity was curtailed in comparison to previous
years.  This reflected customers’ diminished appetites for complex products.  


The business performance of the Investment Banking and Wealth division was adversely affected by the
difficult market conditions, with income falling by £XXm (xx%) on 2007.  However, we won a number of
new mandates in 2008, growing our client base by XX.  This equated to £XXm of new funds.  Expenses
were well controlled across the whole division, with costs falling £XXm by xx% overall.  We remain well
positioned to grow as the economy emerges from recession. 


A detailed analysis of the income is shown opposite:
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                                                                                                                         Total


                                                                                                                         £m  % total income


Debt markets                                                                                                    XX        xx%


Equity markets                                                                                                  XX        xx%


Mergers and acquisitions                                                                                 XX        xx%


Total                                                                                                                  XX        xx%


Sales and Trading


Equities                                                                                                             XX        xx%


Commodities                                                                                                     XX        xx%


Fixed income and interest rate products                                                          XX        xx%


Credit products                                                                                                 XX        xx%


Foreign exchange                                                                                             XX        xx%


Money markets                                                                                                 XX        xx%


Total                                                                                                                  XX        xx%


Structuring


Equities                                                                                                             XX        xx%


Commodities                                                                                                     XX        xx%


Fixed income and interest rate products                                                          XX        xx%


Credit products                                                                                                 XX        xx%


Foreign exchange                                                                                             XX        xx%


Money markets                                                                                                 XX        xx%


Total                                                                                                                  XX        xx%


Proprietary Trading


Equities                                                                                                             XX        xx%


Commodities                                                                                                     XX        xx%


Fixed income and interest rate products                                                          XX        xx%


Credit products                                                                                                 XX        xx%


Foreign exchange                                                                                             XX        xx%


Money markets                                                                                                 XX        xx%


Total                                                                                                                  XX        xx%


Wealth


Management fees                                                                                             XX        xx%


Advisory fees                                                                                                    XX        xx%


Brokerage fees                                                                                                 XX        xx%


Performance fees                                                                                             XX        xx%


Charges and penalties                                                                                     XX        xx%


Total                                                                                                                  XX        xx%


Grand total                                                                                                       XX        xx%


Investment Banking and Wealth


Further detail on the above income split may be found at our website at www.xxxx.
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5. Independent auditors’ statement to the members
of Model Bank Group plc


This page is intentionally left blank. We believe that some form of auditor’s report would be required in practice
but we do not pre-judge its format for the purposes of this document.
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6. Significant accounting policies 
This section is an abridged version of the group’s accounting policies, the complete version of which may
be found at our website at www.xxxx.  This section identifies the bank’s most significant accounting
policies in the sense that they relate to those items involving the greatest judgement, complexity and/or
assumptions.


i. Reporting entity 
These financial statements are prepared for the Model Bank Group plc.  Model Bank Group plc is a public
limited company, incorporated in the United Kingdom and having a registered office in England. 


ii. Basis of preparation 
The consolidated financial statements of the Model Bank Group plc have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and related interpretations.  The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to include the fair
valuation of certain financial instruments. They are stated in millions of pounds Sterling (£m), the
currency of the country in which Model Bank Group plc is incorporated. 


iii. Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements combine the financial statements of Model Bank Group plc and all
its subsidiaries, including certain special purpose entities (SPEs), up to 31st December.  SPEs are
consolidated when the substance of the relationship between Model Bank Group plc and the SPE indicates
that the SPE is controlled by Model Bank Group plc.


iv. Foreign currency translation 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Sterling, which is the functional currency of the
parent company. Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured
using their functional currency, being the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates. Foreign currency transactions are translated into the appropriate functional currency using
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rate prevailing at the period end. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the retranslation and settlement of these items are recognised in the income statement
except for qualifying cash flow hedges or hedges of net investments. 


v. Financial assets
Financial assets are classified in the following categories: financial instruments at fair value through profit
or loss; loans and receivables; held to maturity investments; and available for sale financial assets.
Management determines the classification of financial assets and liabilities at initial recognition. 


Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are classified as such if they are held for
trading, or if they are designated by management under the fair value option. Gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value are included directly in the income statement. This category includes all derivatives,
certain structured notes and certain private equity investments.


Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market and which are not classified as available for sale. Loans and receivables are
initially recognised at fair value plus direct and incremental transaction costs. They are subsequently valued
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.


Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
the Group’s management has the intention and ability to hold to maturity. They are initially recognised at
fair value plus direct and incremental transaction costs. They are subsequently valued at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method. 
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Available for sale assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale and are
not categorised into any of the other categories described above. They are initially recognised and
subsequently held at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are included as a
separate component of equity until sale when the cumulative gain or loss is transferred to the income
statement. Interest determined using the effective interest method, impairment losses and translation
differences on monetary items are recognised in the income statement. 


vi. Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, except for trading liabilities and liabilities designated at
fair value, which are classified at fair value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are derecognised when
extinguished. 


vii.  Hedge accounting
Derivatives are used to hedge interest rate, exchange rate, commodity, and equity exposures and exposures
to certain indices such as house price indices and retail price indices related to non-trading positions.
Where derivatives are held for risk management purposes, and when transactions meet the required
criteria, the Group applies fair value hedge accounting, cash flow hedge accounting, or hedging of a net
investment in a foreign operation as appropriate to the risks being hedged.


viii. Impairment of financial assets 
Each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that loans and receivables,
or available for sale financial investments, are impaired. The loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s
original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the income statement. Following impairment,
interest income is recognised using the original effective rate of interest. In the case of available for sale
financial investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is
also considered in determining whether impairment exists. Where such evidence exists, the cumulative net
loss that has been previously recognised directly in equity is removed from equity and recognised in the
income statement. 


ix.  Goodwill 
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiary and associated entities and joint ventures, and represents
the excess of the fair value of the purchase consideration and direct costs of making the acquisition, over
the fair value of the Group’s share of the assets acquired, and the liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed on the date of the acquisition. 


x. Employee benefits 
The Group provides employees worldwide with post-retirement benefits mainly in the form of pensions.
The Group operates a number of pension schemes which may be funded or unfunded and of a defined
contribution or defined benefit nature. In addition, the Group contributes, according to local law in the
various countries in which it operates, to governmental and other plans which have the characteristics of
defined contribution plans. 
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7. Short form consolidated income statement


The full consolidated income statement is available at our website at www.xxxx.


For the year ended 31st December 2008 2007
£m £m


Net interest income XX XX


Net fee and commission income XX XX


Net income from trading activitiesa XX XX


Total income XX XX


Impairment charges (XX) (XX)


Net income XX XX


Operating expenses (XX) (XX)


Share of  post-tax results of  associates and joint ventures XX XX


Profit on disposal of  subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures XX XX


Gains on acquisitions XX XX


Profit before tax XX XX


Tax (XX) (XX)


Profit after tax XX XX


Profit attributable to minority interests XX XX


Profit attributable to equity holders of  the parent XX XX


Dividends


Interim dividend p (2007: xp) XX XX


Proposed final dividend p (2007: xp) XX XX


Earnings per share


Basic earnings per shareb XX XX


a This comprises £XXm of  gains and £XXm of  losses


b The calculation of  basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to shareholders over the
weighted average number of  shares (which includes shares that will be issued following conversion in full
of  the Mandatorily Convertible Notes) and represents the level of  earnings generated per ordinary share. 
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8. Short form consolidated balance sheet


The full consolidated balance sheet is available at our website at www.xxxx.


For the year ended 31st December 2008 2007
£m £m


Assets


Cash and other short-term funds XX XX


Trading and financial assets designated at fair value XX XX


Derivative financial instruments XX XX


Loans and advances to banks XX XX


Loans and advances to customers XX XX


Available for sale financial investments XX XX


Reverse repurchase agreements and cash collateral on securities borrowed XX XX


Other assets XX XX


Property, plant and equipment XX XX


Total assets XX XX


Liabilities


Deposits and items in the course of  collection due to banks XX XX


Customer accounts XX XX


Trading and financial liabilities designated at fair value XX XX


Liabilities to customers under investment contracts XX XX


Derivative financial instruments XX XX


Debt securities in issue XX XX


Repurchase agreements and cash collateral on securities lent XX XX


Other liabilities XX XX


Subordinated liabilities XX XX


Total liabilities XX XX


Shareholders’ equitya


Shareholders’ equity excluding minority interests XX XX


Minority interestsb XX XX


Total shareholders’ equity XX XX


Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity XX XX


The short form consolidated income statement and the short form consolidated balance sheet were
approved by the Board of  Directors on xxxx and signed on its behalf  by the Group Chairman.


a Represents the residual interest of  shareholders in the Group and largely consists of  ordinary share
capital and accumulated retained earnings. 


b The interests of  others in certain subsidiaries of  the Group. 
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9. Short form statement of recognised income and
expense 


A more detailed version of the statement of recognised income and expense is available at our website at
www.xxxx.


2008 2007
£m £m


Net movements in available for sale reserve XX XX


Net movements in cash flow hedging reserve XX XX


Net movements in currency translation differences XX XX


Tax XX XX


Other movements XX XX


Amounts included directly in equity XX XX


Profit after tax XX XX


Total recognised income and expense for the year XX XX


Attributable to:


Equity holders of  the parent XX XX


Minority interests XX XX
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10. Short form cash flow statement 


A more detailed version of the cash flow statement is shown at at our website at www.xxxx.


Reconciliation of profit before tax to net cash flows
from operating activities 2008 2007


£m £m


Profit before tax XX XX


Adjustment for non-cash items XX XX


Changes in operating assets and liabilities XX XX


Tax paid XX XX


Net cash from operating activities XX XX


Net cash from investing activities XX XX


Net cash from financing activities XX XX


Effect of  exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents XX XX


Net increase in cash and cash equivalents XX XX


Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of  period XX XX


Cash and cash equivalents at end of period XX XX







11. Significant notes and judgements 
These notes to the financial statements set out areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
as well as areas where assumptions are significant to the consolidated financial statements.  The significant
judgments identified here are consistent with those identified by the external auditors.  This section is an
abridged version of the complete notes to the accounts, which may be found at our website at www.xxxx.


(i) Fair value of financial instruments
As described at section 6, some of the Group’s financial instruments are carried at fair value. The fair value
of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. Where a valuation model is
used to determine fair value, it makes maximum use of market inputs. Financial instruments with a fair
value based on observable inputs include valuations determined by unadjusted quoted prices in an active
market and market standard pricing models that use observable inputs. Financial instruments whose fair
value is determined, at least in part, using unobservable inputs are further categorised into ‘Vanilla’ and
‘Exotic’ products as follows:


• ‘Vanilla’ products are valued using simple models such as discounted cash flow or Black Scholes
models.  Some of the inputs are not observable.


• ‘Exotic’ products are over-the-counter products that are relatively bespoke, and their valuation comes
from mathematical models where some of the inputs are not observable.


The table overleaf shows the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are recognised and measured at fair
value analysed by valuation technique.


As part of our risk management processes, stress tests are applied on the significant unobservable
parameters to generate a range of potentially possible alternative valuations. The financial instruments that
most impact this sensitivity analysis are those with the more illiquid and/or structured portfolios. The
stresses are applied independently and do not take account of any cross correlation between separate asset
classes that would reduce the overall effect on the valuations.
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At 31st December Valuations based on Valuations based on 
2008 £m observable inputs unobservable inputs


‘Vanilla’ ‘Exotic’
products products


Trading portfolio assets XX XX XX


Financial assets designated at fair value XX XX XX


Derivative financial assets XX XX XX


Available for sale assets XX XX XX


Total assets XX XX XX


Trading portfolio liabilities XX XX XX


Financial liabilities designated at fair value XX XX XX


Derivative financial liabilities XX XX XX


Total liabilities XX XX XX
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(ii) Allowances for loan impairment
The methodologies discussed above have resulted in incurred losses as follows:


Allowances for loan impairment represent management’s estimate of the losses incurred in the loan
portfolios as at the balance sheet date. Changes to the allowances for loan impairment and changes to the
provisions for undrawn contractually committed facilities and guarantees provided are reported in the
consolidated income statement as part of the impairment charge. Provision is made for undrawn loan
commitments and  similar facilities if it is probable that the facility will be drawn and result in recognition
of an asset at an amount less than the amount advanced. 


For small loans, statistical techniques are used to calculate impairment allowances on a portfolio basis,
based on historical recovery rates and assumed emergence periods. 


For larger accounts, impairment allowances are calculated on an individual basis and all relevant
considerations that have a bearing on the expected future cash flows are taken into account. 


At 31st December Potential effect Potential effect
2008 £m recorded in income recorded in equity


Favourable Unfavourable Favourable Unfavourable


Trading portfolio assets XX (XX) – –


Financial assets designated at fair value XX (XX) – –


Derivative financial assets XX (XX) – –


Available for sale assets – – XX (XX)


Total assets XX (XX) XX (XX)


Trading portfolio liabilities XX (XX) – –


Financial liabilities designated at fair value XX (XX) – –


Derivative financial liabilities XX (XX) – –


Total liabilities XX (XX) – –


                                                                                                            2008                       2007


                                                                                                            £m                          £m


Investment Banking                                                                                                         


– Drawn Loans                                                                                    XX                          XX


– Undrawn Facilities/ Guarantees                                                       XX                          XX


Wealth                                                                                                                                


– Drawn Loans                                                                                    XX                          XX


– Undrawn Facilities/ Guarantees                                                       XX                          XX


Commercial Banking                                                                                                        


– Drawn Loans                                                                                    XX                          XX


– Undrawn Facilities/ Guarantees                                                       XX                          XX


Retail Banking                                                                                                                  


– Drawn Loans                                                                                    XX                          XX


– Undrawn Facilities/ Guarantees                                                       XX                          XX


Sensitivity Analysis
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(iii) Goodwill
The most significant amounts of goodwill are:


Management has to consider at least annually whether the current carrying value of goodwill is impaired.
The first step of the impairment review process requires the identification of independent cash generating
units, by dividing the Group business into as many largely independent income streams as is reasonably
practicable. The goodwill is then allocated to these independent units. The first element of this allocation is
based on the areas of the business expected to benefit from the synergies derived from the acquisition. The
second element reflects the allocation of the net assets acquired and the difference between the
consideration paid for those net assets and their fair value. This allocation is reviewed following business
reorganisation. The carrying value of the unit, including the allocated goodwill, is compared to its fair value
to determine whether any impairment exists. If the fair value of a unit is less than its carrying value,
goodwill will be impaired.


(iv) Retirement benefit obligations
The Group provides pension plans for employees in most parts of the world. Arrangements for staff
retirement benefits vary from country to country and are made in accordance with local regulations and
customs.  For defined contribution schemes, the pension cost recognised in the profit and loss account
represents the contributions payable to the scheme. For defined benefit schemes, actuarial valuation of
each of the scheme’s obligations using the projected unit credit method and the fair valuation of
each of the scheme’s assets are performed annually in accordance with the requirements of IAS 19.


The actuarial valuation depends on a series of assumptions:


• Interest rates – based on consensus economic estimates
• Mortality – based on standard national mortality tables
• Investment returns – based on market yields at valuation date
• Inflation – based on long-term expectations of both earnings and retail price inflation


The Group’s position in respect of retirement benefit obligations may be summarised as follows:


(v) Off balance sheet arrangements
In the ordinary course of business and primarily to facilitate client transactions, the Group enters into
transactions which may involve the use of off-balance sheet arrangements and special purpose entities
(SPEs). These arrangements include the provision of guarantees, loan commitments, retained interests in
assets which have been transferred to an unconsolidated SPE or obligations arising from the Group’s
involvements with such SPEs. 


Carrying Values                                         Impairment   


2008               2007                                      2008               2007


£m                  £m                                        £m                  £m


xxxx XX                  XX                                         XX                  XX


xxxx XX                  XX                                         XX                  XX


xxxx XX                  XX                                         XX                  XX


Totals XX                  XX                                         XX                  XX


                                                                                                            2008                       2007


                                                                                                            £m                         £m


IAS 19 Pension Deficit (All schemes)                                                  XX                          XX


Net Recognised Liabilities                                                                   XX                          XX


Comprising                                                                                                                         


– Retirement benefit liabilities                                                             XX                          XX


– Assets                                                                                              XX                          XX
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Guarantees
The Group issues guarantees on behalf of its customers. In the majority of cases, the Group holds collateral
against the exposure, has a right of recourse to the customer or both. In addition, the Group issues
guarantees on its own behalf. The main types of guarantees provided are: financial guarantees given to
banks and financial institutions on behalf of customers to secure loans; overdrafts; and other banking
facilities, including stock borrowing indemnities and standby letters of credit. The nominal principal
amount of contingent liabilities with off-balance sheet risk is £XXm. 


Loan commitments
The Group enters into commitments to lend to its customers subject to certain conditions. Such loan
commitments are made either for a fixed period or are cancellable by the Group subject to notice
conditions. 


Special purpose entities
Transactions entered into by the Group may involve the use of SPEs. SPEs are entities that are created to
accomplish a narrow and pre-defined objective. There are often specific restrictions or limits around their
on-going activities. 
Transactions with SPEs take a number of forms, including: 


• the provision of financing to fund asset purchases, or commitments to provide finance for future
purchases;


• derivative transactions to provide investors in the SPE with a specified exposure;
• the provision of liquidity or backstop facilities which may be drawn upon if the SPE experiences future


funding difficulties; and
• direct investment in the notes issued by SPEs. 


Depending on the nature of the Group’s resulting exposure, it may consolidate the SPE into the Group’s
balance sheet. The consolidation of SPEs is considered at inception, based on the arrangements in place
and the assessed risk exposures at that time. SPEs are consolidated when the substance of the relationship
between the Group and the entity indicates control. Potential indicators of control include an assessment
of the Group’s exposure to the risks and benefits of the SPE. The initial consolidation analysis is revisited
at a later date if: 


(i) the Group acquires additional interests in the entity; 
(ii) the contractual arrangements of the entity are amended such that the relative exposures to risks


and rewards change; or if 
(iii) the Group acquires control over the main operating and financial decisions of the entity. 


A number of the Group’s transactions have recourse only to the assets of unconsolidated SPEs. Typically,
the majority of the exposure to these assets is borne by third parties and the Group’s risk is mitigated
through over-collateralisation, unwind features and other protective measures. 


The Group’s involvement with unconsolidated third party conduits, collateralised debt obligations and
structured investment vehicles is described further at our website at www.xxxx.
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12. Additional shareholder information


(i) Risk management
Risk management is a fundamental part of Model Bank business activity and an essential component of its
planning process. To keep risk management at the centre of the executive agenda, it is embedded in the
everyday management of the business. We are proactive in taking steps to reduce risk where internal limits
are approached or breached.


Future developments
The events of 2008 have highlighted that risk management within the banking industry may not have
been sufficiently robust.  Model Bank will undertake a review of our risk management approach beginning
in 2009.  


(ii) Corporate governance


Corporate governance framework – Role of the Board
The Board is responsible for managing the Group on behalf of its shareholders and must ensure that an
appropriate balance between promoting long-term growth and delivering short-term objectives is achieved.
The role and responsibilities of the Model Bank Board are set out in ‘Corporate Governance in Model
Bank’, available online at xxxx.


The roles of the Group Chairman and Group Chief Executive are separate. There is a strong independent
element on the Board and at least half the Board are independent non-executive directors. At the date of
this report, the Board is comprised of the Group Chairman, X executive directors and X non-executive
directors.


The following are considered to be the most significant risks:


Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk associated with a loss or potential loss from counterparties failing to pay financial
obligations.  It is Model Bank’s most significant risk, and arises mostly from wholesale and retail loans
and advances.  We manage credit risk by controlling the taking of credit risk and by ensuring it is
consistently priced across the business by avoiding undesirable concentrations of order risk.  Model
Bank uses ratings models to provide a quantitative assessment of our credit risk and these models are
subject to an analysis of credit exposures. Further detail is available from xxxx.


Market risk
Market risk is the risk that Model Bank’s earnings will be adversely affected by changes in the level of
volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates, credit spreads, commodity prices, equity prices
and foreign exchange rates.  We manage market risk by setting position limits and then managing actual
risks rigorously against these limits.  Measurement techniques used include Daily Value at Risk,
Expected Shortfall and stress testing.  Further information on these models 
is available from xxxx.


Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect losses resulting from human factors, external events, and
inadequate or failed internal processes and systems.  A standard process is used across Model Bank for
the recognition, capture, assessment, analysis and reporting of risk events.  The most significant
operational risks are used as inputs to the capital model which allocates operational risk capital on a risk
sensitive basis to business units in the form of economic capital charges.
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Although the Board of Directors has collective responsibility for the success of the Group, executive
directors are directly responsible for business operations, whereas non-executive directors are responsible
for bringing independent judgement and scrutiny to decisions taken by the Board. The non-executive
directors must satisfy themselves on the integrity of financial information and that financial controls and
systems of risk management are robust.


Board Audit Committee
The Committee’s areas of focus in 2008 were dominated by the continuing disruption to the credit
markets, and the Committee has spent considerable time looking at the accounting for and valuation of
complex financial instruments, as well as scrutinising the key internal controls by which risk is managed.


Board Risk Committee
During 2008 the Committee monitored Model Bank’s sub-prime exposures, as well as monitoring the risk
exposure to other areas affected by the crisis.  The Committee will play an active role in the forthcoming
review of Model Bank’s risk management model.


Future Developments
Model Bank recognises that governance processes can be strengthened and is monitoring the outcome of
external reviews currently underway in this area.  Model Bank is committed to taking appropriate action as
a result of these review, and has begun a review of the appropriate size and skills mix of the main Board
and its committees. 


(iii) Corporate sustainability


Sustainability and Model Bank
To measure our success in integrating sustainability into our business we have addressed the broad
sustainability agenda through four key themes:


• Customers and clients 
Our record of lending responsibly has allowed us to continue mortgage lending in the UK, increasing our
share of net new lending from xx% in 2007 to xx% in 2008.


We increased lending to UK SMEs by xx% to a total of £XXbn. We also provided support to small
businesses in the UK and South Africa, including significant investment in the Model Bank Business
Support team which is dedicated to helping business customers in financial difficulty in the UK.


• Inclusive banking 
We have dedicated accounts for people on low incomes across several countries in Africa. In 2008, these
basic accounts made up xx% of our total current and savings accounts in Africa.


We continued to support better access to financial products and services in the UK, including through
partnerships with community finance organisations and charities which help excluded and vulnerable
people in society.


• Diversity and our people 
In 2008, a new role of Diversity Champion was established to drive the Model Bank diversity agenda.
Initiatives in 2008 included establishing the requirement that every senior executive has a diversity
objective linked to their performance goals.
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• Environment 
In 2008, Model Bank set environmental targets that apply to our global operations. We will measure our
performance over three years from 2009 to 2011 against a 2008 baseline. The targets are to reduce by xx%
per employee (achieving an average of xx% reduction per year): CO2 emissions; energy use from buildings
(excluding data centres); and water use.


We have made our operations carbon neutral by offsetting emissions from energy use and travel.


(iv) Remuneration report
Within the authority delegated by the Board, the Remuneration Committee has established frameworks
for the governance of remuneration. The current frameworks set out key financial ratios achieved by
Model Bank and its competitors and have been used by the Committee to inform its decision making
process when approving bonus plans, share plans and other long-term incentive plans and when agreeing
the individual remuneration packages of executive directors and other senior employees taking into
account the pay and conditions across Model Bank. 


The current Remuneration Strategy includes the following elements:
     • Assessment of reward with reference to clear and relevant objectives within a balanced scorecard


framework, including efficiency, risk mitigation and customer development as well as financial
objectives;


     • A focus on total compensation with variable pay differentiated by performance;
     • The use of judgement and discretion in assessing the extent to which performance has been


achieved; and
     • A significant proportion of remuneration being deferred into Model Bank shares to retain key talent


and to tie recipients to the future performance of Model Bank.


Information on individual directors’ remuneration may be found at at our website at www.xxxx.


Directors’ remuneration 2008 2007
£m £m


Aggregate emoluments XX XX


Gains made on the exercise of  share options XX XX


Amounts paid under long-term incentive schemes XX XX


Actual pension contributions to money purchase scheme XX XX


Notional pension contributions to money purchase scheme XX XX











About ICAS


The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland (ICAS) is the world’s first
professional body of accountants, receiving its Royal Charter in 1854. Since then,
ICAS has played a leading role in the accountancy profession.


ICAS was the first to adopt the designation ‘Chartered Accountant’ and the
designatory letters ‘CA’ are still an exclusive privilege in the UK for its 17,800
members. CAs hold key positions right across commerce and industry, the public
sector and private practice.


There are currently 3,700 student members of ICAS, which is the only UK
professional accountancy body to both educate and examine all of its students. The
CA qualification is known around the world for consistency and high standards and
ICAS enjoys a widely recognised reputation for providing the 'gold standard' in
accountancy education.


The Institute's main objective is to uphold the integrity and standing of the
profession of Chartered Accountancy in the interests of society and the
membership through excellence in education, the development of accountancy, 
the enforcement of professional standards and service to members.
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The future of narrative reporting 
 


Submission from The Association of Investment Companies 
 
The Association of Investment Companies (AIC) welcomes the opportunity to 
respond to the Department of Business Innovation and Skills’s consultation on 
the future of narrative reporting. 
 
The AIC is the trade association representing the closed-ended investment 
company industry.  Its membership comprises some 348 investment 
companies with £76 billion of assets under management.  Investment 
companies have an interest in the narrative reporting framework as both 
issuers of and investors in shares.  The large majority of our members are 
traded on EU regulated markets and are subject to the disclosure obligations 
of the Transparency Directive.  Most of our members are also domiciled in the 
UK and must comply with the disclosure requirements of the Companies Act 
2006 (2006 Act).  Investment companies invest in a diversified portfolio of 
assets, including shares of UK companies, with a view to providing their 
shareholders with a financial return.  As investors, investment companies are 
interested in the quality of information presented in annual reports. 
 
General comments 
 
The AIC is supportive of BIS’s review of the narrative reporting requirements.  
We have long been concerned about the length and complexity of information 
which is produced in the front sections of the annual report.  It is not unusual 
for a set of annual accounts to run to a hundred or more pages.  To assume 
that it is appropriate to disclose to shareholders every conceivable piece of 
information about the company is misguided.  The key objective of the annual 
report is to inform shareholders about the performance and development of 
the company.  Lengthy documents make it difficult for shareholders to extract 
the key points of interest which are lost amongst more ‘boilerplate’ routine 
disclosures which are included less to inform shareholders but rather ‘just in 
case’ their omission creates some kind of liability. 
 
The AIC supports BIS’s position that this review should not increase the 
regulatory burden placed on companies.  The consultation provides an 
excellent opportunity to simplify the disclosure regime and to reduce or 
removed reporting obligations.  For this reason, the AIC recommends that 
companies are not required to prepare a ‘summary of the strategic issues’ in 
the annual report.  This will increase the volume of information which must be 
produced and provide shareholders with no more additional information than 
can already be found in the chairman’s statement. 
 
One issue which adds to the complexity of narrative reporting is the degree of 
overlap between different sources of regulation and guidance, particular for 
listed companies such as investment companies.  For example, both the 
Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTR) and the 2006 Act require the 
annual report to contain a ‘fair review’ of the business and a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties.  Both also require forward-looking 







statements, although the level of detail required differs.  Whereas the DTR 
calls for “an indication of ….the issuer’s likely future development” the 2006 
Act requires companies to disclose “the main trends and factors likely to affect 
the future development, performance and position” of the business.  There is 
also overlap between the corporate governance obligations in DTR 7 and the 
UK Corporate Governance Code (UK Code), resulting in the Financial 
Reporting Council introducing a six-page appendix to the UK Code to 
compare the two approaches.  Another example is risk disclosures which are 
required under the DTR, Listing Rules, 2006 Act, accounting standards and 
the UK Code.  This encourages a scattergun approach to disclosing risks 
which might be better presented within one risk statement. 
 
The AIC recommends that BIS considers how the interaction of the different 
regulations covering narrative reporting can be improved.  Regulatory 
overlaps place unnecessary burdens on companies which are required to 
devote additional resources to understanding and comparing the different 
rules, and considering how best to amalgamate the disclosures into a user-
friendly document for shareholders.  The situation partly arises because of the 
development of both European and UK regulation, but the AIC believes that 
there is scope to simplify the regime.  For example, where the rules overlap 
precisely, cross-referencing could be used to remove repetition.  Where the 
intention behind the rules is similar but the wording differs, consideration 
should be given to aligning the requirements. 
 
In relation to reporting on corporate governance, the priority of the UK 
Government should be continued support for the ‘comply or explain’ regime.  
This provides companies with flexibility to present explanations to 
shareholders where they decide to move away from normal best practice and 
adopt alternative arrangements which are more suited to their particular 
circumstances.  This approach provides shareholders with useful information 
about the company and allows them to form a view of the appropriateness of 
decisions taken by the board.  This in turn encourages shareholders to 
engage with the company where they do not support the position taken by the 
board.  The ‘comply or explain’ approach therefore goes some way to 
achieving one of the objectives of the current review, which is to empower 
shareholders. 
 
The principles-based approach taken by the UK Code also encourages 
companies to provide more informative disclosures to shareholders to reflect 
their specific circumstances.  Where rules are written in a detailed and 
prescriptive way, the resulting disclosures are more likely to be narrow and 
provide little useful information to encourage shareholder engagement.  
Policymakers should bear this in mind when drafting regulation.   
 
The AIC is concerned about the direction of discussions in Europe on the 
corporate governance disclosure framework.  In particular, it appears that the 
distinction between corporate governance and regulation is being 
inappropriately blurred.  For example, in the Commission’s green paper on 
corporate governance (which can be found at 
http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/company/docs/modern/com2010_284_en.







pdf), it is consulting on whether financial institutions and banks should be 
required to establish a risk committee and on the role of the chief risk officer.  
Our view is that risk oversight in these sectors is too important to be dealt with 
through corporate governance.  Corporate governance should be about 
boards reporting to their shareholders how they have carried out their 
responsibilities in relation to the company.  It should not be used as an 
alternative to introducing regulation and to reporting on matters which should 
be notified to the regulator.  This approach does nothing to improve the quality 
of narrative reporting.  The AIC’s response to the green paper can be found at 
www.theaic.co.uk/Documents/Technical/AICconsultationresponsegreenpaper
corpgovAug2010.pdf. 
 
As part of BIS’s review of the future of narrative reporting, the AIC 
recommends that it considers the statutory liability regime relating to 
disclosures made in, and omissions from, the annual accounts and in 
particular the recent changes to section 90A of the Financial Services and 
Markets Act 2000.  It may be that adjustments could be made to reduce the 
problem of excessive disclosures made simply to offset potential liability 
rather than communicate key information to shareholders. 
 
BIS should also note that, following consultation, the International Accounting 
Standards Board is shortly expected to publish the final text of a non-
mandatory framework on ‘Management Commentary’.  In considering 
changes to the UK regime on narrative reporting, BIS may wish to take these 
developments into account.     
 
Consultation questions 
 
1.  Are company directors providing useful and relevant information on 
the company’s forward-looking strategy and principal risks and 
uncertainties?  
 
Companies generally do provide useful and relevant information on their 
forward-looking strategy.  For an investment company, its future strategy will 
be set out in its investment policy which it is required to publish under the 
Listing Rules.  This must set out the company’s policies on asset allocation, 
risk diversification and borrowing, and explains to shareholders how the 
company’s assets will be invested. 
 
There may be scope for improving the way in which risks are disclosed in the 
annual report.  It is not unusual for risk information to be located in various 
places throughout the document, for example in the directors’ report/business 
review, corporate governance statement and the notes to the accounts, and, 
for investment companies, in their investment policy.  As discussed above, 
this may reflect the fact that rules on risk disclosures come from a range of 
regulatory sources.  There may be scope for improving how this information is 
organised and presented to shareholders in a more coherent manner.  For 
example, it may be appropriate to use more cross-referencing to bring the 
information together or to provide one risk statement in the annual report 
which collates all the relevant risk disclosures. 







 
2.  What are the constraints on companies providing information on 
these issues?  
 
Preparing disclosures on strategy and principal risks and uncertainties should 
not be overly burdensome for companies.  These are issues which a board 
will consider in depth on an ongoing basis and relevant documentation will be 
regularly prepared as part of the board papers.  The work required to convert 
this information into a statement suitable for inclusion in the annual report 
should be easily manageable, although the board, and the chairman in 
particular, may want to spend some time considering how the key messages 
are communicated to shareholders. 
 
3.  Does the information provided reflect the issues discussed by the 
directors in board meetings? 
 
See answer to question 2. 
 
4.  Does the information help shareholders to press directors on key 
issues relating to strategy and risk, or inform their business decisions?  
 
As discussed above, shareholders are more likely to engage with boards 
which avoid ‘boiler-plating’ their reports, and which provide information to their 
shareholders which is specific and relevant.   
 
Narrative reporting in the annual report is only one of many tools which 
shareholders use to inform their business decisions.  Financial information is 
also important and access to up-to-date performance figures is vital for 
shareholders to monitor their investments.     
 
5.  If a company does not provide sufficient or material information to 
you, do you challenge it?  Is there anything which could help you to do 
so?  
 
The vast majority of investment companies outsource their day-to-day 
management and administration to a management company.  As part of this 
arrangement, the investment company board will agree a policy with the 
manager regarding engagement with investee companies.  Principle 16 of the 
AIC Code of Corporate Governance, which is endorsed by the Financial 
Reporting Council as an alternative means for investment companies to meet 
their obligations in relation to the UK Corporate Governance Code, 
recommends that investment company boards agree a policy with their 
manager regarding voting and corporate governance issues in respect of 
holdings in the company’s portfolio.   
 
It may be appropriate for no engagement to take place at all, for example in 
the case of tracker funds.  At the other end of the spectrum, a venture catpial 
trust may place a representative on the board of the investee company to 
have much greater involvement in its strategic development.  Therefore, the 
extent to which an investment company (through its manager) may challenge 







the information provided by an investee company differs, depending on the 
approach agreed with the manager. 
 
6.  What other sources of company information do you use and how 
valuable are they (e.g. information provided on the website, analysts’ 
briefings, dialogue with the company, corporate social responsibility 
report)?  
 
N/A 
 
7.  Is there scope to reduce or simplify the requirements on which 
companies report?  
 
As discussed above, the AIC believes there is scope to reduce the extent to 
which the requirements on narrative reporting overlap.   
 
Reporting obligations could also be improved if companies are no longer 
required to produce interim management statements (IMS).  These reports 
are published around the first and third quarter ends and contain primarily 
narrative disclosures.  IMSs may be outside the scope of the current review 
but impose a significant burden on companies without clear evidence that 
shareholders place any significant value on them.  In light of its current review 
of the Transparency Directive, the AIC has recommended the abolition of 
interim management statements to the European Commission.   
 
If the Commission concludes that it is not appropriate to remove the rules on 
interim management statements, then the AIC has provided alterative 
recommendations to simplify the reporting requirements.  For example, it has 
recommended to the Commission that an IMS should cover a strict quarter 
period and have a set publication deadline.  The AIC’s response to the 
Commission’s review of the Transparency Directive can be found at 
www.theaic.co.uk/Documents/Technical/AICconsultationresponseEUtranspar
encyAugust2010.pdf. 
 
8.  Is there scope to arrange the information in a more useful way?  
 
As discussed above, information on risks could be presented in a more 
organised way. 
 
The review should also focus on reducing the volume of information which 
companies are required to disclose.  Fewer, but more relevant, disclosures 
would improve the quality of narrative reporting and provide shareholders with 
more scope to engage with boards. 
 
9.  Looking at an Operating & Financial Review and the existing 
business review (see Annex D), do you see value in reinstating elements 
of an OFR and if so what would they be?  In particular, would a statutory 
reporting standard help to improve the quality of reporting?  
 







The AIC recommends that the current rules on business reviews should 
remain unchanged.  They have now been in place for three years and most 
companies will have completed the process of understanding and 
implementing the rules.  There is no justification for changing the framework 
unless specific regulatory failures have been identified, which the AIC does 
not believe is the case.    
 
Given the high degree of overlap between the OFR and the business review 
requirements, there is no value in reinstating the OFR.  If it is decided to re-
introduce one or both of the two main elements of the OFR which are not 
currently included in the business review, namely an enhanced audit 
requirement and the statutory recognition of a reporting statement, then this 
should be done by amending the business review rules. 
 
10.  The business review provisions require quoted companies to report, 
to the extent necessary, on:  
 
 main trends and factors likely to affect the future development, 


performance and position of the company’s business  
 information on environmental matters  
 information on employees  
 information on social and community matters  
 persons with whom the company has essential contractual and other 


relationships  
 


i) Is this information useful to you? How do you use it?  
ii) Could disclosure be improved? If so, how?  
iii) Are there key issues which are missing? If so, please explain?  


 
Disclosures on environmental, employee, social and community matters are 
not relevant for the majority of investment companies because their unique 
structure means that they have no employees, no property and no physical 
operations.  The current provisions require investment company boards to 
justify to their shareholders why these disclosures are not given.  This is an 
example where the narrative reporting framework results in the production of 
unnecessary and irrelevant disclosures which distract from the main purpose 
of informing shareholders about the performance of the company. 
 
More flexible rules which recognise that companies have different approaches 
would improve the quality of reporting.  For example, the AIC recommends 
that this provision is amended to only require disclosure of environmental, 
employee, social and community matters “where appropriate”.  If these 
disclosures are not relevant to a company’s business model, then the board 
can spend more time focussing on core issues.  Where companies do have 
relevant issues to report but fail to do so adequately, shareholders and 
regulators have mechanisms with which to raise this with the company 
concerned.  We recommend that guidelines could be set to indicate where 
disclosures should be made.  For example, no disclosure on employee 
matters might be required for companies with under 250 employees.  No 
environmental disclosures might be required for companies which do not emit 







over a certain amount of carbon dioxide (see below) or have physical 
operations limited to office space under a certain size e.g. 10,000m2 or type. 
 
As discussed above, the AIC does not recommend that additional items are 
added to the business review provisions.  The objective of this exercise is to 
improve the quality of narrative reporting.  This will not be achieved by 
increasing the volume of items which must be reported on.  If there is scope 
for information to be removed, the AIC would support such deletions. 
 
The AIC understands that BIS is committed to introducing regulations on 
greenhouse gas reporting.  The AIC recommends that the new regime 
adopts a ‘comply or explain’ approach which recognises that these 
disclosures may not be relevant for all types of companies.  For example, 
investment companies do not generate greenhouse gas or other emissions of 
any significance.  The AIC recommends that the regime incorporates a de-
minimis level below which companies are not required to report.  This could 
be based on the new CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme which places a number 
of statutory obligations on organisations which consume over 6,000 MWh of 
electricity per year, roughly equivalent to a bill of £500,000.  Where 
companies are not subject to this scheme, they should not be required to 
report their greenhouse gas emissions. 
 
11.  Would more guidance be helpful?  If so, what form should this take? 
For example: best practice example, sample Key Performance 
Indicators, etc?  
 
Given that the business review provisions have been in force for three years 
and that companies have now fully implemented the requirements, the AIC 
does not believe that further guidance is necessary at this stage.   
 
12.  Should there be a shareholder’s advisory vote on the Business 
Review?  
 
The AIC recommends that there is no shareholder’s advisory vote on the 
business review.  This would result in mechanistic voting with shareholders 
paying little or no attention to the content of the review or the quality of 
reporting.  There are already established processes in place for shareholders 
to raise concerns with the board or to vote against the reappointment of the 
chairman if they do not agree with the way in which the company is being run.   
The emphasis should be on encouraging constructive engagement between 
shareholders and boards and not on introducing more mechanistic 
procedures. 
 
13.  Are there non-regulatory solutions to increasing quality through 
better guidance or publicising excellence in business reports?  If so, 
what?  
 
The AIC does not believe that an awards scheme would improve the quality of 
narrative reporting.  Companies are more likely to be persuaded to improve 







their disclosures as a result of pressure from shareholders rather than the 
desire to win an award.   
 
14.  Do the current disclosure requirements provide clear and usable 
information about:  
 the total remuneration paid to directors, and how this is made up;  
 the performance criteria for payments to directors, and how these 


relate to the company’s strategic objectives;  
 company performance against these criteria, so that there is a 


demonstrable link between pay and performance;  
 the process by which directors’ remuneration is decided?  
If not, please explain including any views on how this might be 
improved. 
 
The vast majority of investment company boards are made up of non-
executive directors and therefore most of the disclosures in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report are not relevant.   
 
The AIC believes that it is useful for the company to set out the process by 
which directors’ remuneration is decided.  It is worth noting the overlap 
between the Directors’ Remuneration Report requirements and the UK Code 
which takes a principles-based, ‘comply or explain’ approach to disclosing 
policies for setting director’s remuneration.    
 
15. If you can provide any information on costs associated either with 
the existing narrative reporting requirements eg preparing your 
business review or your views on potential costs and benefits in relation 
to any of the ideas in this consultation, please give details. 
 
The AIC has no specific information on the costs of preparing narrative 
disclosures.  However, where the reporting framework can be reduced or 
simplified, this will decrease costs and free up company resources to 
concentrate on more critical business issues. 
 


October 2010 
 
 
For more information on the issues raised by this paper please contact: 
 
Guy Rainbird, Public Affairs Director, The Association of Investment 
Companies.   
 
Alison Andrews, Project Manager, The Association of Investment 
Companies.  








 


Jane Leavens  
Corporate Law & Governance Directorate  
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills  
1 Victoria Street  
London  
SW1H 0ET  
 
Narrativereporting@bis.gsi.gov.uk 
 


19th October 2010 
 
Re: Consultation response: the Future of Narrative Reporting  
 
 
Dear Ms Leavens  
 
Background 
 
Aviva Investors is a global asset management company wholly owned by Aviva plc, the 
world’s sixth largest insurance group, and the largest insurance services provider in the UK. 
We have assets under management in excess of £250 billion. 
  
Aviva plc believes that good corporate governance and strong, responsible leadership by the 
corporate board is critical to creating long term shareholder value. We therefore support the 
disclosure of information from companies on their stewardship of the company in that 
context. Such information enables us to integrate environmental, social and corporate 
governance assessments into our valuations on companies. This helps to ensure that capital 
flows towards companies that are run in a more sustainable way, which also supports the 
broader economy.  
 
Markets are driven by information.  If the information they receive is short term and thin then 
these characteristics will define our markets. Progressive companies around the world have 
come to understand that long term shareholder value is enhanced by embedding 
sustainability into their long term strategy and by fully disclosing their progress to investors. 
Only when investors have access to high quality, business relevant information will we be 
able to properly assess one company relative to its peers and allocate capital accordingly. 
 
Consequently, we agree with the statement in the consultation that UK companies are 
already among the best in the world in their standards of corporate governance and the 
quality of their narrative reporting. The provision in company law for a Business Review has 
generated considerable improvement in this area, particularly around material environmental 
and social performance questions. However, significant problems remain with the quantity, 
quality, reliability and comparability of this data. We therefore welcome the reconsideration 
of an Operating and Financial Review, which we believe would have considerable merit.  
 
We further agree that the key goal is to ensure that companies are clear-sighted and 
focused on the issues which matter to their long term success and therefore to investors. We 
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also agree that it is important that there is a clear link between the company’s strategic 
objectives and the criteria for payments to directors.  
 
For our part, we believe that a systematic approach to reviewing the standards, values and 
sustainability risks and opportunities of the business and ensuring that the business knows 
what is expected helps define and maintain a healthy long term organisational culture, where 
people have pride in their business, care for their customers and are highly motivated at their 
work. Understanding the potential impacts on the firm from diminishing access to raw 
materials is also important to the long term health of the business.  
 
However, over and above the current focus on environmental and social issues within the 
OFR, we should not lose sight of the opportunity to enhance the linkage between all the 
many other strategic and material aspects of the business. Among those business aspects 
that we would expect OFRs to include are: a review of the business strategy; the key 
performance indicators being used by the board; how the company ensures that the board 
itself is fit for purpose; and the high level links between the strategy, the business KPIs and 
the boards’ own remuneration (which we would expect to be detailed in the separate 
remuneration report). In other words, the OFR should be holistic and cover all aspects of the 
business. In this way, shareholders will be able to see how the business is run as a whole. 
 
 
Detailed response to consultation form 
 
Name: Steve Waygood  
 
Organisation (if applicable): Aviva Investors  
 
Address: Head of Sustainability Research and Engagement, Aviva Investors, 1 Poultry, London, 
EC2R 8EJ 
 
Email:  
 
 
Please tick the box from the following list of options that best describes you: 
 
 Quoted company 
 Other company  


√ Investor or investment manager 
 Business representative organisation 
 Investor representative organisation  
 Non governmental organisation (NGO) 
 Trade Union 
 Lawyer or accountant 
 Other (e.g. consultant or private individual) 
 
 







 


Value of narrative reporting  
 
Question 1: Are company directors providing useful and relevant information on the 
company’s: 


i) forward-looking strategy and  
ii) principal risks and opportunities? 


 
Comments 
 
Section 417 of the UK Companies Act which covers the business review has made a 
major contribution to the availability of useful and relevant narrative reporting. 
However, in aggregate, business reviews still have considerable room for 
improvement, not least generating the data, reassurance or forward looking 
strategic/material sustainability information that investors want.  
 
We look for a thoughtful and sufficiently forward looking business review that covers 
the company strategy, objectives and operating environment. We also expect to find 
sufficient evidence that the key corporate responsibility risks have been considered 
and that action has been taken to mitigate these risks. 
 
Overall, very little of the information that we receive is sufficiently forward looking. It 
is also much more based on risk management than seizing opportunities to generate 
revenue. Finally, there is an unhelpful tendency among some companies to produce 
reports that are far too lengthy and not focused on business relevant issues. 
 
 
 
 
Question 2: What are the constraints on companies providing information on these issues? 
 
Comments 
 
This question is mainly directed at companies providing the data and we defer to 
them to respond. Among the complaints that we have heard are (i) the lack of useful 
guidance, (ii) the challenges associated with setting aside the time required to 
properly discuss these issues at the board level and (iii) a lack of coherent demands 
from investors. 
 
 
 
 
Question 3: Does the information provided reflect the issues discussed by the directors in 
board meetings?  
 
Comments 
 
This question is mainly directed at companies providing the data and we defer to 
them to respond. However, we would observe that we have noticed that a minority of 
companies appear to cut and paste the sustainability section from the previous 
years report. 







 


 
The Corporate Responsibility Board Committee of Aviva plc which is responsible for 
setting guidance, direction and overseeing policies and progress on the Group’s 
corporate responsibility (CR) and Environmental policy reports to the Board at 
regular intervals informing the directors of the matters it has reviewed and making 
recommendations when appropriate. The Committee’s duties and activities during 
the year are disclosed in the Annual Report and Accounts.  
 
 
 
Question 4: Does the information help shareholders to press directors on key issues relating 
to strategy and risk, or inform their business decisions?  
 
Comments 
 
Yes, but there is scope for improvement. Similarly, following the advent of s417, we 
have found that our requests for the information are responded to positively more 
regularly. In other words, it has helped to create the norm that this information is 
valid and necessary. 


  
 
 
Question 5: If a company does not provide sufficient or material information to you, do you 
challenge it? Is there anything which could help you to do so?   
 
Comments 
 
Yes. In addition to our answer to question four above, since 2001 it has been our 
approach to vote against a report and accounts of a company if it does not disclose 
what we consider to be material corporate responsibility performance information. 
Appendix 1 contains some information highlighting the results of this work. It also 
includes a series of brief case studies depicting our approach. They demonstrate 
improvements in the narrative reporting from Renishaw PLC, G4S, Elekta AB, 
Chloride Group, Daejan Holdings PLC, Dana Petroleum, and Carpetright. 
 
In terms of measures that would help, we would prefer to have the opportunity to vote 
specifically on the sustainability information in the report and accounts (see question 
12 for our proposed structure to this). While the vote would enable better market self-
regulation, we are also of the view that the role of the FRC (FRRP) should be 
revisited and re-energized. Indeed, until recently, we were not aware that the FRC 
operated a service to investors having problems engaging with companies in the 
furtherance of good business reviews. The function needs far greater publicity as well 
as more resources. 
 
 
   
 







 


Question 6: What other sources of company information do you use and how valuable are they 
(e.g. information provided on the website, analysts’ briefings, dialogue with the company, 
corporate social responsibility report)? 
 
Comments 
 
We do not restrict ourselves to the information contained within a company’s report 
and accounts. We also find valuable information on the website, analysts’ briefings, 
broker reports, dialogue with the company and the corporate responsibility report. We 
also use specialist research providers such as PIRC, EIRIS, ISS, Governance 
Metrics International, as well as speaking with various non governmental bodies.  
 
 


 
 
Question 7: Is there scope to reduce or simplify the requirements on which companies report?   
 
Comments 
 
When reporting to investors, companies should prioritise disclosure of corporate 
responsibility issues that are most relevant to their business. We look for the 
integration of relevant issues into the financial reports, as this is most helpful to 
investors. Best practice increasingly involves their consideration in the chairman and 
chief executive’s statements, the business review, the remuneration report, internal 
control statements and the audit report. We welcome stand alone corporate 
responsibility reports, particularly when they are justified by the nature and scale of 
the issues, as well as the depth of the company’s response. 
 
 
 
Question 8: Is there scope to arrange the information in a more useful way?  
 
Comments 
 
We welcome the work of the International Integrated Reporting Committee and would 
recommend that BIS give consideration to how this work can be furthered within 
Company Law. 
 
Aviva plc was heavily involved with the Prince of Wales’ Initiative on Accounting for 
Sustainability. When this came out with its report, it was actually implemented it the 
2008 annual report, allowing investors to see how the company deals with 
greenhouse gas emissions, waste and resources 
 
 


Business Review 
 
Question 9: Looking at an Operating & Financial Review and the existing business review (see 
Annex D), do you see value in reinstating elements of an OFR and if so what would they be? In 
particular, would a statutory reporting standard help to improve the quality of reporting?   
 







 


Comments 
 
Yes. We see a number of valuable contributions from reinstating elements of the 
OFR: (i) the opportunity to tie in voting action; (ii) the opportunity to revisit the role of 
the auditor in signing off the accuracy of any key performance indicators as well as 
signing off on whether a substantive and well informed board discussion had taken 
place where directors were considering their duties to stakeholders (s172), (iii) the 
opportunity to develop better guidance for companies, and (iv) the opportunity to 
embed this information into director’s incentives.  
 
As to the establishment of a statutory reporting standard, while a general process 
standard for integrated reporting with key performance indicators can be stipulated 
as a minimum, we do not consider it appropriate to set a one size fits all reporting 
standard covering the broad range of risks and opportunities that exist and the 
different ways in which they apply to different companies.  
 
 
 
 
Question 10: The business review provisions require quoted companies to report, to the extent 
necessary, on:  
 main trends and factors likely to affect the future development, performance and 


position of the company’s business 
 information on environmental matters 
 information on employees 
 information on social and community matters 
 persons with whom the company has essential contractual and other relationships   


i) is this information useful to you?  How do you use it? 
ii) Could disclosure be improved? If so, how?  
iii) Are there key issues which are missing? If so, please explain? 


 
Comments 
 
Yes. We embed the material information into both our stock selection for client 
portfolios as well as in our voting decisions at company AGMs.  
 
We have seen a significant increase in the number of companies disclosing 
corporate responsibility issues within the annual report and accounts. We consider 
that this is mainly attributable to the 2008 changes to company law, and is consistent 
with the trend that we have seen since we started voting on these issues in 2001.  
  
However, we still have concerns about the quality and usefulness of this information. 
One recurring theme has been the lack of the key performance indicators (KPIs) on 
material issues. We find that KPIs are a simple and effective tool for measuring 
performance and management quality in this area. While the Companies Act also 
highlights their importance, the lack of key performance indicators has been our most 
frequent request in feedback to companies. 
 
 







 


Question 11: Would more guidance be helpful?  If so, what form should this take? For example, 
best practice example, sample Key Performance Indicators, etc?  
 
Comments 
 
Yes. The guidance could take ASB 1 as its starting point and revisit that in 
conjunction with the ABI Guidelines for Responsible Investment disclosure, 
Bloomberg, and the integrated reporting framework from Accounting for 
Sustainability.   
 
 
Question 12: Should there be a shareholder’s advisory vote on the Business Review? 
 
Comments 
 
Our experience with voting on report and accounts demonstrates that, while effective 
with around 40-50% of companies responding, our communication would be more 
efficient and focused if we had a stand alone vote available to us.  
 
Our experience using the vote on the annual report and accounts demonstrates that 
it is a useful and effective surrogate for the vote proposed here. However, we would 
prefer to have the opportunity to vote specifically on the sustainability information in 
the report and accounts. Not least because this would avoid the signals being given 
to companies becoming mixed up among many of the other reasons that a vote on 
the annual report and accounts is used. To that end, we strongly welcome the 
considerations being given to harnessing this disclosure to investor voting activity at 
company AGMs.  
 
However, we note that the question is whether the OFR/Business Review should be 
put to an advisory vote at the company’s AGM. While we can certainly see the case 
for this, we would prefer a more focused vote on a separate section in the report 
which would contain the future sustainability strategy and backward looking 
performance report. Such a vote would be an even more focused and effective 
device. We believe that a vote would help to ensure that directors take appropriate 
care in preparing the information.  
 
Such a section need not be lengthy, and could be supported by further information on 
line. Regarding the key difference between a sustainability report and a sustainability 
strategy, a report is backward looking and reports on performance to date - ideally 
with 3-5 year trend analysis. Whereas a sustainability strategy looks out 20-30 years 
or more and considers how the company will ensure that it remains a going concern 
over this time period and beyond. Depending on the sector, questions that we look to 
see covered include, for example, what natural resources does the company depend 
on, and how can they be sustained indefinitely. What levels of training within the 
workforce does the company require, and how can it ensure that this is in place. How 
can the local communities within which the business operates develop economically 
and contribute to the longer term development of the company. Does the business 
model of the company need to evolve in order to ensure that it helps to meet the 
needs of the present, without encumbering the ability of future generations to meet 







 


their own needs? What is the regulatory context regarding sustainable development 
issues likely to look like, and how will this change corporate cash flows? How can the 
company maximize the opportunities for creating and sustaining a competitive 
advantage? 
 
Our parent company Aviva plc experimented with this approach at its 2010 AGM 
earlier this year by putting their CR report to an advisory vote. It has reported to us 
that it found the conversations with the vast majority of its shareholders to be 
productive and supportive, with a 99.97% vote in favour. 
 
 
 
Question 13: Are there non-regulatory solutions to increasing quality through better guidance 
or publicising excellence in business reports? If so, what? 
 
Comments 
 
We believe that the approach implied by the current line of questioning is the right 
one.  


 
 
 
 


Directors’ Remuneration Report 
 
Question 14: Do the current disclosure requirements provide clear and usable 
information about:  


 the total remuneration paid to directors, and how this is made up; 
 the performance criteria for payments to directors, and how these relate to the 


company’s strategic objectives; 
 company performance against these criteria, so that there is a demonstrable link 


between pay and performance.; 
 the process by which directors’ remuneration is decided? 


 
 
Comments 
 
Although there has been a gradual move to align performance measures towards 
those that are more consistent with company strategy, profitable growth and long-
term value creation, this trend has been slow with, for example, EPS too prevalent as 
a measure, despite its shortcomings.  Similarly, the disclosure and explanation of the 
levels of variable pay vesting (bonuses and incentive schemes) in relation to 
the performance outcomes remains poor. 
  
Our policy on the integration of environmental, social and corporate governance 
(ESG) issues into remuneration is a relatively recent development. A 2008 broker 
note by JP Morgan analysed whether the remuneration strategies of 174 pan-
European companies made any reference to ESG or non-financial factors. They 
found that 61 companies included some ESG reference; at 13 companies the 







 


consideration of ESG factors was discretionary and 13 companies drew a 
quantitative link. Aviva plc was singled out as a good performer in its sector. 
 
The approach that we recommend here is consistent with the ABI Guidelines on 
Responsible Investment disclosure, ie: 
 
“With regard to the Board, the company should state in its remuneration report:  
  
3.1 Whether the remuneration committee is able to consider corporate 
performance on ESG issues when setting remuneration of executive directors. If the 
report states that the committee has no such discretion, then a reason should be 
provided for its absence.  
  
3.2 Whether the remuneration committee has ensured that the incentive structure 
for senior management does not raise ESG risks by inadvertently motivating 
irresponsible behaviour.” 
 


Costs 
  
Question 15:  
If you can provide any information on costs associated either with the existing narrative 
reporting requirements eg preparing your business review or your views on potential costs 
and benefits in relation to any of the ideas in this consultation, please give details    
 
 
Comments 


Companies frequently complain that their shareholders are too short term. 
Consequently, they should support shareholder requests for performance data that is 
relevant to the long term. 


For those companies already producing a sustainability or corporate responsibility 
report, the additional costs of presenting it to the AGM are trivial. For example, Aviva 
PLC tabled its Corporate Responsibility vote to the 2010 AGM. As mentioned above, 
the approximate costs in time were no more than 5 person days, and less than 
£5,000. This report won the support of 99.97% of the investors that voted. For a 
company with a market capitalisation in excess of £10 billion, the benefits of tabling 
the report at the AGM were significantly greater than the costs which we would also 
expect to decline in future years (Source: Aviva plc).  


It is true that those companies not disclosing any data will have more significant 
costs in terms of time and money. However, we would argue that the consideration 
and publication of such a report - as well as the production of the associated 
management information - will help companies to identify efficiency savings and 
create value for shareholders.  


For our part, we believe that a systematic approach to reviewing the standards, 







 


values and sustainability risks and opportunities of the business and ensuring that 
the business knows what is expected helps define and maintain a healthy long term 
organisational culture, where people have pride in their business, care for their 
customers and are highly motivated at their work. Understanding the potential 
impacts on the firm from diminishing access to raw materials is also important to the 
long term health of the business.  


A significant number of buy and sell side firms are integrating these issues into 
valuation. However, without performance reporting, this is extremely difficult. 


To cite two examples: 


Goldman Sachs is one of the firms to have carried out analysis of the relationship 
between how companies address these ESG issues and the returns they generate. It 
contends that in a number of sectors there is a direct correlation between sustainable 
business practices and the longer-term financial success of that company. 


WestLB also published a study of the materiality of extra-financial factors based on a 
sample of 540 European firm. It found evidence of a link between extra-financial risk, 
cost of capital to a firm and shareholder value. The report suggested that compiling a 
sustainability report was among the most important ESG catalysts for change – 
contributing to accumulation of knowledge, questioning of processes and the 
establishment of suitable structures and practices (Source: Garz, H & Volk, C. What 
really counts: The materiality of extra-financial factors, WestLB, February 2007). 


 
 
 


 
Conclusion: 


While corporate narrative reporting in the UK is already among the best in the world, we 
believe that there is a need to reinstate the operating and financial review. We believe that 
this will help to achieve the first aim of the consultation, which is to drive up the quality of 
narrative reporting to the level of the best, including on social and environmental issues. We 
strongly welcome the suggestion that voting action could be embedded in some way, as this 
will help to achieve the second aim of the consultation and empower shareholders so they 
can step up and act as effective owners in the long term interests of the companies they 
invest in.  
 
We also agree that it is important that there is a clear link between the company’s strategic 
objectives and the criteria for payments to directors.  The approach that we recommend here 
is that the company should be required to state in its remuneration report whether the 
remuneration committee is able to consider corporate performance on ESG issues when 
setting remuneration of executive directors. If the report states that the committee has no 
such discretion, then a reason should be provided for its absence.  
 







 


Finally, we would highlight that there are also important links to other policy areas. For 
example, there are links to the Climate Change Act and its provision for the disclosure of 
climate change related data. Lord Stern has reminded us that, while the consequences of 
the financial crisis have been profound, they pale in comparison to the dangers of runaway 
climate change. His seminal review on the economics of climate change in 2006 made it 
clear that climate change could represent a significant cost to the global economy. Its main 
conclusions were that 1% of global GDP should be invested a year to mitigate its effects, 
and that failure to do so could risk global consumption being up to 20% lower than it 
otherwise might be. Such an outcome would profoundly affect the long term value of our 
client’s portfolios, so we are supporting and advocating strong government action in this area, 
starting with mandatory disclosure of greenhouse gas emissions data by large corporations. 
Consequently, we welcome the new government’s commitment for urgent action to 
decarbonise the economy and support green industries and jobs. As part of this commitment, 
it is essential that the government ensures that all large organisations measure and report 
their greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. This is necessary for business, which is responsible 
for nearly a third of total UK GHG emissions, to manage and reduce its carbon footprint, 
leading to reduced energy costs, increased transparency and a greater understanding of 
material climate risks and opportunities. 
 
Similarly, an OFR could contribute to a further improvement in investment managers’ 
stewardship of clients’ ownership interests and rights, and promote the long term health of 
businesses and create shareholder value. This has of course been the focus of the Financial 
Reporting Council with the recent launch of its Stewardship Code for Institutional Investors, 
which Aviva Investors strongly supports. The ultimate objective of good stewardship by 
investors is to ensure that company Directors are, in turn, good stewards of the business. 
Investor stewardship relies on information being disclosed by companies regarding on their 
considerations of and performance in this area, hence the link here. 
 
I am happy to discuss any of the issues covered in this paper further so please do not 
hesitate to get in contact.  
 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
 


 
 
Dr Steve Waygood  
Head of Sustainability Research and Engagement 
Aviva Investors 
 







 


APPENDIX A:  An Overview of Aviva Investor’s voting on environmental and social 
performance  
 


Since 2001, it has been our approach to vote against a report and accounts of a company if it does 
not disclosure what we consider to be material corporate responsibility performance information. At 
launch, this policy applied to the FTSE100 (ie the largest listed companies in the UK). By 2008, the 
scope of this policy had been extended to the top 350 in the UK, plus the 300 largest companies in 
Europe. We now apply it to the FTSE All Share. 


An analysis of this voting activity is outlined for the below. The first bar chart below depicts our overall 
voting levels on Corporate Responsibility disclosure and accountability (this is separate to the 
additional voting that we do on conventional corporate governance concerns).  It shows that our 
overall voting levels went up, but within that, the number of times we withheld support from the boards 
of companies decreased. There are a number of reasons for this, including that companies often 
respond to concerns that we have raised in previous years. 
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The second bar chart demonstrates how often we are able to increase our levels of support 
for companies. 
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The following case studies demonstrate how voting on environmental and social 
performance questions can generate improved disclosure.  


 
Renishaw PLC 


2009 Abstain 


The company has included some quantitative data in this year's Annual Report including a breakdown 
of the workforce in terms of gender, ethnicity and turnover. The company also reports the breakdown 
in energy use in percentage terms from different sources. This is a welcome development and we will 
therefore Abstain on the Report and Accounts (where we voted against last year). However, there is 
still no quantitative environmental performance data (e.g. for energy use, CO2 emissions and waste). 
We hope to see this remedied in next year's report. 


2010 Support 


The Company now discloses quantitative greenhouse gas emissions and waste data. This level of 
disclosure represents an increase in the Company's ESG disclosure and we will therefore vote in 
support of the Company's accounts and reports. 


G4S 







 


In May 2008, Aviva Investors again withheld our support from the report and accounts due to the 
absence of non financial KPIs, particularly regarding employee health and safety. There were two 
main reasons why we raised this as a material issue:  


1.    the company continued its move towards high risk security services and land mine clearing. It is 
important to know that the impacts on the workforce are being well managed;  


2.    the company's strategy involved taking greater responsibility for managing risk on behalf of 
customers, including a range of outsourcing services covering health and safety consultancy, systems, 
certification, analysis design and operation. Not delivering on these aspects within the business would 
reduce the credibility of this product. 


The company responded that they were aware of the omission and planned to take steps to correct it.  


In May 2009 we were able to welcome G4S’s first corporate responsibility report and support the 
report and accounts due to the improvements in reporting of KPIs including H&S. We also 
recommended further improvements, including greater use of management system certification. 


Elekta AB 


2009 Abstain 


The 2008/09 annual report is not available on their website (01/09/2009) so I am not able to assess 
and SEE disclosure. Based on last year's disclosure and comments it looks like it should be an 
Against again (also given the fact their ANR is not available). 


2010 Support 


The company has now provided some environmental information. 


Chloride Group 


 


2009 Abstain 


 


The company discloses quantitative H&S data in terms of accident days but no quantitative 
environmental data. Recommend Abstain and encourage environmental data disclosure. 


 


2010 Support 


 


This company now provides details of carbon emissions normalised against employee numbers. The 
company also intends to respond to the CDP this year. This improvement is sufficient for us to vote in 
support. 
 


Daejan Holdings PLC 


2009 Abstain 


 







 


The company now reports a brief section on CSR in their Annual Report. This includes employee 
turnover data and minimal disclosure on the environment and community. We would encourage the 
company to disclose additional information on the environmental impact on properties in which they 
invest. 


 


2010 Support 


 


Due to the sector in which the company operates in its environmental risks are relatively low. The 
company does report that it aims to achieve the highest BREEAM certification for all of it of its 
developments and refurbishments. Ideally we would like to see the company publish more information 
in this area but given its impact on the environment we are able to support. 


 


Dana Petroleum 


 


2009 Against 


 


We abstained last year on the basis of inadequate reporting offset by strategic improvements and a 
clear commitment to join the Carbon Disclosure Project.  Although improvements have been made 
disclosure is insufficient and their Carbon Disclosure information has not been made public. This is a 
high environmental impact company which fails to disclose quantitative environmental performance 
data or adequate information on its management of human rights - Oppose. 


 


2010 Abstain 


 


We are please to see that this company has shown significant improvement this year in publishing 
details of its carbon emissions both in brief on its website and in detail to the CDP. This year it has 
also made its CDP response publicly available. However, no positive steps have been made with 
reference to human rights with no details of a policy or systems provided in this area. The company 
has significant oil and gas operations in countries of concern for human rights including Egypt and 
Kenya. While we do appreciate the improvements made by the company regarding its environmental, 
and specifically climate change, impacts the lack of human rights disclosure means we are only able 
to abstain this year. 
 


Carpetright PLC 


2009 Against 


No real improvement from last year. The company discloses clear aims in the areas of customers, 
employees, product, H&S and environment, however no quantitative performance data is disclosed 
(with the exception that all wood products are FSC certified). 


2010 Support 


The company now provides quantitative data in areas such as health and safety and the environment 
and so we are now able to support. 


 





























































 
 
 
Consultation response form: The Future of Narrative Reporting  
 
A copy of the consultation available at: http://www.bis.gov.uk/consultations. 
 
Responses to the Consultation by be received by 19 October 2010 
 
Name:  
 
Organisation (if applicable): PIRC 
 
Address: 
 
Email: 
 
Return completed forms to: 
Jane Leavens  
Corporate Law & Governance Directorate  
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills 
1 Victoria Street 
London 
SW1H 0ET 
 
Tel: 020 7215 1686 
Narrativereporting@bis.gsi.gov.uk 
 
Please tick the box from the following list of options that best describes 
you: 
 
 Quoted company 
 Other company  
 Investor or investment manager 
 Business representative organisation 
X Investor representative organisation  
 Non governmental organisation (NGO) 
 Trade Union 
 Lawyer or accountant 
 Other (e.g. consultant or private individual) 
 



http://www.bis.gov.uk/consultations

mailto:Narrativereporting@bis.gsi.gov.uk





 
Value of narrative reporting  
 
Question 1: Are company directors providing useful and relevant 
information on the company’s: 


i) forward-looking strategy and  
ii) principal risks and opportunities? 


 
Comments 
 
Reports vary considerably from company to company, but are often of 
limited use. What investors and organisations like us that work with 
them are usually interested in is quantifiable and comparable 
information.  
 
 


 
 
Question 2: What are the constraints on companies providing information 
on these issues? 
 
Comments 
 
Companies appear to have concerns about disclosing too much 
‘strategic’ information that might be commercially sensitive. In practice 
we think any constraints are largely self-imposed.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Question 3: Does the information provided reflect the issues discussed by 
the directors in board meetings?  
 
Comments 
 
No, company reporting in general (ie beyond just the Business Review) 
typically fails tor provide much detail of the actual business of meetings. 
 
 
 
 
 







 
Question 4: Does the information help shareholders to press directors on 
key issues relating to strategy and risk, or inform their business decisions?  
 
Comments 
 
It helps in the sense that on occasion there is an obvious gap between 
the story that companies tell in their narrative reporting and the 
understanding that shareholders have of where the business is heading. 
This may subsequently lead to engagement.  
 
For PIRC specifically, we utilise the information provided in companies’ 
Business Reviews, alongside other disclosures, to inform our analysis. 
We also seek to apply our analysis to actual engagement. For example 
we sometimes recommend shareholders oppose a company’s report 
and accounts because we believe their reporting on social or 
environmental issues is poor or misleading.  
 
We believe it would be preferable if shareholders were able to vote 
directly on the content of Business Reviews, rather than using the 
annual report and accounts, as this would enable them to send 
companies a more focused signal. We discuss this is more length in the 
answer to question 12. 
  
 
Question 5: If a company does not provide sufficient or material 
information to you, do you challenge it? Is there anything which could help 
you to do so?   
 
Comments 
 
Yes, as noted above on occasion we recommend that shareholders 
oppose the report and accounts. PIRC believes that the provision of a 
separate vote on Business Reviews would make this engagement over 
the nature and extent of reporting more effective. 
 
 


   
 
Question 6: What other sources of company information do you use and 
how valuable are they (e.g. information provided on the website, analysts’ 
briefings, dialogue with the company, corporate social responsibility 
report)? 
 
Comments 







 
Websites: These have their own distinctive structure which may vary 
considerably across companies, making it difficult to assess companies 
on a short time scale. Also, information might be published in a way that 
makes it hard to find – indirectly jeopardising the transparency score of 
companies. However interactive content on website is very promising 
and at times has proved to deliver more information than downloadable 
reports. 
 
Corporate Social Responsibility Reports: This is the main report used to 
assess company’s environmental and social performances. Directors 
will most of the time talk about their strategy relating to the above in this 
specific report. Some companies seem to have tried to stay focused on 
where they publish particular information and avoid any duplication. For 
example, disclosing KPIs in the Business Review section of the annual 
report may be viewed as being duplicate of the same information being 
reported extensively in the CSR report.   
 
PIRC believes that a summary of the CSR objectives need to be included 
in the Business Review. Most investors will avoid the CSR report 
altogether and will focus on the one area that is relevant for them to 
read, and this is the BR/OFR. 
 
 
 
Question 7: Is there scope to reduce or simplify the requirements on which 
companies report?   
 
Comments 
 
We would not wish to see any reduction in what companies are required 
to report. However companies could themselves put more thought into 
how they report. We do not consider reporting in Business 
Reviews/OFRs to be a compliance issue – it should be an opportunity to 
talk the company’s owner about the future. Too often companies fail to 
take advantage of this opportunity.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







Question 8: Is there scope to arrange the information in a more useful way?  
 
Comments 
 
Yes, but this is principally a challenge for companies. There is a danger 
that greater prescription in how information is arranged will be used by 
companies as a way to produce even more boilerplate reporting. 
 


 
Business Review 
 
Question 9: Looking at an Operating & Financial Review and the existing 
business review (see Annex D), do you see value in reinstating elements of 
an OFR and if so what would they be? In particular, would a statutory 
reporting standard help to improve the quality of reporting?   
 
Comments 
 
There were elements of the OFT that were preferable to the Business 
Review. For instance there was an emphasis on reporting on the 
implementation of company policies (ie not just reporting that policies 
were in place). This is important because we have experience of 
engaging with companies which have impressive sounding policies, but 
where evidence on the ground suggests they are not implemented.  
 
A good example of this in recent history was FirstGroup, where policies 
on workplace rights did not seem to be applied in its US operations, 
leading to sustained shareholder engagement. Subsequently – as a 
result of shareholder pressure – the company began to report on the 
implementation of the policy. 
 
 
 
Question 10: The business review provisions require quoted companies to 
report, to the extent necessary, on:  
 main trends and factors likely to affect the future development, 


performance and position of the company’s business 
 information on environmental matters 
 information on employees 
 information on social and community matters 
 persons with whom the company has essential contractual and other 


relationships   
i) is this information useful to you?  How do you use it? 







ii) Could disclosure be improved? If so, how?  
iii) Are there key issues which are missing? If so, please explain? 


 
Comments 
 
In general reporting on workplace issues is very limited in nature. In 
PIRC’s view employee engagement and motivation are extremely 
important, and companies themselves claim that ‘people are our 
greatest asset’ yet typically report little about in this area.  
 
As such we believe that consideration should be given to revisiting the 
recommendations of the Kingsmill Report, to see what improvements 
could be made in this area.  
 
 
 
Question 11: Would more guidance be helpful?  If so, what form should this 
take? For example, best practice example, sample Key Performance 
Indicators, etc?  
 
Comments 
 
One area where there is a failing in respect of KPIs is in the lack of feed 
through to other relevant considerations. For example there is often no 
link between what the company describes as ‘key’ performance 
indicators and the way that executive performance in measured, and 
thus remuneration determined.  
 
Companies sometimes argue that financial metrics effectively capture 
everything, so there is no need for such granularity, particularly in long-
term incentives. Nonetheless the failure to link these two areas seems to 
demonstrate a lack of joined-up thinking. It would be helpful if BIS 
encouraged companies to ensure that if performance indicators are 
considered ‘key’ then they ought to appear in appraisals of executive 
performance. 
 
More generally on occasion we come across companies that list a whole 
string of KPIs. Once again this calls into question the extent to which 
some companies understand the objective of disclosing such data. 
Companies may monitor any number of data points, but ‘key’ indicators 
ought to be limited in number. 
 
 
 
 
 







 
 
 
Question 12: Should there be a shareholder’s advisory vote on the 
Business Review? 
 
Comments 
Yes, PIRC supports the introduction of an advisory vote on Business 
Reviews for two reasons.  
 
Firstly, where shareholder do have concerns about company reporting 
they do not have a specific outlet for this. For example, where PIRC 
believes that company reporting is inadequate, we sometimes 
recommend that shareholders oppose the report and accounts. We 
know some investor do likewise  
 
However, unless the reasons for such a vote are disclosed to the 
company concerned (which PIRC always seeks to do) then such voting 
could be interpreted as dissatisfaction with the accounts. A separate 
vote on Business Reviews could aid more targeted voting and 
engagement by shareholders. 
 
Secondly, we believe that an advisory vote on Business Reviews would 
encourage shareholders to pay more attention to the content.  
 
To use a very current example, we believe that if Vedanta had put the 
content of its Business Review to a vote at its most recent AGM this 
would have been used by a number of large shareholders to express 
concern. We note that Liberal Democrat MP Martin Horwood has queried 
whether the company’s Business Review actually met the requirements 
of the Companies Act. 
 
 
 
Question 13: Are there non-regulatory solutions to increasing quality 
through better guidance or publicising excellence in business reports? If 
so, what? 
 
Comments 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 


 







Directors’ Remuneration Report 
 
Question 14: Do the current disclosure requirements provide clear and 
usable information about:  


 the total remuneration paid to directors, and how this is made up; 
 the performance criteria for payments to directors, and how 


these relate to the company’s strategic objectives; 
 company performance against these criteria, so that there is a 


demonstrable link between pay and performance.; 
 the process by which directors’ remuneration is decided? 


 
 
Comments 
There are two areas in which company reporting on remuneration is 
currently lacking. The first is in relation to disclosure of directors’ 
pensions entitlements. We note the joint initiative this year by the NAPF 
and LAPFF to encourage greater disclosure of directors’ retirement 
provisions, and we agree with the list of information that they suggest 
companies disclose (accrual and contribution rates, retirement ages 
etc). Our own shareholder voting guidelines promote similar disclosure. 
 
We believe it would be helpful in the short-term if the Department 
signalled its support for this initiative, perhaps in response to this 
consultation, in order to encourage companies to take it seriously. In the 
longer term if company disclosure does not improve we believe that 
consideration should be given to amending the DRRR to make 
disclosure of the information sought mandatory. 
 
Secondly it is clear that almost all companies provide very little 
information on how they take into account pay and conditions across 
the group when setting directors’ pay. We believe further disclosure 
might be helpful here. For example, we note that under the Dodd-Frank 
Act requires the disclosure of internal pay ratios. We see no reason why 
the UK should not seek to institute something similar. 
 
More generally, we are concerned by the increasing complexity of 
remuneration reporting. This is not principally a concern because we 
believe that companies are providing opaque disclosures (though this is 
certainly true in some cases) but because we believe that it is providing 
a false impression of what is important. 
 
PIRC has detailed recently its belief that the focus on performance-
related rewards is mistaken because it is based on an at best partial 
view of human motivation. We note the apparent interest within the 
Coalition in the potential applications of behavioural economics and 
social psychology to policy. We therefore believe that consideration 







should be given to a broader review of the effectiveness of typical 
remuneration policies. 


 
Costs 
  
Question 15:  
If you can provide any information on costs associated either with the 
existing narrative reporting requirements eg preparing your business 
review or your views on potential costs and benefits in relation to any of 
the ideas in this consultation, please give details    
 
 
Comments 
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Consultation response form: The Future of Narrative Reporting  
 
A copy of the consultation available at: http://www.bis.gov.uk/consultations. 
 
Responses to the Consultation by be received by 19 October 2010 
 
Name: Hannah Ellis 
 
Organisation (if applicable): The Corporate Responsibility (CORE) Coalition  
 
Address: 26-28 Underwood Street, London, N1 7JQ 
 
Email:  
 
Return completed forms to: 
Jane Leavens  
Corporate Law & Governance Directorate  
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills 
1 Victoria Street 
London 
SW1H 0ET 
 
Tel: 020 7215 1686 
Narrativereporting@bis.gsi.gov.uk 
 
Please tick the box from the following list of options that best describes 
you: 
 
 Quoted company 
 Other company  
 Investor or investment manager 
 Business representative organisation 
 Investor representative organisation  
X Non governmental organisation (NGO) 
 Trade Union 
 Lawyer or accountant 
 Other (e.g. consultant or private individual) 
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Value of narrative reporting  
 
Question 1: Are company directors providing useful and relevant 
information on the company’s: 


i) forward-looking strategy and  
ii) principal risks and opportunities? 


 
Comments 
Environmental and social reporting is incredibly important in helping 
stakeholders assess companies’ environmental and social performance.   
 
Unfortunately, environmental and social issues relevant to a company’s 
strategy, risks and opportunities are currently not being reported adequately 
and constitute a major gap in directors’ reporting. Many reports make vague 
statements relating to the seriousness of these issues to the company but 
there is a lack of transparency as to how such risks were identified and how 
directors have determined to manage them. This includes providing detailed 
and relevant information from a range of key issues and associated risks, 
combined with contextual information to clarify the choices made about which 
risk factors are highlighted. 
 
Findings of The CORE Coalition  
A recent report produced by The CORE Coalition1 highlights how The 
Companies Act (2006) reporting requirements has failed to make 
environmental and social reporting simpler and more effective. Analysis of 
FTSE100 company reviews revealed: 
 


 8% have no clearly identifiable business review, leading to 
confusion for shareholders and stakeholders alike. 


 17% made no reference to environmental issues, despite wide 
acceptance that climate change is a business risk. 


 8% completely failed to include any social issues in their business 
review. 


 14% failed to include any social issues other than labour. 
 
Lack of Compliance with the Spirit of the Requirements 
CORE’s report also found that compliance with The Companies Act is far from 
comprehensive, with many companies not acting in the spirit of the reporting 
requirement. The reporting of non-financial information in business reviews 
was highly inadequate. For example, not a single company mentioned 
adaptation to climate change and extractive companies were silent on known 
areas of human rights risk, such as security around facilities. 
 
Of significant concern was also apparent lack of compliance with s.417 which 
                                            
1 By Professor Adrian Henriques (April 2010) The Reporting of Non-financial Information in Annual Reports 
by the FTSE100 available at www.corporate-responsibility.org  
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requires that if a Business Review does not contain information about each of 
the specified key factors which underlie the business’ performance, then 
these omissions should be stated. Although information in many reports was 
sparse, no declaration of this sort was found in any of the Annual Reports 
reviewed. 


 
Quantitative information is critical in assessing business performance and 
although The Companies Act makes specific reference to the use of Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs), CORE’s study found few companies referred 
to KPIs in their reports.  Furthermore, where quantitative information was 
reported, there was rarely any description or detailed specification of the 
indicators used.  The most reported area of environmental information was 
‘emissions, effluent and waste’, which includes CO2 emissions; this 
information is often required by other regulation and so is more readily 
available. Yet even here, only one third of companies surveyed reported 
quantitative information and 18% did not mention the issue at all.  CORE 
believe many environmental and social issues, such as CO2 production and a 
company’s susceptibility to climate change should be widely considered and 
reported constituting a ‘principal risk and uncertainty facing companies’ 


(Section 417 (3) (b)). While climate change was the single best‐reported issue 
other than economic performance, detailed quantitative information was 
provided by only 48% of companies. In general it was surprising to find that 
there were almost no analyses of the sensitivity of the company to climate 
change or what adaptation measures the company was adopting. 
 
Confusion Regarding Requirements 
During the process of liaison with companies in order to complete the study, 
there was evidently considerable confusion among company secretaries and 
CSR departments as to what a Business Review actually is, and what it 
should contain. At its worst, in some cases, this meant that it was not possible 
to identify the Business Review: eight Annual Reports appeared to have no 
identifiable Business Review section. Where Business Reviews were easily 
identifiable, there was a variety of practices concerning the status and use of 
external sources of non-financial information. For example, some companies 
referred to more detail on their websites, others referred generally to their 
CSR reports, while yet others made reference to an internet location at which 
further detail could be found. According to legal advice obtained by CORE, 
such general references should not be considered a part of a Business 
Review. 
 
Poor Quality of Information  
s.417 of The Companies Act (2006) describes the purpose of the Business 
Review to ‘help them assess how the directors have performed their duty [to 
promote the success of the company] under section 172’. Of significant value 


                                                                                                                                  
2 Details and documentation available here http://www.clientearth.org/testing-the-law-and-the-regulator  
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to making such an assessment would be information regarding the way the 
Business Review was prepared. Yet only a minority of companies included 
such information.  
 
Furthermore, information is often of extremely poor quality.  Most companies 
fail to provide consistent, robust and properly contextualised information about 
environmental and social risks.  For example, climate change reporting is 
rarely quantitative, often inaccurate and rarely evidenced with links to how this 
data has informed decision making by the company.  This is also true in other 
issue areas.  ClientEarth’s complaint to the Financial Reporting Review Panel 
(FRRP) regarding Rio Tinto’s 2008 annual report2, considers the failure to 
mention numerous specific material issues, including the decision of a major 
shareholder to divest on environmental grounds, and the reputational and 
litigation risks associated with specific mining projects.  
 
Usefulness of Data: The Need for Standardised Measures 
The absence of comparable, standardised measures means that companies 
who improve their environmental and social footprint are often unable to 
demonstrate their success relative to their industry peers (or their key 
stakeholders).  Readers are often sceptical of the information provided, 
particularly where reporting consists of vague language and grandiose 
statements.   
 
If companies report according to a common protocol, they will be able to 
demonstrate that they have used the appropriate process to assess risks, 
define boundaries, measure impact and report on them in a way that is 
meaningful, consistent and comparable.  It is also currently not possible for 
investors and consumers to make sensible comparisons between companies. 
In relation to climate change, this lack of transparency undermines efforts to 
assess and then reduce the contribution of UK companies to national or 
international carbon emissions targets. 
 
 
Question 2: What are the constraints on companies providing information 
on these issues? 
 
Comments 


 
Poor Enforcement Mechanisms 
Lack of enforcement of the existing Business Review requirements is a 
significant problem. The FRRP does not have sufficient resources to 
undertake this role and where FRRP may have taken action, what has 
actually occurred is unknown due to a lack of transparency in this process.  
The Government’s recently announced cut in funding to the FRC, if it results 
in the reduction of funding and capacity of the FRRP, is of significant concern.  
Lack of independence due to the narrow make-up of FRRP members, is also 
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of concern.  Furthermore, no legal cases have been launched by the FRRP, 
which would have provided clearer signals to companies about what is legally 
required and the need to comply with the law. This failure contributes to the 
perception that the Business Review is not a compliance issue. 
 
Lack of Investor Engagement 
Although many investors cite poor information as a barrier to greater 
engagement, it is also true that many investors do not demand better 
information or demonstrate  sufficient concern about environmental and social 
impacts and risks. Reform to the existing regime, although it should empower 
investor engagement, must also recognise the reality of investors’ disinterest 
in long term risks and much environmental and social information.  If such 
disinterest endures there is a danger of increasing unmanaged risks and 
unmitigated detrimental environmental, social and financial impacts. 
 
Assessment of Risk  
Subjective assessment of risk results in significant environmental and social 
risks being dismissed by companies as being too remote or unquantifiable to 
be reported, such as carbon risk assessments.  Guidance on what type of 
information and its format would make it easier for companies to assess what 
information should be included.  Research has been undertaken in this area 
to provide the basis for such guidance, including a study carried out by the 
International Integrated Reporting Committee.  
 
Proliferation of Reporting Standards 
The plethora of competing reporting standards in key areas such as 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions can make it harder to report consistently 
and appropriately. Government guidance providing a definitive mandatory 
reporting standard could help quell this growing and unhelpful proliferation. 
 
Lack of Clarity of the Law 
One clear constraint is also the lack of clarity in the existing regulatory regime, 
and a lack of guidance as to what constitutes adequate reporting under the 
Companies Act 2006. Guidance would help companies to focus on providing 
relevant and useful information. 
 
 
 
Question 3: Does the information provided reflect the issues discussed by 
the directors in board meetings?  
Comments 
No Comment. 


 
Question 4: Does the information help shareholders to press directors on 
key issues relating to strategy and risk, or inform their business decisions?  
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Comments 
 
Poor Quality of Information Preventing Meaningful Investor Engagement 
Company reporting must at a minimum provide readers with adequate 
information to identify key issues of concern in order that they can conduct 
their own analysis and press directors and management on their strategy and 
processes. This minimum standard is not currently being met.  For example, a 
report by WWF-UK highlights the challenges shareholders have had in 
obtaining key information regarding tar sand investment by BP and Shell3.   
 
In relation to climate change, research undertaken by Fairpensions indicates 
that 86% of fund managers surveyed stated that they would welcome 
mandatory reporting requirements for companies to report their GHG 
emissions and 78% would welcome stock exchange listing rules requiring 
companies to disclose risks related to climate change4.  More than half the 
respondents said that poor quality data on GHG emissions disclosed by firms 
and a lack of regulatory requirements for investee companies were barriers to 
incorporating climate risks and opportunities into their analysis and decision 
making. 
 
Lack of Verification of Information  
The lack of verification of information leads to considerable doubt as to the 
accuracy of the information provided.  Many investors will find environmental 
and social reporting of minimal use until it is subject to the same standard of 
verification as financial information.  Too often information glosses over critical 
environmental and social risks and problem areas, overemphasising 
achievements.  Providing such a biased assessment is of minimal use. 
  
 
Question 5: If a company does not provide sufficient or material 
information to you, do you challenge it? Is there anything which could help 
you to do so?   
 
Comments 
 
Legislation Requiring Full Disclosure of Environmental & Social Impacts 
and Risks 
Existing levels of disclosure on these impacts and risks is currently highly 
inadequate. Even when it is disclosed in some form, the information is often 
presented in a confusing, unhelpful, incomplete, or inconsistent way and is 
extremely difficult and time-consuming to find. New legislation which would 
require such disclosure to be full, clear and comparable is essential in 
promoting greater and more effective engagement, as well as ensuring that 


                                            
3  “Toxic Fuels: Toxic Investments – why we need greenhouse gas reporting”, WWF-UK and The Co-
operative Bank, Insurance and Investments, 2010. Available at www.wwf.org.uk 
4 See Fairpensions http://www.fairpensions.org.uk/policy  
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directors are made accountable for company’s social and environmental 
impacts.  
 


 
Role of the Regulator 
The regulator also has a key role to play as part of a system of incentives and 
disincentives for companies to provide information that is accurate and 
comprehensive.  Where companies are not meeting their legal obligations, the 
regulator has an important role to play.  A stronger, pro-active, more 
transparent and accountable regulator is an essential part of a more effective 
reporting framework. Not only would this ensure greater clarity in what 
constitutes adequate reporting, but it would also play a role in ratcheting up 
performance. 
 
Shareholders are reluctant to use instruments at their disposal to challenge 
companies that fail to be transparent about their social and environmental 
risks. This may be partially due to existing instruments not being geared 
towards this purpose. 
 
Use of Shareholder Resolutions 
Many members of CORE have promoted shareholder resolutions as a way to 
encourage company transparency and prioritisation of environmental and 
social issues by the company directors.  However the process of filing 
shareholder resolutions is extremely onerous, difficult to conduct and 
expensive.   
 
Separate vote on The Business Review at AGM 
A separate vote on environmental and social data provided by the company 
could help focus the minds of investors and directors alike on these issues.   
 
 
   
 
Question 6: What other sources of company information do you use and 
how valuable are they (e.g. information provided on the website, analysts’ 
briefings, and dialogue with the company, corporate social responsibility 
report)? 
 
Comments 
CORE’s members access a range of sources of information regarding 
companies’ activities including reports and accounts, websites, CSR reports 
and face-to-face meetings.   
 
While face-to-face dialogue can be useful, it is not a substitute for better 
reporting. The problem with relying unduly on face-to-face meetings is that 
companies can choose what information to provide to different categories of 
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investor and stakeholder. This may lead to the situation where companies 
communicate diverse and conflicting messages, depending on what is most 
expedient to communicate to a particular audience.  
 
Markets rely on consistency of information to operate effectively. Allowing 
companies to selectively disclose information to different stakeholders is not 
consistent with the need to make vital information readily available to all 
interested parties. Other sources of information are not a substitute for 
comprehensive and transparent information that is in the public domain. At a 
minimum, stakeholders need access to enough information to decide which 
issue areas give cause for concern and further analysis or engagement. Much 
existing reporting does not come close to meeting this bare minimum. 
 
It is important that information be disclosed in an effective, accessible, and 
coherent manner, which facilitates analysis of key issues, rather than 
confusing users and obscuring the links between inter-related factors.  CSR 
reports, although sometimes of value, are generally a poor source of up to 
date, reliable and relevant information. 
 
Question 7: Is there scope to reduce or simplify the requirements on which 
companies report?   
 
Comments 
 
Streamlining of Standards 
There are currently a number of national and international standards for the 
reporting and disclosure and these should be streamlined under one clear and 
comprehensive mandatory framework.  
 
Question 8: Is there scope to arrange the information in a more useful way?  
 
Comments 
 
Standardised Information 
Comparability is key to the usefulness of reporting for making business 
decisions. Consistency of presentation can be enhanced by providing 
standardised information and guidance, particularly through the use of Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) and explanation of their context and 
assumptions.  A recent report produced by Harvard University provides 
guidance as to how this could be carried out5.   
 


                                            
5 ‘From Transparency to Performance: Industry-based Sustainability Reporting in Key Issues’, Steve 
Lydenberg et al, Harvard University, June 2010 available here http://hausercenter.org/iri/wp-
content/uploads/2010/05/IRI_Transparency-to-Performance.pdf  
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Business Review 
 
Question 9: Looking at an Operating & Financial Review and the existing 
business review (see Annex D), do you see value in reinstating elements of 
an OFR and if so what would they be? In particular, would a statutory 
reporting standard help to improve the quality of reporting?   
 
Comments 
 
Many elements of the OFR would be useful to be reinstated. 
 
The Enhanced Audit  
This would be useful to address the lack of reliability of narrative reporting.  As 
well as content, the audit should concern itself with the process the company 
has undertaken to produce its business review.    
 
Future Risks & Developments 
There is a need for the business review to also address future developments 
and risks to the company. This should include information regarding existing 
court cases and regulatory action relating to the company, including for 
example complaints to National Contact Points of the OECD Guidelines for 
Multinational Enterprises.  Data should have an appropriate focus on strategic 
factors and risks, and on the way in which environmental and social factors 
affect them.  
 
Comparable Information 
A comparable framework for reporting of environmental and social issues 
outlining key matters is critical.  This should include ecosystems impacts, 
water use, climate change impacts, community relations, relations with trade 
unions, human rights impacts and any other relevant environmental and social 
information that may be necessary to report in order to have a fair 
understanding of performance, any reputational risks, risks to the company’s 
social licence to operate and any regulatory risks.  A statutory reporting 
standard should be reintroduced and, unlike the OFR, its wording must 
ensure comprehensive assessment of these issues is included.  In relation to 
GHG emissions, a clear, consistent, comparable definition of carbon 
disclosure is vital for progress towards UK climate change targets. A recent 
survey of 1,674 practitioners by the Institute of Environmental Management 
and Assessment finds that over 80% support GHG reporting becoming a 
mandatory requirement6.  
  
 


                                            
6 Institute of Environmental Management and Assessment (September 2010) GHG Management and 
Reporting available on subscription here  
http://www.iema.net/logindownload?file_url=http://www.iema.net/download/environmentalist/Issue105-
October-2010.pdf  
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Question 10: The business review provisions require quoted companies to 
report, to the extent necessary, on:  
 main trends and factors likely to affect the future development, 


performance and position of the company’s business 
 information on environmental matters 
 information on employees 
 information on social and community matters 
 persons with whom the company has essential contractual and other 


relationships   
i) Is this information useful to you?  How do you use it? 
ii) Could disclosure be improved? If so, how?  
iii) Are there key issues which are missing? If so, please explain? 


 
Comments 
Disclosure could be improved by replacing generic statements on 
environmental and social impacts with a balanced and reliable assessment of 
key impacts and risks, consistent with financial reporting. Human rights should 
be referred to explicitly and not merely subsumed within other categories. This 
would be consistent with the recommendations to the UN Human Rights 
Council of the UN Special Representative on Business and Human Rights, 
Professor Ruggie.   
 
Usefulness of Information 
Existing environmental and social disclosure is often inconsistent and 
incomplete, lengthy, repetitive and confusing. An improved and more precise 
regulatory framework can help ensure concise and consistent disclosure 
which will be of much more use.   
 
Clear Guidance Required 
Disclosure could be improved by providing clear guidance on both the 
principles and the process of preparing narrative reports. This should include 
sector-specific guidance on factors to be covered, on how decisions should be 
made regarding applicability of data, and how to increase the usefulness of 
the information disclosed. Non-financial KPIs would be of significant value in 
this area. 
 
Reliability 
It is essential that the information in company reports is fair, balanced and 
comprehensive – statutory requirements must be in place to that effect, and 
these requirements must reflect objective standards. 
 
Verification  
Verification of the information in company reports, and of the process followed 
to generate this information, is essential to ensuring its reliability.  The 
mandatory audit should be expanded, and steps must be taken to enhance its 
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comprehensiveness and scope. Much research undertaken in relation to 
social audits, illustrates the lack of reliability of these audits for verifying 
claims made by companies7. In order to be effective, there is a clear need for 
these audits be supplemented with interviews with key stakeholders including 
trade unions, local community representatives and relevant civil society 
actors. 
 
 
Enforcement 
Enforcement of the law is fundamental to the effectiveness of the law.  The 
regulator responsible for monitoring and ensuring compliance with the law 
must do exactly this.  This includes taking positive action to ensure legal 
requirements are met.    
 
 
 
Question 11: Would more guidance be helpful?  If so, what form should this 
take? For example, best practice example, sample Key Performance 
Indicators, etc?  
 
Comments 
A statutory reporting standard should be introduced, with guidance to 
accompany it.  Non- financial KPIs should be used to ensure that reporting is 
meaningful, useful and comparable.  This should cover key matters relating to 
ecosystems impacts, water use, community relations, trade union 
engagement and respect for labour rights, climate change emissions and 
human rights impacts. General principles should also be provided, 
demonstrating the need for forward-looking, strategic, balanced and relevant 
information.  It should also direct companies to an appropriate format to 
ensure comparability and conciseness.   
 
Although best practice examples are useful, given the deficiencies in current 
reporting practices, there is a paramount need to set out minimum standards 
of acceptability. More and clearer guidance has the potential to enable more 
concise and useful reporting according to clear principles and processes, thus 
helping preparers and users of reports – not increasing the burdens on them. 
 
 
Question 12: Should there be a shareholder’s advisory vote on the 
Business Review? 
 
Comments 
                                            
7 For example, research conducted by the Ethical Trading Initiative, and War on Want’s research on the 
garment industry, which refers to a number of high street retailers recognising the failure of their audits in 
capturing the reality of conditions in their supplier factories.  See “Fashion Victims: The True Cost of Cheap 
Clothes at Primark, Asda and Tesco” Report available at 
http://www.waronwant.org/campaigns/supermarkets/fashion-victims/inform/13593-fashion-victims  
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Yes. This would provide a useful additional vehicle for investors to scrutinise 
the companies reporting and behaviour, particularly if it was directed 
specifically at sustainability information contained in the report and accounts.  
The approach of Aviva plc, putting their CSR report to an advisory vote, is 
worth noting here. 
 
 
 
Question 13: Are there non-regulatory solutions to increasing quality 
through better guidance or publicising excellence in business reports? If 
so, what? 
 
Comments 
 
Non-regulatory initiatives such as awards and league tables can help drive up 
best practice.  However these initiatives inherently fail to address deficiencies 
in the current framework.  These deficiencies can only be addressed through  
verification and enforcement.  


 
Directors’ Remuneration Report 
 
Question 14: Do the current disclosure requirements provide clear and 
usable information about:  


 the total remuneration paid to directors, and how this is made up; 
 the performance criteria for payments to directors, and how 


these relate to the company’s strategic objectives; 
 company performance against these criteria, so that there is a 


demonstrable link between pay and performance.; 
 the process by which directors’ remuneration is decided? 


 
 
Comments 
Directors pay or remuneration should be linked to how they manage and 
reduce the negative social and environmental impacts of their company’s 
policies and operations, so as to encourage them to improve their social and 
environmental performance. The Association of British Insurers has published 
Responsible Investment Guidelines8 which include recommendations on the 
link between executive pay and environmental, social and governance issues. 
Integration of environmental, social and corporate governance issues into 


                                            
8 Available at 
http://www.abi.org.uk/Media/Releases/2007/02/ABI_publishes_Responsible_Investment_Disclosure_Guideli
nes.aspx  
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remuneration should be required and encouraged, as the ABI Guidelines on 
Responsible Investment Disclosure recommend9. 
  
 
Costs 
  
Question 15:  
If you can provide any information on costs associated either with the 
existing narrative reporting requirements eg preparing your business 
review or your views on potential costs and benefits in relation to any of 
the ideas in this consultation, please give details    
 
 
Comments 
A comprehensive assessment of costs associated with the introduction of 
mandatory environmental and social reporting, has actually been conducted 
by The Commerce and Companies Agency of the Danish Government10.  This 
report evaluates the costs of the new Danish legal requirement to report on 
environmental and social issues, finding that businesses’ recurring costs 
depend on the type of reporting chosen, but vary between EUR 871 and 
4,383 per business.   
 
It is important to also note, improvements to the reporting framework need not 
impose additional costs on business. In fact, they have been shown in some 
studies to improve financial efficiency.  This is because much of the 
information companies disclose about their activities is for public relations 
purposes, including CSR and Sustainability reporting. An improved reporting 
framework may provide less incentive for companies to produce material that 
embellishes their social and environmental activities and impacts. This would 
enable companies to rationalise their processes and to reduce the overall cost 
of social and environmental reporting. 
 
 
 
 
 


                                                                                                                                  
9 Available at http://www.ivis.co.uk/Guidelines.aspx  
10 The Danish Commerce and Companies Agency (2010) Corporate Social Responsibility and Reporting in 
Denmark, Impact of the legal requirement for reporting on CSR in the Danish Financial Statements Act 
available at http://www.csrgov.dk/graphics/publikationer/CSR/CSR_and_Reporting_in_Denmark.pdf  








Jane Leavens  
Corporate Law & Governance Directorate  
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills  
1 Victoria Street  
London  
 
SW1H 0ET  
 
 
            22 October 2010 
 
 
Re: USS Consultation response: the Future of Narrative Reporting  
 
 
Dear Ms Leavens  
 
 
I am writing to you on behalf of the Universities Superannuation Scheme, one of the UK's largest 
private-sector pension funds, with assets of approximately £30 billion.  USS welcomes the 
opportunity to respond to your consultation on the Future of Narrative Reporting.   
 
As an institution that takes seriously its responsibility to be an active and long term investor, USS is 
of the view that disclosure of company strategies, risks and opportunities is essential if shareholders 
are to be able to make informed decisions as to the likely long term performance of our investments.  
USS was supportive of and involved in the development of the Operating and Financial Review 
(OFR), and the Fund was therefore disappointed when the original plans for the OFR were withdrawn 
in 2005.   
 
USS was of the view that the OFR was an opportunity for companies to provide investors with details 
of long-term strategies and how they would achieve them.  The forward looking aspects of the 
proposed OFR were particularly welcomed, as they would have provided investors with insight into 
how management viewed complex issues facing companies and how they would be addressed.  The 
Fund also saw benefit in the proposed improved coverage of governance, social and environmental 
issues in the OFR for the same reasons.  These are areas in which companies need to improve their 
reporting on key risks and opportunities to shareholders.  
 
With respect to the current Consultation, USS believes that whilst the current  Enhanced Business 
Review has had some success in encouraging better forward looking information from the companies 
in which we invest, there is scope for significant improvement in many cases.  As a result, we are 
supportive of the idea of mandatory disclosure in this area and the introduction of an OFR–like 
requirement for UK companies.  Whilst some express concerns of “boiler plate” reporting, USS is of 
the view that raising the standard of reporting for all companies is more important than a hypothetical 
lowering of standards in the companies that are already leading the way in their disclosures.   
 
To support this enhanced disclosure, the government and regulators should encourage the Accounting 
Standards Board to revisit its original guidance for the OFR, Reporting Standard 1.  Significant 
resources from many quarters (companies, investors, regulators and other stakeholders) went into the 
development of this document, and USS is of the view that, with some updating, it could still provide 
a useful guide for corporate narrative reporting.   
 
USS is not supportive of the idea of a separate vote on the narrative report (either in the form of an 
OFR or the current Business Review).   As shareholders, we already have the ability to vote against a 
company’s report and accounts if we decide that the information contained therein is not of an 
appropriate standard or does not provide us with the information we require. Having an additional 







vote on this aspect of disclosure is therefore an unnecessary distraction and will require resources that 
would be better spent in other areas of active ownership and stewardship. 
 
With respect to Question 14 on the Director’s Remuneration Report, we would welcome greater 
disclosure from companies regarding the selection of performance criteria and targets for executive 
remuneration.  We would welcome better information on the rationale behind  the selected criteria 
relating to strategic objectives, the company’s stated KPIs, and performance targets.   We would also 
welcome greater transparency regarding the calculations and assumptions underlying the stated targets 
and behind the achievement of targets for vested and short term performance awards.  We believe the 
remuneration report should be fully integrated within the Annual Report and Accounts and references 
to data within the financial statements should be included where appropriate. 
 
Finally, it is worth noting that the annual reporting and disclosure cycle, and the voting associated 
with AGMs, is only one area where shareholders should be reviewing company communications and 
engaging with corporate management.  It is the fund’s view that asset owners and managers should 
behave as active owners, and not just at the time of the AGM.  In this context, USS has been 
supportive of the development of the FRC’s Stewardship Code and has produced a statement in 
support of the Code1.   
 
USS is happy to discuss any of the issues raised here further, and we look forward to seeing the 
results of this consultation in the form of improved corporate disclosure. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 


 
 
 
 
 
David Russell 
Co Head of Responsible Investment  
 
Universities Superannuation Scheme  
 


                                                            
1 http://www.uss.co.uk/news/Pages/USSandthenewUKStewardshipCode.aspx  
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THE FUTURE OF NARRATIVE REPORTING – A CONSULTATION 
 
 


Response by F&C Investments 
 
F&C Investments (F&C) is a London-based global asset management firm with institutional and 
retail clients collectively representing over £149 billion of assets1.  We manage funds on behalf 
of insurance companies, institutional investors, pension funds and private individuals. Through 
our Responsible Engagement Overlay service (reo®) we have also been mandated to engage 
and/or vote on behalf of a number of insurers, pension funds and banks whose money is 
managed by other parties. 
 
F&C supports moves to enhance narrative reporting as a mechanism for improving the quality 
of understanding and depth of dialogues between companies and their shareholders on the 
most important areas affecting corporate performance. We therefore welcome the opportunity 
to comment on the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills’ consultation on the Future 
of Narrative Reporting.  
 
Overview 
 
F&C strongly supports constructive, high-quality engagement between institutional investors 
and companies and devotes substantial resource to company engagement. We use the 
company narrative report to gain an understanding of the company’s business, its market 
position, strategy, performance, prospects, and how the board and management deal with risks 
that are both immediate and specific to these, as well as those that are of a broader, more 
systemic nature. We therefore use narrative reporting to inform our engagement with 
companies, including on environmental, social and governance issues.   
 
F&C supported the introduction of the Operating and Financial Review (OFR) reporting 
requirements until it was repealed. We believe that OFR requirements would have added 
materially to the quality of disclosure available to shareholders, particularly as they applied to 


                                                      
1 F&C Management Limited is a subsidiary of F&C Asset Management plc. F&C Asset Management plc is the listed 
holding company of the F&C Group, a global asset management group based in London, United Kingdom, with offices 
in Amsterdam, Boston, Dublin, Edinburgh, Frankfurt, Geneva, Lisbon and Paris. As of 30 June 2010, F&C directly 
managed £95 billion in assets. In addition, F&C has been mandated to vote and/or engage in dialogue on behalf of a 
further 20 investment institutions whose assets, including equities and corporate bonds, total £54 billion. 
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all UK-based quoted companies. While recognising that company reporting in the UK is often 
superior to that in other markets and that substantial improvements have been made in the past 
few years, we nevertheless would be supportive of the reinstatement of certain elements of the 
OFR and its original purpose to assist shareholders to assess the strategies adopted by the 
company and the potential for those strategies to succeed. 
 
We agree that when producing narrative reports companies should have regard to the interests 
and information needs of both shareholders and other stakeholders in the company. In 
particular we note that the fiduciary duty of company directors as described in the Companies 
Act calls for appropriate regard for environmental and social factors that can have a material 
impact on a company’s long-term performance. However, we also understand companies’ 
concerns over an increasing reporting burden. We believe that effective reporting means 
making efficient use of various information delivery mechanisms (e.g. an annual report and 
accounts, other regular disclosures, such as a separate sustainability report, and the 
company’s website) where each type is targeted to the specific needs of each audience.  
 
In our view, the key to high-quality business reporting is not volume, but the materiality of the 
issues that are included in the Business Review (BR) or OFR. Companies should distil strategic 
goals and objectives, the drivers of and main challenges to performance, and key risks and 
opportunities (current and potential) for inclusion in the BR/OFR, thus making it more focused 
and tailored to the needs of shareholders. One area of particular challenge, but of increasingly 
recognised value to investors in the wake of the global financial crisis, is an assessment of the 
broader risks and value drivers that could affect the integrity of the business in particular, 
and/or the industry sector in which it operates more broadly.  A discussion of secular trends in 
regulation, customer demand and public opinion and how this is expected to drive business 
performance should therefore be an important component of the BR/OFR. Additional 
information that the company considers important to communicate to stakeholders can be 
included under other sections of the annual report or provided in a separate report or on the 
company’s website. 
 
F&C is supportive of an advisory shareholder vote on the business review, provided the 
business review reporting requirements are enhanced to an OFR-equivalent standard and are 
equally applied to all UK-based quoted companies. We recognise that for such votes to deliver 
desired benefits, it will take time for companies to improve their reporting standards and for 
investors and their advisors to develop an effective framework for assessing the quality of 
business reviews. We would, therefore, recommend that the Department for Business, 
Innovation and Skills (BIS) issue a strong recommendation for companies voluntarily to put 
their BRs/OFRs to an advisory vote, and would suggest that BIS monitor progress in reporting 
standards over the next two reporting cycles, and reserve the right to compel the introduction of 
an advisory vote if, after such a transition period, insufficient improvements have been 
recorded. 
 
Our detailed responses to the questions included in the consultation are provided below.  
 
Consultation questions 
 
1. Are company directors providing useful and relevant information on the company’s:  


i. forward-looking strategy and  
ii. principal risks and uncertainties? 


 
UK company reporting has improved over the last few years, but the quality of business reviews 
produced by companies varies significantly. In our experience, the improvements are more 
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pronounced in annual disclosures of larger and medium-sized companies (especially those 
whose activities are subject to a higher level of shareholder and stakeholder scrutiny) and less 
so in the disclosures of smaller issuers. While business reviews produced by companies are 
getting more informative there are three main areas where we believe improvements are 
needed: 
 
1. Key gaps: While business reviews tend to provide a good description of the business and 


financial performance in the year under review, the following tend still to be inadequately 
covered: 
 


 Discussion of the market position of the business;  
 The main factors and trends affecting or likely to affect it;  
 The forward-looking strategy;  
 Performance against material non-financial indicators; and  
 Future prospects. 


 
We would especially like to emphasise the need for forward-looking reporting to avoid 
being “boiler-plate” if it is genuinely to deliver meaningful improvements. As such, it is vital 
for concerns regarding directors’ personal liability be resolved satisfactorily through a safe 
harbour provision or treatment of equivalent effect. 


 
2. Principal risks and uncertainties: While most annual reports contain some description of the 


principal risks and uncertainties facing the company, many companies fail to provide 
meaningful disclosure on measures taken to assess, monitor and mitigate identified risks.  


 
Furthermore, reporting tends to focus on existing risks, and there is little discussion of 
potential risks/opportunities that may arise from trends and developments in the macro 
environment, how they can affect the company’s strategies and performance, or how well 
positioned the company is to deal with such risks. 


 
3. Materiality: The issue of materiality is fundamental to the quality BR/OFR reporting. 


Currently, the tendency is to “clutter” BRs with large amounts of information and boiler-plate 
statements that add to the volume but not the value of narrative reports to shareholders.  


 
The issues covered in BRs/OFRs should be relevant and material to the company’s 
performance; it should be clear how they are integrated into corporate strategy. 
Furthermore, the explanation of how the board defines what is material for the company 
and what the company’s forward-looking time horizon is would add clarity to company 
reports. 


 
2. What are the constraints on companies providing information on these issues?  
 
N/A 
 
3. Does the information provided reflect the issues discussed by the directors in board 


meetings?  
 
We are unable to judge from current company disclosures whether the information provided 
reflects the issues discussed by the directors in board meetings. We would, however, welcome 
disclosures that give shareholders some insight into board discussions. 
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4  Does the information help shareholders to press directors on key issues relating to 
strategy and risk, or inform their business decisions?  


 
Quality narrative reporting does help shareholders to understand how directors are managing 
key issues relating to strategy and risk. It also helps shareholders to raise questions if they 
believe that material current/potential risks or opportunities are being overlooked by the board. 
Where the quality of reporting is poor, shareholder engagement would start from a lower level 
of seeking additional information or clarification from the company, thus making engagements 
more extended. We do believe that higher quality reporting would lead to more efficient 
engagement that focuses on questions of substance and strategic content rather than 
communication and transparency, which would be beneficial for both companies and 
shareholders. 
 
5 If a company does not provide sufficient or material information to you, do you 
 challenge it? Is there anything which could help you to do so?  
 
Where information provided by the company is inadequate, F&C would normally request 
additional information and engage the company to encourage it to improve future disclosure.  
 
It would be helpful if BR/OFR reporting requirements were extended to equally cover all UK-
based quoted companies. Provided the principle of relevance and materiality is applied by 
companies when producing a BR/OFR, we do not believe that this would create significant 
additional reporting requirements. 
 
6 What other sources of company information do you use and how valuable are they 


(e.g. information provided on the website, analysts’ briefings, dialogue with the 
company, corporate social responsibility report)?  


 
We use all available sources of company information, including the website, analysts’ briefings, 
corporate social responsibility report and dialogue with the company. Different sources of 
company information are useful for different purposes. The value of a quality BR/OFR is in its 
strategic focus, the materiality of issues covered and its forward-looking perspective. Where 
shareholders or other company stakeholders need information on a specific aspect of a 
company’s activities, they should be able to find additional disclosure under other sections of 
the annual report (e.g. more detailed reporting on governance, risk, environmental and social 
issues) in a separate report (e.g. stand-alone CSR report), or approach the company for 
additional disclosure. The company’s website would be an appropriate place for all the standing 
information to avoid year-on-year repetitions in the annual report. 
 
7 Is there scope to reduce or simplify the requirements on which companies report?  
 
We do not think there is much scope to reduce or simplify current requirements for company’s 
reporting. Moreover, the reinstatement of certain elements of the OFR would mean further 
enhancement of reporting requirements. However, we do believe that reporting should be 
proportionate to the size and complexity of the business and that the application of the principle 
of relevance and materiality would help to avoid an increase in the reporting burden for 
companies.  We would encourage companies to make more active and innovative use of web-
based reporting, which enables communication that is more tailored to individual user needs 
and can result in less cumbersome and costly reporting. 
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8 Is there scope to arrange the information in a more useful way?  
 
Companies could and should make their reports shorter, more meaningful and user-friendly by 
removing boiler-plate statements and using information delivery methods other than the 
BR/OFR to provide additional disclosure that may be of interest to a broader spectrum of 
company stakeholders. We do believe, however, that an appropriate cross-referencing in the 
BR/OFR is essential and would not only help shareholders and other stakeholders find 
additional information, but also provide assurance that the issues in question have been 
considered by the board and the management as a part of the company’s strategic review.  
 
9 Looking at an Operating & Financial Review and the existing business review (see 


Annex D), do you see value in reinstating elements of an OFR and if so what would 
they be? In particular, would a statutory reporting standard help to improve the quality 
of reporting?  


 
F&C supported the original OFR requirements and we continue to see value in certain 
elements of the OFR that were repealed. We do not believe, however, that a statutory reporting 
standard would help to improve the quality of reporting.  
 
The specific areas where, in our opinion, the OFR reporting requirements would have added 
materially to the quality of disclosure available to shareholders include: 
 
 Disclosure of the main trends and factors underlying the development, performance and 


position of the business of the company during the financial year along with the main 
trends and factors that are likely to affect the company's future development, performance 
and position. These disclosures should be prepared so as to assist shareholders to 
assess the strategies adopted by the company and the potential for those strategies to 
succeed.  


 
Where it is not happening already, this requirement should encourage boards to look at a 
broader range of trends and factors that may present risks and business opportunities for 
the company, as well as encourage shareholders and other stakeholders to engage the 
company where they believe certain significant risks/ opportunities may have escaped the 
board’s attention. 
 


 A statement of the business, objectives and strategies of the company; a description of the 
resources available to the company; and a description of the capital structure, the treasury 
policies and objectives and the liquidity of the company; 


 
 Analysis of the extent to which the company’s policies on environmental, employee and 


social issues have been successfully implemented. The disclosure of key performance 
indicators (KPIs) relating to these matters should be accompanied by disclosure of 
performance against these KPIs as well as targets for the following year and beyond.  


 
Furthermore, we believe that OFR requirements should apply to all UK-based quoted 
companies consistent with the size and complexity of the business. Many small and medium-
sized companies operate in high-impact sectors or emerging markets, which can expose them 
to significant non-financial risks. Investment in such companies carries higher risk and 
shareholders would benefit significantly from better disclosure. On the other hand, smaller 
companies should benefit from high-quality shareholder engagement prompted by improved 
disclosures. We therefore do not believe that smaller companies should be exempt from some 
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or all of BR/OFR reporting requirements, but rather should focus on issues that are material to 
their business to avoid creating a significant additional reporting burden. 
 
We do not think that a statutory reporting standard would help to improve the quality of 
reporting for the following reasons: 
 
1. A reporting standard, by definition, is bound to be overly rigid, and runs the risk of being 


overly weak in some instances and overly prescriptive in others. This would deny 
companies the flexibility to focus on issues that are considered material for their business 
and, consequently, would lead to more compliance-based boiler-plate reporting, which 
would not add value to shareholders or other stakeholders. 


 
2. It would create onerous, and potentially unnecessary, reporting requirements for larger 


and smaller companies alike. 
 
3. The appeal of refraining from a reporting standard is that it allows best practice to flourish 


by encouraging companies to tailor their reporting to the specific circumstances that affect 
their business, and to follow a course of continuous improvement rather than one of 
compliance. 


 
10  The business review provisions require quoted companies to report, to the extent 


necessary, on:  
 main trends and factors likely to affect the future development, performance and 


position of the company’s business  
 information on environmental matters  
 information on employees  
 information on social and community matters  
 persons with whom the company has essential contractual and other relationships  
Is this information useful to you? How do you use it?  
Could disclosure be improved? If so, how?  
Are there key issues which are missing? If so, please explain?  


 
Unfortunately, very few companies report on the main trends and factors likely to affect the 
future development, performance and position of the company’s business. We believe that all 
companies should provide this information as a part of the discussion of the company’s 
business, objectives and strategies to enable shareholders to assess the potential for those 
strategies to succeed. 
 
The information on environmental matters (including both the impact of the company on the 
environment and of environmental factors on the business), on employees, and on social and 
community issues can be a very important and useful part of the BR/OFR, but only to the extent 
that these issues are material to the company’s business, performance and implementation of 
its strategies, as considered in both the near and long term. At the moment, many companies 
produce long backward-looking reports about their corporate social responsibility (CSR) 
activities instead of providing forward-looking strategic information about key environmental 
and social issues affecting their business. To be clear, many shareholders and stakeholders, 
including ourselves, would like to see more detailed disclosures in addition to key information 
under the BR/OFR; however, much of this information belongs more logically in other more 
detailed reports, provided they are appropriately cross-referenced in the BR/OFR. 
 
F&C expects companies to report KPIs for all material financial and non-financial matters, 
including disclosure of actual performance against these KPIs for the year under review as well 
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as targets set for the following year and beyond. Some UK companies already report very well 
on this, but unfortunately they are small in number.  
 
Disclosure on business ethics, including policies, systems and procedures employed to ensure 
ethical corporate behaviour is a key issue that is often missing from reports of UK companies. 
The risk arising from companies’ failure to implement adequate and effective anti-corruption 
measures has increased significantly over the past few years and is likely to become even 
greater following the enactment of The UK Bribery Act. This makes reporting on the steps taken 
by the board and management to assess corruption risk and establish adequate processes and 
procedures for compliance with anti-corruption legislation an essential element of the business 
review reporting. 
 
11 Would more guidance be helpful? If so, what form should this take? For example: best 


practice example, sample Key Performance Indicators, etc?  
 
While some guidance is always helpful for both companies and investors alike, we do not 
believe there is a need for the government to create additional reporting guidance. Thus, some 
companies are already successfully using the ASB Reporting Statement as guidance; others 
may wish to apply the IFRS’ “Management commentary” guidance. Moreover, there are 
surveys and examples of best reporting practices conducted and published by different 
organisations.  
 
In our view, it is important to allow companies flexibility to report in a manner that they consider 
appropriate for the size and complexity of their business and consistent with statutory reporting 
requirements as well as the needs and expectations of their shareholders and other 
stakeholders. We are concerned that any actual or perceived need to follow a particular 
reporting guidance would lead to a tick-box approach, thus defeating the purpose of the 
BR/OFR and its value for shareholders. We believe that shareholder and stakeholder 
engagement with companies is the best way of ensuring continuous improvement of 
companies’ reporting practices. 
 
12  Should there be a shareholder’s advisory vote on the Business Review?  
 
F&C is supportive of an advisory shareholder vote on the business review, provided the 
business review reporting requirements are enhanced to an OFR-equivalent standard, and the 
issue of selectivity is resolved as discussed below.  
 
We believe an advisory shareholder vote on the business review could have many positive 
consequences, including:  
 
 More rapid improvement in reporting standards through proactive mapping of 


shareholders’ needs and expectations by companies;  
 Empowerment of smaller investors, who are unlikely to engage companies directly;  
 Elevation of the issues covered under the BR/OFR to the board level; and, most 


importantly, 
 Greater consideration by the board and management of broader systemic, social, 


environmental and governance risk factors that have the potential to drive business 
performance, and a clearer articulation of how these are integrated into business strategy.   


 
At the same time, we can see potential difficulties related to such a vote, including: 
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 Potential ambiguity on the meaning of the vote (e.g. non-support could indicate poor 
reporting, disagreement with the board’s strategy or its failure to incorporate sustainability, 
etc.); 


 Time and resource constraints of many investors and proxy voting service providers, 
which may lead to another tick-box exercise, thus defeating the purpose of the vote; 


 Selectivity, insofar as current business review reporting requirements do not equally apply 
to all UK-based quoted companies. We see this as flawed insofar as many smaller 
companies present significant risks that merit the same or greater degree of attention, 
disclosure and shareholder accountability as that under consideration for larger 
companies. 


 
In our view, the enhancement of the current reporting requirements and the application of these 
enhancements to all UK-based quoted companies (as we suggest in our response under 
question 9) are critical to the successful implementation of the shareholder advisory vote on the 
business review.  
 
We also recognise that for such votes to be carried out thoughtfully and consistently, and 
thereby deliver the above benefits, it will take time for investors and their advisors to develop 
an effective framework for assessing the quality of business reviews.  
 
We would therefore recommend that BIS issue a strong recommendation for companies 
voluntarily to put their BRs/OFRs to an advisory vote. This would allow companies that already 
produce an OFR-equivalent business review to get recognition for their superior reporting, and 
also serve as a catalyst for other companies to improve their reporting standards and engage in 
proactive dialogue with their shareholders and other stakeholders. We would also suggest that 
BIS monitor progress in reporting standards over the next two reporting cycles, and reserve the 
right to compel the introduction of an advisory vote if, after such a transition period, insufficient 
improvements have been recorded. 
 
13 Are there non-regulatory solutions to increasing quality through better guidance or 


publicising excellence in business reports? If so, what?  
 
One non-regulatory solution would be to incorporate a recommendation for companies to 
provide comprehensive, forward-looking business reporting, consistent with the original OFR 
requirements, into the UK Corporate Governance Code. The “comply or explain” philosophy of 
the Code would allow companies flexibility to tailor their reporting to the needs of their 
shareholders and other stakeholders. Furthermore, the inclusion of such best practice 
recommendation into the Code would encourage UK-listed companies domiciled overseas to 
adopt this reporting framework on a “comply or explain” basis. 
 
The introduction of the UK Stewardship Code should also be helpful in promoting better 
narrative reporting. The increase in shareholder engagement that is expected from the Code 
should result in a better understanding by companies of the information needs and 
expectations of their shareholders, thus leading to better reporting. 
 
Finally, it would be helpful if the Financial Reporting Review Panel played a stronger role in 
monitoring company reporting and its compliance with the statutory reporting requirements. 
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14  Do the current disclosure requirements provide clear and usable information about:  
 the total remuneration paid to directors, and how this is made up;  
 the performance criteria for payments to directors, and how these relate to the 


company’s strategic objectives; 
 company performance against these criteria, so that there is a demonstrable link 


between pay and performance; 
 the process by which directors’ remuneration is decided?  
If not, please explain including any views on how this might be improved  


 
The majority of UK companies produce adequate disclosure of the total remuneration paid to 
directors and how it is made up. In addition, some companies have started to disclose the 
expected value of share-based incentives granted in the year under review and include it within 
total remuneration. This is a helpful disclosure, as it gives investors a better idea of how much 
executives can expect to receive for meeting performance targets at each of several levels of 
difficulty.  
 
Performance criteria linked to awards of variable remuneration to executive directors are 
typically disclosed for long-term incentive plans. The disclosure is less common in relation to 
annual incentive plans as companies cite commercial sensitivity of such information. The link 
between performance criteria and the company’s strategic objectives is generally not clear from 
remuneration reports, with only a handful of issuers attempting to explain such a link. 
Furthermore, very few UK companies currently disclose actual performance achieved against 
performance targets for either long-term or annual incentive schemes, although we note that 
the number of companies providing this information is gradually increasing.  
 
Remuneration reports usually contain a boiler-plate statement on the work of the board’s 
remuneration committee; however, this does not cover the entire process, which typically 
involves significant input from the company’s internal departments, the remuneration 
consultant(s) and executive directors before a final decision is made by the remuneration 
committee.   
 
There has been a gradual improvement in the quality of remuneration reports produced by 
companies. The best way of improving remuneration reports, in our view, would be through 
shareholder engagement and inclusion of the recommendation on best practice remuneration 
reporting in the UK Corporate Governance Code. 
 


 


For any further comments and questions please contact: 
 
George Dallas        
Director, Corporate Governance 
 
Eugenia Unanyants-Jackson 
Senior Analyst, Governance & Sustainable Investment 
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Value of narrative reporting  
 
Question 1: Are company directors providing useful and relevant 
information on the company’s: 


i) forward-looking strategy and  
ii) principal risks and opportunities? 


 
Comments 
 
At present, few companies are presenting useful and relevant information in 
their narrative reports. There are several problems with the information 
currently being presented. 
 
Inclusion of ‘bad news’ is very rare 
 
Business reviews suffer from the same problem that many CSR reports suffer 
from, in that it is very rare for them to include information that illustrates a poor 
performance (including ESG performance, not simply financial performance) 
or to highlight an area where the company is facing difficulties. Failure to 
cover areas where the company has problems as well as those where the 
company is doing well means that such reports are by definition failing to 
capture a proper discussion of risks and opportunities, which clearly requires 
the directors to look at areas where the company’s strategy is vulnerable as 
well as areas of strength. There are too many examples of narrative reports 
simply ignoring areas where the company is facing difficulties. This approach 
clearly devalues narrative reports to the point of them being almost useless. 
 
Forward-looking information is also rare 
 
Few companies really try to look ahead in their narrative reports. While this is 
evidently harder to do than retrospective reporting, the requirements of 
section 417 of the Companies Act 2006 clearly require it, and at the time 
when the Act was introduced there was widespread support for the concept of 
forward-looking reporting. In particular, investors have made it clear that 
forward-looking reporting is of value to them in informing their assessment of 
and decisions relating to companies. While it was recognised when the 
Companies Act was introduced that best practice in this area would take time 
to develop, to date progress has been slow and patchy and, for too many 
companies, non-existent. 
 
Lack of consistency and comparability 
 
For all users of reports, including investors and company stakeholders, it is 
invaluable to be able to compare information both over time for the same 
company and between companies. However, the wide variations in how 







companies report make comparability between them extremely difficult. Even 
comparing the same company over time is in many instances difficult to do. 
This greatly reduces the utility of narrative reports. 
 
It could have been expected that after the Companies Act narrative reporting 
requirements were introduced, companies would experiment and develop new 
models of reporting to fulfil the requirements. Multiple good and best practice 
developments could have provided a justification for initially not requiring 
standardisation in narrative reports, and indeed could have informed guidance 
at a later date. However, with a few exceptions, this has not occurred, and the 
general standard of narrative reports is low. 
 
Poor quality information 
 
The points above all contribute to the poor quality of information that comprise 
the majority of narrative reports.  
 
The TUC has a particular interest in employment-related information, which 
the Companies Act clearly stipulates should be included in narrative reports. 
The information relating to employment suffers from all the points outlined 
above, namely, information about negative employment-related issues is 
frequently excluded from reports, what is included is generally patchy and 
also varies considerably across different companies, there is little discussion 
of the strategic importance of employment relationships, nor of the risks and 
opportunities related to employment issues. These weaknesses substantially 
reduce the value of the information included. 
 
Link to directors’ duties 
 
One way in which section 417 of the Companies Act was an improvement on 
the previous OFR proposals was the link made between the business review 
and the codified directors’ duties set out in section 172 (indeed, this was an 
amendment that the TUC lobbied for). Section 417(2) states that the purpose 
of the Business Review is to help members of the company assess how 
directors have performed under their duty to promote the success of the 
company. This link to directors’ duties has not had the desired effect of 
encouraging directors to set out how, in promoting the success of the 
company, they have had regard to the long-term impact of their decisions, the 
interests of their employees, supplier and customer relationships, community, 
environmental and reputational impacts (as per s172). This is a great pity, as 
approaching narrative reports in this way would be helpful in encouraging 
directors to reflect on how they have implemented their duties under s172, 
which would in turn help to improve performance in this area. 
 
 
 







Question 2: What are the constraints on companies providing information 
on these issues? 
 
Comments 
In our experience, constraints on companies providing good quality business 
reviews including forward-looking information and information on risks and 
opportunities include the following. 
 


 Lack of demand from investors 
While some investors clearly value the information provided in 
business reviews, too many fail to recognise the links between the 
information provided (or that should be provided) and shareholder 
interests. This is because too many investors do not recognise the link 
between many of the areas that should be included in business 
reviews, such as employees and employment relationships, and the 
ability of a company to generate long-term and sustainable returns. 
 


 Lack of clarity on how and what to report 
Many companies are clearly unsure about how to go about narrative 
reporting and would benefit from greater guidance. 
 


 Lack of best practice examples  
There is a danger that the generally poor standard of reporting in 
business reviews is somewhat self-reinforcing, as companies perceive 
the low standards of other companies’ business reviews as legitimising 
poor quality reporting. 
 


 Lack of understanding at director level of what is required and 
how this could benefit their company 
The TUC believes that too few directors really understand how 
improved management, monitoring, measuring and reporting of the 
areas that are the subject both of s172 and s417 would contribute to 
the long-term success of their company.  One of the aims of sections 
172 and 417 taken together, as illustrated by Parliamentary debate at 
the time, was to encourage directors to pursue what could be the ‘high-
road’ rather than the ‘low-road’ to company success. Looking just at 
employment as an example of one of the issues to which directors are 
required to have regard in s172 and to report on in s417, this means 
encouraging directors to pursue employment relationships based on 
mutual respect and trust, decent wages, investment in training and do 
on, as opposed to a strategy based on poverty wages, a hire and fire 
culture and little or no investment in training. The TUC has seen no 
evidence that the Companies Act 2006 has had the impact on 
behaviour and strategy that was one of the intentions behind the legal 
changes. 


 







 
Question 3: Does the information provided reflect the issues discussed by 
the directors in board meetings?  
 
Comments 
 
This difficult for the TUC to comment on. However, our view is that it is likely 
to reflect a lack of substantive discussion at board meetings on the risks and 
opportunities attached to areas covered in narrative reports, eg, employment 
issues and environmental impacts. This relates to the comments made under 
the last bullet in response to question 2 above. 
 


 
Question 4: Does the information help shareholders to press directors on 
key issues relating to strategy and risk, or inform their business decisions?  
 
Comments 
 
In the TUC’s view, the information included in narrative reports is generally, 
with some exceptions, of insufficient quality to help shareholders in their 
engagement with and decisions about companies. 


  
 
Question 5: If a company does not provide sufficient or material 
information to you, do you challenge it? Is there anything which could help 
you to do so?   
 
Comments 
 
The TUC has at times raised with companies questions about employment-
related information included in their reports. 
 
One thing that would help us to do this is if it were explicitly acknowledged 
that company reporting is aimed at a wider group of users than just 
shareholders. In addition, if companies were encouraged to consult their 
workforce about the information included about employees in their reports, 
this would firstly improve the quality of employment-related information 
included in reports and secondly make it easier for us to challenge information 
that is deficient or misleading. 
 
It would also make a big difference if shareholders challenged the quality of 
information in business reviews. Discussion with investors during the 







consultation period showed widespread agreement among investors that the 
quality of information included in business reviews was generally poor. There 
are some investors that do systematically raise concerns about the quality of 
non-financial reporting with companies. For example, Aviva Investors has a 
policy of voting against the report and accounts of a company that does not 
disclose sufficient corporate responsibility information. Another example is 
PIRC, the Pensions Investment Research Council, which will advise clients to 
vote against the report and accounts of companies that do not disclose 
sufficient employment and environmental information in their reports. 
However, the TUC’s strong impression is that these examples are the 
exception rather than the rule, and that many investors have not raised 
concerns with companies about the quality of the directors’ narrative reports. 
If companies believe that their reports are aimed at shareholders and believe 
that their shareholders are content with their quality of reporting, this limits the 
impact of other users and commentators who raise concerns either about the 
quality of narrative reports in general or about particular areas of weakness. 
 
Perhaps most important of all is issue of enforcement. There is a lack of 
clarity about what, if any, the existing enforcement regime is and how 
effectively it operates. It is not clear whether the Financial Reporting Review 
Panel has taken enforcement action on business reviews to date; however, 
what is clear is that the FRRP does not have the resources to undertake 
enforcement of business reviews adequately. This needs to be addressed. 
 
   
 
Question 6: What other sources of company information do you use and 
how valuable are they (e.g. information provided on the website, analysts’ 
briefings, dialogue with the company, corporate social responsibility 
report)? 
 
Comments 
 
The TUC makes use of company websites, CSR reports and in some 
instances dialogue with particular companies. 
 
Although we represent workers, universally recognised as a major 
stakeholder in companies, we do not have access to events such as analysts’ 
briefings which would provide an opportunity for dialogue with companies over 
particular issues of mutual interest or concern. 
 
 
Question 7: Is there scope to reduce or simplify the requirements on which 
companies report?   
 
Comments 







The TUC believes improving the quality of reporting should be the aim of any 
modification of requirements, rather than reducing or simplifying the 
requirements per se. We do not see the existing requirements of s417 as 
either unclear or onerous, but they are expressed in broad terms. In our view, 
the greatest improvement to the quality of reporting would be brought about 
by giving directors more in-depth clarity on what is expected in narrative 
reports. This would have the effect of making it easier to produce narrative 
reports, and would maximise the benefits to companies and their stakeholders 
of undertaking narrative reporting. 
 
See our answer to question 10 below for suggestions on how the quality of 
narrative reporting should be improved. 
 
 
Question 8: Is there scope to arrange the information in a more useful way?  
 
Comments 
 
The TUC believes that it is important that information is clearly ‘labelled’ and 
that if other reports or sources of information are referred to, these are easily 
available on the company’s website. 
 
The greatest improvement to the ‘arrangement’ of the information would be its 
presentation by companies in a consistent and comparable format to enable 
report readers to make comparisons both between companies and over time. 
 
 







Business Review 
 
Question 9: Looking at an Operating & Financial Review and the existing 
business review (see Annex D), do you see value in reinstating elements of 
an OFR and if so what would they be? In particular, would a statutory 
reporting standard help to improve the quality of reporting?   
 
Comments 
 
The TUC believes that there would be value in reinstating some elements of 
the OFR. 
 
Statutory reporting standard 
The current reporting standards appears to us to have had little impact on the 
quality of narrative reporting. This may in part be because of deficiencies in 
that standard, but it almost certainly reflects the fact that the reporting 
standard is entirely voluntary. The TUC’s would support the introduction of a 
statutory reporting standard in order to improve the consistency and 
comparability of the information provided in reports. However, the TUC 
believes that the current ASB Reporting Statement: Operating and Financial 
Review would require significant improvement in order to be fit for purpose. 
 
Enhanced audit 
One of the major problems with narrative reports is their patchy, inconsistent 
nature and poor quality. Given these problems, the TUC believes that it is 
appropriate to consider how independent verification or audit could best be 
applied to narrative reports. There is an important question of whether audit 
requirements should apply to process (as was the case in the previous OFR 
proposals) or to contents, which would be consistent with the way in which 
financial information is audited, or some hybrid of the two. This is not the 
place to enter into detailed discussion of this point, but we flag it up as an 
area where more discussion and debate will be necessary before going 
forwards. 
 
In terms of implementation, there could be an argument for staging in relation 
to other reforms. For example, the TUC believes that it could make sense to 
bring a statutory reporting standard into force before bringing in a requirement 
for audit of narrative reports, to allow a degree of best practice development 
to emerge before narrative reports are subject to an audit process. 
 
 
 
Question 10: The business review provisions require quoted companies to 
report, to the extent necessary, on:  
 main trends and factors likely to affect the future development, 


performance and position of the company’s business 







 information on environmental matters 
 information on employees 
 information on social and community matters 
 persons with whom the company has essential contractual and other 


relationships   
i) is this information useful to you?  How do you use it? 
ii) Could disclosure be improved? If so, how?  
iii) Are there key issues which are missing? If so, please explain? 


 
Comments 
 
The TUC believes that good quality reporting on the areas outlined above 
would be extremely useful to a wide range of report readers, including 
shareholders, employees, suppliers, customers and the general public. In 
practice, the utility of reports is limited by deficiencies in their quality.  
 
As argued above, we believe that the quality of information in narrative reports 
would be substantially improved by improved guidance on the contents of 
reports in the form of a statutory reporting standard. 
 
The TUC clearly has a particular interest in information on workers and 
employment relationships, and we commented above on the poor quality of 
reporting on these areas. While we believe that further clarification and 
guidance on the full range of issues to be covered in Business Reviews is 
necessary, we will restrict our comments on contents to our core area of 
expertise. At a minimum, the information on employees in Business Reviews 
should include the following: 
 


 Diversity and work life balance 
At each level of the organisation a breakdown of staff numbers by 
gender, race, age and disability, supported by a description of policies 
on equal opportunities and work life balance and their implementation. 
In addition, the overall gender pay gap, gender pay gaps by job grade 
and gender differences in starting salaries should be reported.1 
 


 Training and development 
The role of employee training and development in delivering the 
company’s strategic objectives. In addition, information on training 
resources per employee (including average annual training 


                                            
1 The proposals on the gender pay gap come from an exercise led by the EHRC with the 
involvement of the TUC, CBI and other business groups and unions in 2009 to come up with 
recommendations on what large private sector employers should be reporting on. The full report  
is available at: 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/information-for-employers/gender-pay-
reporting/ 
 



http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/information-for-employers/gender-pay-reporting/

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/information-for-employers/gender-pay-reporting/





expenditure, training hours and type of training) and their distribution in 
terms of grade/pay and gender should be given. In addition, the overall 
spending on training as a percentage of total payroll expenditure 
should be included. 
 


 Employee representation and involvement 
Whether trade unions are recognised for collective bargaining, and the 
extent to which employees and their representatives are (a) informed 
(b) consulted and (c) involved in decisions about changes to their own 
jobs and wider strategic issues. 


 
 Health and safety 


Health and safety performance and the level of director involvement in 
safety issues, along with details of RIDDOR accident, disease and 
incident reports and all safety enforcement action and penalties. 
 


 Pay and pensions 
At each grade, pay scales and the most recent pay increases. 
What type of pension scheme is offered; for defined benefit schemes, 
the accrual rate; and for defined contribution schemes the average 
employer contribution. 


 
These points should be included in the statutory reporting standard proposed 
above. 
 
There are strong strategic arguments for including the areas set out above in 
narrative reports. Below is a case study of why improved reporting on training 
and skills would bring both company and wider economic benefits. 
 
Case study: why improve reporting on skills? 
 
In autumn 2009 the UK Commission for Employment and Skills (UKCES) 
reported on a comprehensive review of ‘employer collective measures’ which 
had the potential to be used as levers to increase employer investment in 
skills on a collective basis. The impetus for this inquiry had originally come 
from a recommendation by Lord Leitch in his review of skills. The UKCES 
recommended four specific action points, including undertaking ‘further work 
to explore different approaches to developing the reporting of human capital 
ranging from regulation (the accountancy standards) to encouraging changes 
in behaviour.’ 
 
According to the UKCES there would be a range of benefits from such a 
policy approach.  For example, it would provide a focus on training at 
management level and incentivise senior managers to work together to 
                                                                                                                                  
2 Schuller, T. and Watson, D. Learning through Life: Inquiry into the Future for Lifelong Learning, 
NIACE, 2009 







‘develop more effective training practices and to better present the value of 
firms’ human resources.’ At the same time there would be much more 
pressure on firms to give due regard to this on the grounds that ‘investors and 
shareholders would have a clear guide to the levels of training expenditure 
within a firm which may guide investment decisions in the stock market.’  The 
UKCES also argue that more detailed knowledge of employers’ approaches to 
training and HCD would also allow government to consider using more 
sophisticated incentives (e.g. some form of tax break) to encourage greater 
levels of investment in training by employers. The TUC agrees with this 
analysis and recommends that the government should work with the UKCES 
to consider how best to take forward this agenda. 
 
However, there is also a case to be made for requiring employers to report 
their investment in training. This should be part of a new requirement for 
receipt of corporation tax relief on training expenditure. According to a major 
inquiry into lifelong learning commissioned by NIACE2 , currently some £3.7 
billion is given to employers in the form of tax relief (corporation tax and 
PAYE) on employee training. Yet there appears to be almost no regulation on 
what can be claimed. For example, employers can claim for courses which do 
not lead to any accreditation. They can also claim for induction training for 
new employees, including wage costs. Attempts to collect data have been met 
with the response that data on this relief is simply not collected, which is 
extraordinary considering the immense scrutiny and data requirements of 
other government investment in workplace training. Moreover, there is very 
little tax relief of this kind available to individuals (including the self employed), 
which seems strange if the rationale for any relief is that the state should 
encourage more training among working people.  One of the 
recommendations of the Inquiry into Lifelong Learning is that there needs to 
be tighter conditions and greater transparency in accounting for this form of 
tax relief in company accounts and the TUC strongly support this approach. 
 
The TUC also believes that the scope of the narrative reporting requirements 
should be reviewed. The extensive debate over the impact of private equity 
buyouts on their portfolio companies led to the review by Sir David Walker of 
transparency in the sector and his recommendations on disclosure by both 
private equity funds and their portfolio companies. An argument that came up 
in his report and has been repeated many times since, is that private 
companies owned by private equity funds are now required to report 
significantly more information that even the very largest private companies 
that are not owned by private equity funds. The TUC has always argued that 
all large and medium sized companies should be required to produce a full 
business review, including reporting on future developments, environmental 
matters, employees, social and community issues and supplier relationships 
as set out under s417(5), and we continue to support this view. It is 
particularly inappropriate that large private companies, which by nature of 
their very size have major economic and social impacts, are excluded from 







the requirements of s417(5). The TUC urges the Government to take this 
opportunity to create a more level playing field in company reporting and 
extend the requirement under s417(5) to large and medium sized private 
companies. 
 
The TUC also believes that s417(7) which permits medium sized quoted 
companies not to include key performance indicators on environmental and 
employee matters should be removed. Employment and environmental 
impacts are of direct relevance to investors and other stakeholders regardless 
of company size, and there is enough flexibility within the requirements 
without this exemption. 
 
 
 
Question 11: Would more guidance be helpful?  If so, what form should this 
take? For example, best practice example, sample Key Performance 
Indicators, etc?  
 
Comments 
 
The TUC believes that more guidance is essential in driving up the quality of 
narrative reporting. As set out above, we believe that a statutory reporting 
standard is the best way to do this. Please see our answers to questions 9 
and 10 above. 
 
Best practice examples may be helpful for driving up standards among 
companies that are committed to the principle of good quality narrative 
reporting but unsure how to go about it, but they will do little or nothing to 
drive up standards among the laggards of narrative reporting, which will 
require clear minimum standards. Best practice guidance then is not a 
substitute for minimum standards, but may bring additional benefit. 
 
 
 
Question 12: Should there be a shareholder’s advisory vote on the 
Business Review? 
 
Comments 
 
The TUC strongly supports the proposal to hold a shareholder’s vote on the 
Business Review. We believe this will do a great deal to focus the minds of 
both investors and directors on the quality and contents of their business 
reviews. It will also provide investors with a way of signalling concern about 
an issue included in the Business Review without requiring a vote against the 
company’s report and accounts as a whole, which many investors are very 
reluctant to do. 







 
The financial crisis has cast a spotlight on current weaknesses in investor 
engagement with companies. The TUC believes that putting the Business 
Review to the vote would be a useful tool to improve engagement between 
investors and companies. The Stewardship Code published in September by 
the Financial Reporting Council sets out principles for investor stewardship of 
the companies whose shares they own. The TUC runs a network for trade 
union member-nominated pension fund trustees, and we are aware of how 
difficult it can be at times for trustees to engage effectively with asset 
managers over issues relating to corporate behaviour. We believe that a vote 
on the Business Review would provide a focus for boosting discussion of 
engagement and its impacts among asset owners such as pension funds, as 
well as asset managers. 
 
 
 
Question 13: Are there non-regulatory solutions to increasing quality 
through better guidance or publicising excellence in business reports? If 
so, what? 
 
Comments 
 
The TUC believes that both better guidance and greater publicity of 
excellence in narrative reports could be helpful. However, we do not believe 
that they are a substitute for statutory minimum standards, and without these 
the majority of companies that produce low-quality or misleading Business 
Reviews will continue to do so. 
 


 
Directors’ Remuneration Report 
 
Question 14: Do the current disclosure requirements provide clear and 
usable information about:  


 the total remuneration paid to directors, and how this is made up; 
 the performance criteria for payments to directors, and how 


these relate to the company’s strategic objectives; 
 company performance against these criteria, so that there is a 


demonstrable link between pay and performance.; 
 the process by which directors’ remuneration is decided? 


 
 
Comments 







One of the areas of greatest failure of corporate governance is the area of 
directors’ remuneration.  From the Greenbury Committee through to the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002, the approach that has 
been taken by regulators and market participants to directors’ pay is that 
providing information to shareholders will enable the latter to monitor 
directors’ pay and act to ensure that it is appropriate. The TUC believes that 
this approach has simply failed. 
 
Remuneration reports currently include little information on the process of 
setting executive pay or the criteria that have informed their decisions. Under 
Combined Code supporting principle B.1.1, remuneration committees ‘should 
be sensitive to pay and employment conditions elsewhere in the group, 
especially when setting annual salary increases’.  This principle is routinely 
ignored by companies.  There is no evidence that any remuneration 
committees have considered the pay of other staff in the company when 
setting directors’ pay.  This principle is rarely mentioned in remuneration 
reports and when it is it is usually a bland, one-line assertion with no 
supporting evidence. This is still the case, despite clarification since the 
Companies Act 2006, that companies should explain how they have complied 
with this principle. 
 
For shareholders and others to judge the extent to which companies are 
complying with Combined Code principle B.1.1, it is essential that companies 
are required to disclose clear information on the distribution of pay across the 
company as a whole and the ratio between top and bottom. 
 
Remuneration reports should be required to include information on: 
(1) the ratio of highest director total pay to lowest employee pay in the 
company; 
(2) the distribution of pay throughout the company as a whole by grade; 
(3) each director’s increase in basic salary for each of the last three years; 
(4) the average pay increase for staff elsewhere in the company for each 
of the last three years. 
viii) Where the average rise in basic pay for directors is significantly higher 
(say more than 1%) than the average rise for employees, an explanation for 
this differential from the remuneration committee should be included in their 
report. 
 
 
Costs 
  
Question 15:  
If you can provide any information on costs associated either with the 
existing narrative reporting requirements eg preparing your business 
review or your views on potential costs and benefits in relation to any of 
the ideas in this consultation, please give details    







 
 
Comments 
 
The TUC believes that in assessing costs and benefits, it is important the 
Government takes into account the benefits to company management and 
performance that good quality narrative reporting should bring. Narrative 
reporting should not be viewed just as a monetary ‘cost’ without proper 
consideration of the potential benefits. 
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Dear Jane, 
 
In relation to your consultation ; The future of narrative reporting 
 
We at Trucost look at companies environmental reporting mainly on behalf of investor clients. 
So we are particularly interested in an aspect of Question 10 – could disclosure on 
environmental matters be improved – and if so how? 
 
Our view on this is given in a report we did for the UK Environment Agency “Environmental 
disclosure: the second major review of environmental reporting in the Annual Report & 
Accounts of the FTSE All‐Share.”  Copies of the FTSE All‐Share Environmental Disclosures Report 
2006 can be downloaded from www.trucost.com.  Copies of the Government's guidance on 
environmental reporting and KPIs (which we wrote and would encourage – as they provide brief 
but relevant information that investors require) can be downloaded from 
http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/business/envrp/pdf/envkpi‐guidelines.pdf  
 
The conclusion was that “the environment has found its way into most annual reports and 
accounts. This is good news. However, we should not be complacent: there is a long way to go. 
Hard facts and figures are still few and far between. Most annual reports and accounts do not 
yet give us relevant, comparable figures in which decision‐makers can have confidence.” 
 
This report has just been repeated for 2010 and is shortly to be published by the Environment 
Agency – and I believe with Defra funding. This I am sure would be timely information for your 
consultation. I believe the conclusion is unfortunately not dissimilar to the initial report – i.e. still 
more encouragement required. When it is published I will send a copy – although I expect you 
may have access to this from your own sources, 
 
Best wishes, 
Neil 
 
 


Neil McIndoe 


Head of Environmental Finance 


_____________________________  


Trucost Plc 
22 Chancery Lane 
London WC2A 1LS 
United Kingdom 
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BIS Consultation response form: The Future of Narrative 
Reporting  


 
A copy of the consultation is available at: http://www.bis.gov.uk/consultations. 
 
Responses to the Consultation to be received by 19 October 2010 
 
Name: Anne Lindsay 
 
Organisation (if applicable): CAFOD 
 
Address: Romero Close, Stockwell Road, London, SW9 9TY 
 
Email:  
 
Return completed forms to: 
Jane Leavens  
Corporate Law & Governance Directorate  
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills 
1 Victoria Street 
London 
SW1H 0ET 
 
Tel: 020 7215 1686 
Narrativereporting@bis.gsi.gov.uk 
 
Please tick the box from the following list of options that best describes 
you: 
 


 Quoted company 


 Other company  


 Investor or investment manager 


 Business representative organisation 


 Investor representative organisation  
 Non governmental organisation (NGO) 


 Trade Union 


 Lawyer or accountant 


 Other (e.g. consultant or private individual) 


 



http://www.bis.gov.uk/consultations

mailto:Narrativereporting@bis.gsi.gov.uk





Value of narrative reporting  
 
Question 1: Are company directors providing useful and relevant 
information on the company’s: 


i) forward-looking strategy and  
ii) principal risks and opportunities? 


 


Comments 


 
The Coalition government has emphasised the role of informed shareholder 
engagement in supporting accountability and good corporate governance.  
Existing requirements under the Companies Act 2006 for directors to report 
on environmental and social issues are intended to ensure investors are 
aware of risks and proposed mitigation strategies and thus able to actively 
engage with companies and drive up performance in these important areas. 
However currently many companies are not providing sufficient useful or 
relevant information within their narrative reporting. 
 
Research by the CORE coalition published in “The Reporting on Non-
Financial Information in Annual Reports by the FTSE 100” provides evidence 
that even amongst the largest publicly-listed companies there is inadequate 
reporting on non-financial issues in Business Reviews.  Companies also failed 
to highlight omissions in their Business Review when specified key factors 
had not been covered. This would seem to indicate a lack of compliance with 
the existing requirements of the Companies Act.   
 
Analysis of reports show that companies often cover social and environmental 
impacts and risks with very general statements, rather than identifying specific 
concerns relevant to the business and showing how that these issues has 
been incorporated into a forward-looking strategy. 
 
In relation to company reporting of principal risks and opportunities, 
performance to date in the UK shows significant omissions in narrative 
reporting of human rights-related risks. 
 
The issue of human rights-related risk is not new, however, it is not being 
adequately addressed by company directors under the current reporting 
regime. Since his mandate was first established in 2005, John Ruggie, UN 
Special Representative on Business and Human Rights, has stressed on a 
number of occasions that human rights-related risks can have significant 
costs for companies and their shareholders, as well as the impact on affected 
communities.   
 
In his report to the Human Rights Council of April 2010 John Ruggie 
highlighted “growing number of lawsuits against companies on human rights 
grounds, coupled with emerging evidence of significant costs triggered by 







human rights-based grievances.” 
 
Here CAFOD supports the Special Representative‟s conclusion that 
governments need to use company law more effectively and that: 
 
“Regulators should clarify that human rights impacts may be “material” and 
indicate when they should be disclosed under current financial reporting 
requirements.” 
 


 
Question 2: What are the constraints on companies providing information 
on these issues? 
 


Comments 


 
In our view, these omissions are not primarily due to constraints on 
companies which actively prevent them from providing useful and relevant 
information.  Rather, for a variety of reasons, balanced and comprehensive 
non-financial reporting is not being prioritised within companies. 
 
Reasons for patchy and incomplete responses to the 2006 Act include:  
 


 Lack of clarity in the law and insufficient guidance as to what adequate 
reporting requires.  Although this does not necessarily have to be a 
constraint for a business which takes a pro-active approach to its legal 
reporting obligations, there might be a „how to‟ question for other 
companies.  


 Lack of comparability between companies‟ reporting means there is 
little incentive to provide accurate information which goes beyond PR. 


 Unwillingness to provide a more in-depth level of information if 
competitors are not providing it. 


 Perceived lack of interest from investors. If investors are not aware of 
potential social, environmental and human rights-related risks and 
these issues are absent from the Business Review, some shareholders 
may be less likely to engage with the business on these areas.  


 Lack of enforcement if companies do not provide robust information on 
these issues.  The Financial Reporting Review Panel (FRRP) has 
stated that it viewed the legal compliance of a number of narrative 
reports to be doubtful but does not appear to have taken enforcement 
action against any company. 


 
In CAFOD‟s view the provision of a statutory reporting standard with clear 
guidance and an effective mechanism for enforcement in cases of non-
compliance would help to address all the points identified above. 
 


 







Question 3: Does the information provided reflect the issues discussed by 
the directors in board meetings?  
 


Comments 


 
No comment. 


 
Question 4: Does the information help shareholders to press directors on 
key issues relating to strategy and risk, or inform their business decisions?  
 


Comments 


 
Shareholders represent a very diverse group and the extent to which they 
press directors on key issues relating to strategy and risk varies considerably.  
 
Because of our strong partner organisations in the developing world and 
experience monitoring certain sectors such as mining and electronics, 
engaged investors have contacted CAFOD in order to gain a more detailed 
understanding of the social, human rights and environmental impacts 
attached to a particular company‟s operations.  This kind of information is 
highly relevant to their business decisions but is not available from the 
company through existing non-financial reporting.   
 
In our experience the general nature of information provided under the 
existing reporting regime contributes to a climate of piecemeal engagement 
by shareholders.  Active engagement depends very much on particular 
investors with specific interests who already have a sufficiently high level of 
knowledge to take the initiative in following up with the company. 
 
A culture of general statements or omissions of key factors without explaining 
of underlying assumptions encourages a reactive approach from less well-
informed shareholders.  For example, they may only begin to engage with the 
company once an environmental disaster has occurred or significant labour 
rights abuses have been uncovered.  Relevant, robust and comparable data 
would help more investors to take a pro-active approach, focussed on 
prevention through identifying risks in advance. 
 


  
 







Question 5: If a company does not provide sufficient or material 
information to you, do you challenge it? Is there anything which could help 
you to do so?   
 


Comments 


 
As cited in the previous answer, more engaged investors will attempt to 
gather evidence from other sources, e.g. NGOs, local experts and analysts, 
as well as engaging in face to face meetings with the companies involved. 
Shareholder resolution processes are also possible, although they are much 
more time and resource intensive in the UK than, for example, in the United 
States. 
 
In CAFOD‟s view a clearer mandated standard requiring full disclosure of 
environmental, social and human rights impacts and risks would help here.  
This would enable a much wider range of shareholders to access material 
information, as well as being of value to a broader range of stakeholders who 
are directed impacted by a company‟s activities.   
 
It is also important that the Government enforces legal reporting requirements 
adequately rather than leaving it purely to shareholders to challenge 
companies. As mentioned above the current system results in uneven 
engagement which is overly dependent on a small number of investors.  
Experience to date shows that a stronger regulator is needed in order to 
ensure that all companies meet their legal obligations and information about 
risks is available to the market as a whole. 
 


 
Question 6: What other sources of company information do you use and 
how valuable are they (e.g. information provided on the website, analysts’ 
briefings, dialogue with the company, corporate social responsibility 
report)? 
 


Comments 


 
While they might provide an initial starting point, CAFOD would like to stress 
the qualitative difference between a financial report and a company CSR or 
sustainability report.  As a development NGO we are frequently sent CSR 
reports from companies operating in a range of sectors, and asked for our 
feedback as an informed stakeholder.  Nevertheless they are not regarded by 
civil society or indeed investors as particularly credible sources of data about 
a company – certainly not decision useful.   
 
A company can select what to include and what to omit, often it is very difficult 
to judge whether the information presented is inaccurate or biased and there 
are no repercussions if this is the case.  This means that in practice such 







reports are frequently more of a PR tool and not helpful for robust 
comparisons. The volume of information about high profile CSR projects can 
sometimes make it difficult to find salient points about risks linked to core 
business activities.  


 
Question 7: Is there scope to reduce or simplify the requirements on which 
companies report?   
 


Comments 


 
A greater priority at this time seems to be increasing the degree of confidence 
in the information which companies do provide and addressing issues of 
comparability. 
 
In our view, a statutory reporting standard and clear guidance could simplify 
the process for companies by bringing greater clarity to reporting 
requirements.  
 


 
Question 8: Is there scope to arrange the information in a more useful way?  
 


Comments 


 
Concise reports with a format that enables companies‟ performance to be 
compared would be useful.  
 
It would make sense to consider how to link reporting with international 
standards already under discussion, e.g. corporate due diligence in relation to 
human rights-related risk. 
 


 







Business Review 
 
Question 9: Looking at an Operating & Financial Review and the existing 
business review (see Annex D), do you see value in reinstating elements of 
an OFR and if so what would they be? In particular, would a statutory 
reporting standard help to improve the quality of reporting?   
 


Comments 


 
There would be value in reinstating some elements of the OFR, in particular: 


 the enhanced audit – this would increase confidence in the data provided 


 an articulation of long-term risks and developments – this should be 
included to support a more long term approach to investment and 
corporate accountability 


 a robust framework for reporting on social and environmental issues to 
support comparability.  


A statutory reporting standard is essential in order to improve the quality of 
reporting. 
 


 
 
Question 10: The business review provisions require quoted companies to 
report, to the extent necessary, on:  


 main trends and factors likely to affect the future development, 
performance and position of the company’s business 


 information on environmental matters 


 information on employees 


 information on social and community matters 


 persons with whom the company has essential contractual and other 
relationships   


i) is this information useful to you?  How do you use it? 
ii) Could disclosure be improved? If so, how?  
iii) Are there key issues which are missing? If so, please explain? 


 


Comments 


 
Human rights need to be explicitly mentioned.  At the moment there seems to 
be an assumption that this issue is covered by the general term “social and 
community matters” however as so few companies are actually reporting on 
human rights impacts and risks, it is important that this category is spelt out 
explicitly in reporting requirements. 


 







Question 11: Would more guidance be helpful?  If so, what form should this 
take? For example, best practice example, sample Key Performance 
Indicators, etc?  
 


Comments 


 
A statutory reporting standard should be introduced, with accompanying 
guidance. This should be linked to non-financial Key Performance Indicators 
in order to ensure that reporting is useful and relevant, and that there is 
comparability between year-on-year performance.  


 
Question 12: Should there be a shareholder’s advisory vote on the 
Business Review? 
 


Comments 


 
This might be helpful tool for shareholders to highlight concerns which they 
feel have not been adequately addressed by the company. 


 
Question 13: Are there non-regulatory solutions to increasing quality 
through better guidance or publicising excellence in business reports? If 
so, what? 
 


Comments 


 
Non-regulatory solutions such as awards or league tables will not adequately 
address the primary challenge of laggard companies.  Therefore this 
approach does not seem to be the best focus for resources. 
 
Better guidance will help to increase quality of reporting if it is coupled with a 
statutory reporting standard and an effective enforcement mechanism. 
 


 







Directors’ Remuneration Report 
 
Question 14: Do the current disclosure requirements provide clear and 
usable information about:  


 the total remuneration paid to directors, and how this is made up; 


 the performance criteria for payments to directors, and how 
these relate to the company’s strategic objectives; 


 company performance against these criteria, so that there is a 
demonstrable link between pay and performance.; 


 the process by which directors’ remuneration is decided? 
 
 


Comments 


 
No comment.  


 
Costs 
  
Question 15:  
If you can provide any information on costs associated either with the 
existing narrative reporting requirements eg preparing your business 
review or your views on potential costs and benefits in relation to any of 
the ideas in this consultation, please give details    
 
 


Comments 


 
While there might be some initial costs involved in changing current 
approaches to reporting to meet clearer requirements, CAFOD‟s view is that 
these would be outweighed by long term financial benefits to the company.   
 
Clearer reporting requirements and effective enforcement would ensure that 
analysis of environmental, social and human rights impacts and risks was 
integrated into decision-making in relation to the core operations of the 
business. Relevant and useful information on risks would be available to the 
market not just to a small number of investors. 
 
A clearer standard might in fact reduce the costs associated with reporting 
because it would enable businesses to focus on the most salient issues and 
risks from the company‟s core activities.  
 







 








 


 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
Jane Leavens 
Corporate Law & Governance Directorate 
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills 
1 Victoria Street 
London 
SW1H 0ET 
 
By e-mail: Narrativereporting@bis.gsi.gov.uk  
 
 
Date: 26 October 2010 
 
Dear Madam 
 
GC100 response to the consultation paper, The Future of Narrative Reporting 
 
I am writing on behalf of the GC100 in response to the above consultation paper. As you may be 
aware, GC100 is the association for the general counsel and company secretaries of companies in 
the FTSE 100. There are currently over 120 members of the group, representing some 80 
companies. 
 
The GC100 welcomes the opportunity to respond to this consultation, and thanks you for the 
extension of one week to submit our response, but before addressing each of the paper’s questions 
in turn, we think it would be helpful to set out some general observations. 
 
We do not think it would be appropriate to reintroduce an operating and financial review (OFR). 
There was extensive debate on this issue under the previous government, resulting in the 
introduction of the Business Review. While it makes sense to see how well the Business Review is 
working in practice so far, it would be premature to suggest that we need to revert to the OFR. In 
this regard, the UK Corporate Governance Code now recommends that companies include a 
description of their business model. When introducing this change, the FRC stated that “there is 
currently a gap in reporting and that setting out in layman’s terms the company’s strategy for 
generating long term value would enhance the ability of investors and other users of reports to 
assess the disclosures required under the Business Review”. Given that this change only applies to 
financial years commencing on or after 29 June 2010, our robust view is that now is not the time to 
introduce yet further change. 
 
In substance, the Business Review and the OFR are broadly similar, the main difference being the 
reference to the reporting standards in relation to, and a formal auditors’ review of, the OFR. Given 
that auditors review the Business Review for consistency with the audited parts of the report and 
accounts, there is already a degree of assurance in company reporting and there is certainly no 
shortage of best practice guidance.  
 


GC100 Group  
The Association of General Counsel and Company Secretaries of the FTSE 100 
The GC100 Group is an unincorporated members’ association administered by the Practical Law Company Limited 
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More specifically, given that the content requirements are essentially the same, we cannot see how 
the introduction of an OFR will, of itself, improve the way that social and environmental duties are 
addressed.  
 
Section 417 of the Companies Act 2006 requires quoted and large companies to produce a 
Business Review addressed to shareholders to help them assess how the Directors have 
performed their duty to promote the success of the Company. The general experience of our 
members is that there is no noticeable demand on the part of investors for more detailed reporting 
from the companies in which they invest.  
 
The government has stated that it wishes to achieve coherence without increasing the regulatory 
burden on businesses. We believe that the current principles-based and flexible reporting regime 
creates competitive advantage for the UK, while driving standards of corporate reporting which are 
amongst the best in the world. UK businesses have had to cope with constant changes over the 
past four years, including the rewriting of the Companies Act (implemented over a number of 
commencements dates over more than three years); the proposed introduction of the OFR, then 
changed to the Business Review; revisions to the Combined Code and the introduction of the 
Stewardship Code; and ongoing changes to the Listing Rules, Prospectus Rules and Disclosure & 
Transparency Rules for listed issuers. There has also been a plethora of ‘best practice’ guidance 
issued by a wide range of bodies in support of the legislative or regulatory change. More change will 
inevitably cost businesses more, in terms of internal resources and external fees, and erode 
national competitiveness.  
 
The responses of the GC100 to your specific questions are set out below. Our response focuses on 
the questions applicable to companies.  
 
Value of narrative reporting 
 
Q1 Are company directors providing useful and relevant information on the company’s:  


i) forward-forward-looking strategy; and  
ii) principal risks and uncertainties?  


 
We believe that these requirements are already adequately covered by existing regulation, which is 
expressed very clearly. If investors are not satisfied with the way these items are covered, they can 
ask management for further information but, given the vastly differing natures of companies and 
their businesses, it is difficult to see how further regulation would improve disclosure in this area. 
 
 
Q2 What are the constraints on companies providing information on these issues?  
 
So far as strategy is concerned, we believe our member companies generally aim, so far as 
practicable, to share their aims with investors and stakeholders, but inevitably do so with caution, as 
there is a danger that some people will regard an explanation of opportunities as definitive 
commitment. Some ideas might also be commercially sensitive.  
 
In the area of risks, our member companies disclose those risks which their internal reviews identify 
as the most important. We note that there is a risk of liability if material risks are omitted which later 
result in losses. While the “safe harbour” in the Companies Act 2006 is helpful, for those with US 
listings this is a real concern, as witnessed by the growth in disclaimer wordings included in annual 
reports. Some of our members are also concerned that the disclosure of more detail about risks and 
uncertainties could give a misleading impression of a company’s position. 
 
 
Q3 Does the information provided reflect the issues discussed by the directors in board 
meetings?  
 
In our experience, what is disclosed generally reflects what has preoccupied the board throughout 
the year (subject to materiality, and commercial and political sensitivities). But we do not think it 







 


 


would be helpful to introduce some sort of requirement that the board should specifically disclose its 
business. 
 
 
Q4 Does the information help shareholders to press directors on key issues relating to 
strategy and risk, or inform their business decisions?  
 
Not applicable. 
 
 
Q5 If a company does not provide sufficient or material information to you, do you challenge 
it? Is there anything which could help you to do so?  
 
Not applicable. 
 
 
Q6 What other sources of company information do you use and how valuable are they (e.g. 
information provided on the website, analysts’ briefings, dialogue with the company, 
corporate social responsibility report)? 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 
Q7 Is there scope to reduce or simplify the requirements on which companies report? 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 
Q8 Is there scope to arrange the information in a more useful way? 
 
We think there could be scope to simplfy annual reports by permitting companies to include only the 
Business Review and accounts in the Annual Report, and publishing other matters (such as static 
or slow-changing information) on a website. This should not involve any change of content, but 
investors might find such annual reports easier to access.  
 
 
Business Review  
 
Q9 Looking at an Operating & Financial Review and the existing business review (see Annex 
D), do you see value in reinstating elements of an OFR and if so what would they be? In 
particular, would a statutory reporting standard help to improve the quality of reporting? 
 
As explained above, we would be firmly against the introduction of an OFR. Unless there are 
serious shortfalls in the way that the Business Review is currently working, it is difficult to see how a 
statutory reporting standard would help improve the quality of reporting or, more importantly, the 
management of the underlying issues. 
 
In our experience, the current UK reporting framework is amongst the very best in the world, and 
UK businesses are well-regarded internationally for the quality of their reporting to shareholders.  
We would contend that in large part this is due to the principles-based nature of the existing 
regulatory regime, and the flexibility that this creates. We believe therefore that a more prescriptive 
regime will actually weaken the quality of narrative reporting as companies are obliged to make 
‘box-ticking’ disclosures rather than attempt real communication. There is also a risk that adding 
assurance requirements will stifle reporting as auditors struggle to report on opinion type comments 
and forward looking strategic views. 
 
We note that, under the Prospectus Rules, an OFR must be included in a prospectus, however we 
would be interested to know if BIS proposes to conduct any research to determine whether 
investors find it useful. In 2008 the Rights Issue Review Group found that “due to its length and 







 


 


complexity, most investors do not use the prospectus as a means of information prior to investment 
decisions” (A Report to the Chancellor of the Exchequer: by the Rights Issue Review Group, 
November 2008). The Group did not recommend the inclusion of an OFR in its proposed short-form 
prospectus, which suggests it considered that investors do not value the OFR highly. 
 
 
Q10 The business review provisions require quoted companies to report, to the extent 
necessary, on:  


 in trends and factors likely to affect the future development, performance and 
position of the company’s business  


 information on environmental matters  
 information on employees  
 information on social and community matters  
 persons with whom the company has essential contractual and other relationships  
i) Is this information useful to you? How do you use it? 
ii) Could disclosure be improved? If so, how?  
iii) Are there key issues which are missing? If so, please explain.  


 
We do not believe that there is any need to increase the level of disclosure on social and 
environmental issues. While there is currently a requirement to disclosure a certain amount of 
information of this nature in the Business Review, many companies choose to report more 
extensively on social and environmental issues using other media, such as hard copy or online 
sustainability reports, sometimes published at different times to the Annual Report. A requirement to 
disclose more information in the Business Review will lead to a duplication of work and, for many 
companies, the Annual Report is not the best medium for this information. 
 
 
Q11 Would more guidance be helpful? If so, what form should this take? For example: best 
practice example, sample Key Performance Indicators, etc? 
 
We do not think that further guidance would be useful. We already have adequate input from 
advisers, shareholders, etc. Companies can determine for themselves which Key Performance 
Indicators are appropriate for their own particular businesses. In our experience, guidance, such as 
DEFRA’s guidance on environment reporting, doesn’t make reporting any easier: companies have 
differing impacts, and in very different places.  
 
 
Q12 Should there be a shareholder’s advisory vote on the Business Review?  
 
We would not support a shareholder advisory vote on the Business Review. The Business Review 
should be viewed in the context of the Report and Accounts as a whole. This is required, under 
section 437 Companies Act 2006, to be ‘laid before’ the company in general meeting – in practice, 
companies almost universally offer shareholders the opportunity to ‘receive’ or ‘adopt’ the Report 
and Accounts by means of a vote at the AGM. 
 
Further, a Business Review is, by design, intended to report on a wide range of the company’s 
activities, over varying time spans, including the future. We consider that no useful purpose would 
be served by an advisory vote as the aim of such a vote by shareholders would be unclear. To 
witness this further, should a vote on a Business Review reject that document, what is the 
implication or consequence of such resolution by the companies’ shareholders? It could be 
construed as a lack of confidence in the board or its chosen strategy, but as all directors are likely to 
seek re-election on an annual basis under the new UK Corporate Governance Code, it is hard to 
see what additional benefit would have accrued to shareholders from the specific requirement. 
 
 







 


 


Q13 Are there non-regulatory solutions to increasing quality through better guidance or 
publicising excellence in business reports? If so, what?  
 
While the principle of non-regulatory solutions is attractive, overall basic regulation should ensure 
an acceptable degree of comparable reporting for all shareholders. In our members’ experience, the 
Financial Reporting Review Panel exerts a significant influence over corporate reporting, as 
company boards generally wish to avoid investigation by, or referral to, the FRRP. 
 
In any event we doubt whether an annual ranking of companies’ Business Reviews would achieve 
the intended clarity of disclosure. Although a number of companies are motivated about positions in 
league tables, there are many for whom this would not act as an incentive. Finally, each company is 
individual and distinct and a comparison of different Business Reviews would not be comparing like 
with like. Any form of ranking is therefore likely to be arbitrary and artificial. 
 
 
Q14 Do the current disclosure requirements provide clear and usable information about:  


 the total remuneration paid to directors, and how this is made up;  
 the performance criteria for payments to directors, and how these relate to the 


company’s strategic objectives;  
 company performance against these criteria, so that there is a demonstrable link 


between pay and performance;  
 the process by which directors’ remuneration is decided?  


If not, please explain including any views on how this might be improved  
 
The current requirements under the Large and Medium Sized Companies and Groups (Accounts 
and Reports) Regulations 2008 (Regulations) which relate to the Directors Remuneration Report 
(DRR) are already prescriptive in terms of the information that companies need to 
include. Companies complying with these requirements are required to provide details on the total 
amount paid to directors, including salary, bonus, benefits and any compensation for loss of office 
as well as share holdings and awards under long term incentive arrangements. 
 
Details on how reward arrangements for executive directors are determined are included within the 
annual report, including the overall philosophy, information on base salaries, variable compensation 
awards and retirement benefits. 
 
Performance criteria for long term incentive arrangements are provided in detail in the DRR, and 
under the requirements of the DRR Regulations a performance graph of the total shareholder return 
is provided for the previous five years. Details of the individual performance criteria of the executive 
directors are not disclosed as these vary between each director and, necessarily, are linked to the 
strategy of the Group. As such it would not be appropriate to disclose this information in a public 
document.  
 
In summary, the DRR clearly requires the disclosure of information on remuneration policy and 
processes. Directors’ remuneration is broken down so that it is easy to identify different components 
of the package and presented in an easy to use fashion. 
 
In any event, we query whether the information provided and the remuneration consultancy industry 
it has spawned, is helping restrain, or has accelerated, growth in executive pay.  
 
Potential Costs  
 
Q15 If you can provide any information on costs associated either with the existing narrative 
reporting requirements eg preparing your business review or your views on potential costs 
and benefits in relation to any of the ideas in this consultation, please give details.  
 
It is difficult to quantify the costs associated with the existing narrative reporting requirement, but 
any greater regulatory requirements will inevitably increase costs.  
 
Auditor involvement could add significantly to the costs of preparation. 







 


 


 
Please note, as a matter of formality, that the views expressed in this letter do not necessarily 
reflect those of each and every individual member of the GC100 or their employing companies. 
 
If you would like to discuss any of these points further, we would be happy to do so. 
 
 
 
Yours faithfully 


 
 
Mary Mullally 
Secretary, GC100 
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26 October 2010 
 
 
FAO: Jane Leavens 
Corporate Reporting and Governance Directorate 
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills 
1 Victoria Street 
London 
SW1H 0ET 
 
 
Via email: 
Narrative reporting@bis.gsi.gov.uk 
 
 
Dear Sirs 
 
 
ICSA response to the BIS consultation on “The future of narrative reporting” 
 
Introduction 
 
ICSA welcomes the opportunity to respond to this important consultation, drawing on the 
experience and insights gained from devising the ICSA Hermes “Transparency in Governance” 
awards – an initiative introduced to improve standards of narrative disclosure in annual reports.   
 
ICSA feels that standards of narrative reporting have improved over recent years and concurs 
with the sentiments expressed in the consultation document that “UK companies ... rank among 
the best in the world in their standards of corporate governance and reporting1”. It would be 
difficult, however, to sustain the claim that there has been a general step change improvement in 
disclosure performance.  As we point out on page 9 of our report following last year‟s Awards2, 
standards of disclosure are inconsistent, and the quality of companies‟ narrative reporting 
diminishes in quality as one moves out of the FTSE100, and into and beyond the FTSE250. 
Similar challenges are encountered for non-listed companies, where the issue of disclosure is 
also relevant. 
 
There are two basic causes for this inconsistent performance: 
 


 There has been no vision, articulated from the centre, on the purpose and benefits of 
high-quality narrative disclosure.  The abolition of the mandatory OFR in 2005 caused 
uncertainty and confusion at the time and, since then, peer pressure, market dynamics 
and, occasionally, regulatory oversight from the Financial Reporting Review Panel 
(FRRP), have not been enough to trigger and sustain improved levels of performance. 


                                                      
1
 Forward by Edward Davey, Minister for Employment Relations, Consumer and Postal Affairs to the BIS consultation on the future of 


narrative report. 
2
 „Delivering transparency, changing behaviour – Improving governance disclosure in annual reports‟ 







 


 Companies have not sufficiently understood the benefits to be gained from viewing their 
disclosure obligations as a communication opportunity.  This stems often from a lack of 
leadership and vision within the company itself. 


 
The consultation exercise provides an excellent opportunity to address these shortcomings. In 
this response we would like to highlight some key issues which we feel are of particular 
importance, and make specific responses to some of the consultation questions. 
 
The importance of high standards of disclosure 
 
ICSA considers that high quality narrative reporting is a fundamental building block of the 
governance pyramid. 
 


 
S Gillen, ICSA 


 
 
A company‟s ability to evidence, through disclosure, the strength and quality of its governance 
arrangements is central to its success in instilling confidence in its shareholders, and other 
stakeholders, that it can execute its strategy successfully.  This generates trust, improves the 
company‟s reputation, and leads to increased levels of stakeholder support. High standards of 
disclosure therefore confer business benefit, allowing a company to position itself positively with 
its shareholders and other stakeholders.   
 
At the same time, as the consultation paper makes clear, corporate accountability is an important 
public policy issue.  The Business Secretary has made clear that companies should be able to 
account for what they do, and how they do it, as part of the wider role they play in society. Not 
only does this concern the relationship between companies and their owners, allowing 
shareholders to engage and make well-informed decisions, it also relates to the fact that “... 
transparency in investment and governance decisions ... has come to be a wider issue of public 
confidence.”3  Narrative reporting provides one of the key mechanisms for delivering this 
accountability agenda, and forms part of the wider disclosure strategy companies should have in 
place. 
 
High standards of disclosure therefore provide a platform of mutual opportunity for the corporate 
and political/regulatory communities.  
 
The Annual Report and Accounts 
 


                                                      
3
 Business Secretary‟s speech to the FRC Stewardship Code launch, 19 October 2010 







The Annual Report and Accounts should therefore be acknowledged, and promoted, as the 
flagship publication of a company, providing a reliable, audited annual reference document 
containing the key information relating to that company.  Companies should be encouraged to 
place greater importance on the role the report plays in delivering strong narrative reporting 
performance. 
 
That said, we should avoid expecting too much of certain aspects of an annual report.  There 
should be less preoccupation with whether people read a report, and more emphasis on its 
usefulness and ease of use, balancing completeness and accessibility.  There should be less 
emphasis on the annual report as the main communications initiative of a company, and greater 
acknowledgement that the report is a snapshot of the company at a fixed point in time and forms 
only part of a company‟s wider suite of communications.  There should be less focus on whether 
the delivery mechanism is through hard or soft copy, and more understanding that it is the 
content which matters, and that creating and communicating that content represents an important 
alignment exercise within a company.  These considerations apply irrespective of issues of 
company size, industry, shareholder/stakeholder base, availability of resources (expertise and 
financial), and access to advice. 
 
Theme 1 – Audience and content 
    
We need greater clarity on the audiences for an annual report.  Although the business review is 
written for the benefit of the members, the espousal of the principle of enlightened shareholder 
value enshrined in section 172 of the Companies Act, and the primary purpose of the business 
review as articulated in section 417 of the Act, makes it important for report preparers to reflect 
the contribution of stakeholders other than shareholders in the process of value creation. The 
acknowledgement of the role of these other stakeholders then makes the annual report narrative 
relevant to a wider group of users.   
 
If the narrative is subsequently viewed as a disclosure obligation only to shareholders, the wider 
communication opportunity to these business-critical stakeholders is lost.  Taking this analysis 
one step further, if a report does not make sufficient acknowledgement of the role of stakeholders 
in the value creation process, it is arguably not telling the whole story, and the report could 
justifiably be considered incomplete. 
 
Some of the „audience and content‟ tension can be managed by guiding companies to focus on 
business-critical reporting.  A large number of companies need to demonstrate greater 
recognition of the importance of various stakeholders in delivering the business model, while a 
smaller number of companies need to be encouraged to pare back on excessive and irrelevant 
levels of non-financial disclosure.   
 
The „audience and content‟ tension also requires special effort to avoid the practice of several 
departments writing different parts of the report and approaching it from different perspectives.  
This is where higher levels of leadership and ownership from the board are critical in setting 
expectations in terms of communicating one coherent story.  
 
Stakeholders, particularly shareholders, need to provide constructive feedback to companies as 
to the content they wish to see.  Feedback is a non-regulatory tool which can improve the quality 
of narrative reporting – without it there is no incentive, especially for small companies, to improve 
and move away from boilerplate statements.  Feedback should be achieved via ongoing dialogue 
with the company and not, for example in the case of shareholders, solely negative voting at an 
AGM.   
 
Theme 2 – Incentives/awards v sticks/rankings/regulation     
 







Companies need to be incentivised to deliver good disclosure performance, which means helping 
them understand the business advantage that good governance and transparent reporting can 
bring.   
 
Awards informed by independent assessment can play a significant role in helping consolidate 
this process, and this is what the ICSA Hermes Awards set out to achieve.  The judging panel is 
composed of the main professional interests working at board level, and committed to improving 
board process – investors, regulators, accountants, lawyers, auditors, risk managers and 
company secretaries.   We would be happy to discuss further with you our experiences of how 
this process has worked, and whether there is any scope for developing the concept in a way that 
the government would find useful. 
 
If expert panels were to become involved in formal assessment, this could lead to a significant 
amount of second guessing.  While the FRRP oversight model could be developed, this solution 
would need to be thought through carefully. Nevertheless, such a model might be one means of 
addressing the issue of those annual reports which are clearly inadequate in terms of their 
standards of narrative reporting disclosure, although such an approach would need greater clarity 
from the centre on what standards are expected.  
 
Greater regulation, for its part, will inevitably lead to prescription, and boiler plate reporting, when 
we are looking to encourage the opposite outcome – an emphasis on diversity and flexibility in 
reporting arrangements to allow each company to communicate its unique characteristics.  
 
For the same reason, ICSA does not consider that rankings and league tables will work as a 
means of bringing about improvements in standards of narrative disclosure.  Companies are 
individual and distinct from each other – no two business models are the same – and it is 
impossible to begin an exercise of comparing like with like.  Any ranking effort would be arbitrary 
and artificial, and may not be sufficiently robust.  It might also lead to shareholders and 
stakeholders relying unduly, and unjustifiably, on the rankings.  The idea may seem attractive, but 
it would be impractical.  If management is opaque in its reporting, this is generally a reasonable 
indicator that governance is not a priority, and shareholders and stakeholders should be 
encouraged to come to this decision themselves.  
 
Theme 3 – Best practice guides/example KPIs  
 
We note that there is often a call for further guidance, particularly from smaller companies, for 
examples of common types of risk scenarios, KPIs, clarity on the nature, purpose and role of 
CSR reporting, identification of areas of reporting which are neglected or missing and the 
provision of solutions.  This is often due to a lack of resources (time and money) or access to 
consultants/advisers that larger companies may have. These companies require illustrative but 
not prescriptive guidance to be found in one place, in order to help them identify what is relevant 
to their company.   
 
The counter argument is that there is sufficient existing guidance in place, often provided by 
professional bodies and commercial concerns, such as corporate reporting agencies.  Some of 
these organisations already provide workshops or seminars designed specifically for individuals 
or company teams (company secretarial, accounts, PR/IR) involved in report writing.   
 
Further hard guidance by standard setters may not be desirable, but the articulation of a vision for 
narrative reporting, and the creation of guiding principles, may help clarify some of the issues 
where there seems to be need for greater understanding of what is required.  This should be 
supplemented by a commitment from the board to the importance of delivering high standards of 
narrative reporting, with corresponding support for report preparers to have access to training and 
education to help them understand how a company can benefit from preparing a high-quality 
narrative. 







 
Theme 4 – Future concepts for narrative reporting 
 
Future concepts would need to be demand-driven and market-oriented solutions, rather than 
something introduced by regulators and standard setters.  Companies and shareholders and 
other stakeholders would need to work together to create a different future from the one which is 
currently evolving.  Factors to be considered when designing a new system include user needs; 
leveraging the technology; a focus on quality; timeliness; relevance; different sectors, and sizes 
of company; the need to codify after piloting; what regulatory regime will support a demand-
driven outcome;  and education in the new format.  There will be others.  Revising the narrative 
reporting system would be a sizeable task and could not be introduced quickly.   It would also be 
necessary to consider how reporting regimes in other jurisdictions were evolving, and whether 
transformational change in the UK – whether rapid or slow – would be compatible. 
 
Specific issues 
 
Qu. 1&2 Commentary on forward-looking strategy has improved but it still tends to be 


statements of generalities.  While it is sometimes difficult to comment in detail 
without disclosing matters of commercial sensitivity, this is not always the case – 
for example it is normally possible to comment on the first few months, or quarter, 
of trading following the close of the year end. 
 
Other disclosures have been legally sanitized, resulting in broad statements rather 
than specifics.  Likewise reporting on principal risks and opportunities has 
improved, but some of our members claim it is hard to disclose more detail without 
giving a misleading impression of the company‟s position.  Guidance and education 
on identifying, prioritising and reporting key risks has been one of the areas 
highlighted by our members (See Theme 3).  It is also noted that the requirements 
of the new UK Corporate Governance Code will impact on companies‟ reporting of 
both strategy and risk4. 
 
It is ICSA‟s experience from the Awards scheme that it is possible for companies to 
achieve high standards of performance in these areas, and that it may be a case of 
encouraging other companies to learn from the good reporters so that they can 
improve their own performance. 
 


Qu.7 We consider that the Directors‟ Report, which has grown through legacy additions 
and issues from previous companies‟ acts, could be simplified.  Some of the 
content could be included as notes to the accounts; other areas should be reported 
on if applicable to that company – R&D and the company‟s location, for example, 
need not necessarily be in the Directors‟ Report.  Static or slow-changing 
information could either be located elsewhere, for example in a company‟s articles, 
or included on the website (with an obligation to maintain), provided cross 
references are included along with details of where documents can be obtained. 
This would arguably make the annual report more focused on issues which are of 
value, rather than technical in nature, and move report writers towards the desired 
direction of drafting to “tell it how it is”, rather than rely on boiler plate.   
 
However, this approach may be considered to run counter to the argument that 
there should be one complete reference document available, and highlights an 
area where shareholder/stakeholder feedback would be useful.  
 


Qu. 8 Some of our members feel that the current structure of the annual report generally 
works well, as most companies follow a pattern which is easy for readers to use.  


                                                      
4
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However, others feel the format is restrictive, and causes repetition, and they would 
prefer the framework to be freed up, whilst preserving the core content, thereby 
allowing companies discretion/freedom as to how to present the information more 
effectively in order to „communicate and inform‟, not just disclose.  This is an area 
where ICSA considers there would be merit in investigating a more free-style 
approach. 
 


Qu. 9 The Business Review requirements are very similar to the OFR and so the re-
introduction of the latter would not necessarily place too much of an additional 
burden on quoted companies.  It would depend, however, on what level of 
mandating or obligation were introduced in terms of all or specific provisions, and it 
would also depend on how companies were encouraged, or felt able, to deliver 
those obligations. Many companies have demonstrated, for example, that they 
experience difficulty in delivering business-critical disclosure.  Some of the areas 
where the consultation paper is calling for more disclosure are in areas where 
understanding the concept of materiality has always proven a problem.  This issue 
needs to be addressed before a formal OFR mechanism is introduced. 
 


Qu.10 As detailed above, the Business Review provisions require information essential to 
assessing how the directors of the company have fulfilled their obligations to 
promote the long term success of the company (s172 and s417 of the Companies 
Act 2006).  Reporting on the role and contribution of stakeholders in creating value 
in the business model remains an area which is poorly understood, and 
implemented.  Asking companies to disclose more meaningfully on issues relating 
to their reputation among stakeholders, and the issue of reputational risk, would 
help develop thinking and practice in this area. 
 
Some companies provide more expansive reports on social and environmental 
issues published via alternative media forms, and feel that duplication of effort will 
result, if a requirement to disclose further information in the Business Review is 
introduced.  However, the annual report should take precedence in terms of the 
location of relevant content, and shareholders, as well as other stakeholders, 
should be able to go to that document first to view material non-financial disclosure. 
 


Qu.12 Although ICSA appreciates the argument that an advisory vote on the Business 
Review would ensure it received due attention, and would enable shareholders to 
challenge on issues where they were not content, there is a stronger argument for 
encouraging shareholders to engage on an ongoing basis with the company.  
Negative voting is not the most productive form of open dialogue, and rarely 
provides a mechanism for constructive feedback.   
 
Given that there are also suggestions from the EU that there should an advisory 
vote on the Corporate Governance Statement in financial services companies – a 
practice that might extend to all listed companies – our general feeling is that the 
increase of multiple advisory votes on sections of the annual report and accounts is 
not helpful.  A board of directors should be held to account for all aspects of the 
company‟s activities, and not specific sections.   
 


Qu. 13 
 


As explained above, ICSA considers that the non-regulatory solution which best 
increases the probability of imposing the quality of disclosure is by acknowledging 
and rewarding excellence through an awards process.  We would be happy to 
discuss further with you, along with Hermes colleagues, what more we could do in 
this area. 
 


Qu. 14 The current disclosure requirements for remuneration are specific, and disclosure 







is generally good.  Disclosure on performance criteria for payments to directors, 
and how this relates to the company‟s strategy, demonstrable links between pay 
and performance, and the process by which remuneration is decided, are all areas 
which can be patchy.  However, we generally feel that companies should be free to 
adopt remuneration practices relevant to their circumstances and it should be a 
matter between the company and its shareholders, principally, as to what 
information should be disclosed.  Rather than prescriptive legal requirements, 
guidance and education as to the types of information that shareholders might find 
beneficial would be more helpful to companies and shareholders.   
 


Qu.S.30 We do not support the suggestion that the narrative report should be limited to a 
summary of strategic issues with more detailed supporting information presented 
separately for those requiring it.  High-quality disclosure requires supporting 
information, not least on issues such as risk, and the overall narrative needs to be 
a rounded picture representing the various aspects of the business model, of which 
strategy is only a part. 


 
Conclusion 
 
Narrative reporting has improved but the bar needs to be raised across all sizes and types of 
company.  Legacy issues of previous companies‟ acts, confusion as to the audience and content, 
and lack of skill in determining issues of materiality are some of the causes which have, 
collectively, led to poor-quality and sometimes bland and legalistic disclosures, rather than useful 
communication and information.  
 
There cannot be a prescriptive „one size fits all‟ solution to the challenge of improving standards 
of narrative reporting.  What is most needed is a clearly-articulated vision from the centre on what 
narrative reporting should seek to achieve, the benefits to all parties in achieving higher 
standards, and more leadership from within companies to commit to higher standards. All players 
should be encouraged to buy into the concept that high standards of disclosure are an aspect of 
good governance and, through an improved company reputation, can become a business 
enabler. 
 
Finally, awards have an important role to play in supporting high standards of narrative disclosure 
and can serve to strengthen the incentives which need to be introduced to deliver sustained 
improvements in performance. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
 
 
Seamus Gillen 
Director of Policy 
ICSA 
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Jane Leavens 
Corporate Law & Governance Directorate 
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills 
1 Victoria Street 
London 
SW1H 0ET Email  


  5 November 2010 
 


Dear Jane 


The Future of Narrative Reporting – A Consultation 


1. Introduction 


1.1. Mazars, the integrated international accounting organisation, is pleased to submit its views 
on the above consultation. 


1.2. We welcome the consultation as we believe narrative reporting is a vital element of 
corporate reporting and has traditionally received less emphasis than that given to the 
financial statements. 


2. Further legislation not necessary 


2.1. We are not persuaded of the need for legislative reform at this stage.  The requirements 
related to business reviews seem to be broadly accepted and for quoted companies the 
difference between those applicable and the proposals in the original Reporting Standard 
on the Operating Financial Review, that was not implemented in the event, are not very 
significant.  Furthermore, it does not seem an appropriate time to be introducing 
additional requirements for unlisted entities as we should be seeking to minimise the 
regulatory burdens on them in order to give them maximum encouragement to grow and 
to create new jobs in our economy. 


3. Supplementary reporting guidance to the UK Corporate Governance Code 


3.1. Consideration might be given to whether a broadly-based working party of business and 
professional leaders should be convened to provide further guidance to audit committees 
(and finance directors) on the key elements of high quality reporting to supplement that in 
section C.1 of the code. There has been much emphasis over the years on providing the 
necessary information to comply with the relevant requirements but we should also focus 
on the importance of not just providing the  information but seeing the need for directors 
to present it in a way that enables them to communicate effectively with their owners and 
others on their stewardship of the business. Guidance might, for instance, encourage 
directors to consider order and layout in terms of their impact on how effectively key 
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messages are conveyed in the annual report.  Moreover, the business review should be 
written in the directors’ own words.  A review could also look at how to ensure that 
narrative reporting is properly balanced and the checks directors should make on the 
reliability of information included in the business review. 


4.  Annual standalone report from the FRC on good practice reporting 


4.1. The Financial Reporting Review Panel produces an annual activity report which includes 
some comments on its findings of its review of around 300 accounts each year. The FRC 
or the FRRP also produces occasional reports on individual issues, the FRC having the 
scope to look at good practice whereas the FRRP needs to be more focused on compliance 
with the law and standards. The current arrangements broadly work well but they could be 
further enhanced by the FRC producing a dedicated annual review for boards on good 
practice reporting bringing together all its work during the year in the area  so as to 
produce a 'must read' publication for audit committees and finance directors. 


5. Reviewing the higgledy-piggledy growth of narrative reporting requirements 


5.1. Narrative reporting has developed in a fairly higgledy-piggledy fashion over a number of 
years with a variety of different disclosures emerging, eg those relating to the enhanced 
business review, other longstanding directors' report disclosures, additions from the 
Transparency Directive, those relating to directors remuneration and other corporate 
governance disclosures. It would be timely to take a holistic look at narrative reporting 
and ask a number of questions. The way in which companies present information differs, 
eg some include the business review within the directors' report, others present it as a 
separate section. Would a move to a more common style of presentation enable investors 
to access information more easily? Are we making sufficient use of technology, eg the 
annual report could provide an overview in some areas, such as those related to 
remuneration and CSR, with more detailed information available on the website and 
suitably cross-referenced to the annual report.  Are all the traditional directors' report 
requirements still necessary?  In undertaking any review regard should be had to 
international initiatives already underway. 


6. Relaunch of a prestigious annual award for annual reports 


6.1. The Institutes of Chartered Accountants and the London Stock Exchange used to organise 
an annual award for annual reports with a distinguished panel of judges determining the 
winners but this ceased some years ago. There are a few other awards operating but they 
are not seen as being as authoritative. A new award scheme with the backing of investors, 
the London Stock Exchange, The Quoted Companies Alliance representing smaller and 
mid-tier quoted companies, The Hundred Group of Finance Directors, the accountancy 
profession and maybe BIS and /or the FRC could play a significant role in promoting 
good practice in corporate reporting. As well as overall winners, the award could have a 
number of separate categories (eg one relating to narrative reporting) and recognition 
could be given to all companies reaching a certain absolute standard.   


7. Information to be provided with preliminary announcements 


7.1. There is a widespread view that the market is mainly interested in the publication of the 
preliminary announcement rather than the later publication of the annual report. There 







5 November 2010 


  3/3


 


would be therefore be merit in reviewing the timing of publication of narrative reporting 
information. 


8. Further discussion  


8.1. If there are any issues in this response which you would like to discuss further please do 
not hesitate to contact Anthony Carey. 


 
Yours faithfully 


  
Mazars LLP 
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Value of narrative reporting  
 
Question 1: Are company directors providing useful and relevant 
information on the company’s: 


i) forward-looking strategy and  
ii) principal risks and opportunities? 


 
Comments 
 
Listed companies are providing useful information on their forward-
looking strategy and principal risks and opportunities but the quality of 
narrative reporting in these areas is variable and there is scope for 
enhancing it in some instances. 
 
On risks and opportunities, some boards could improve the linkage in 
their annual reports between their principal risks and how they are being 
managed whilst in some other instances a clearer distinction between 
principal risks and other risks would be helpful. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Question 2: What are the constraints on companies providing information 
on these issues? 
 
Comments 
 
The constraints would include: 


- absence of a clear strategy or of high quality information on risk,  
- insufficient focus on high quality reporting leading to relatively 


poor disclosures 
- fear of litigation, especially if the company has a US listing, eg 


leading to a tendency to list many risks 
- commercial confidentiality concerns leading to vagueness on 


future strategy 
- a consciously emergent strategy making the discussion of future 


strategy inherently very tentative.    
 
 
 
 







 
 


 
 
Question 3: Does the information provided reflect the issues discussed by 
the directors in board meetings?  
 
Comments 
 
It should do but the extent to which it does in the case of a particular 
company will depend on the extent to which some of the issues 
discussed in the response to Question 2 are present.  
 
Concerns are sometimes heard that the principal risks identified by 
some companies are fairly generic with regards to the industries or 
markets concerned and that there is scope for them to be more 
company specific. That said there are some natural limits to the extent 
of disclosure, for example if there is concern in the marketplace on the 
quality of some members of the management team it would be hard 
realistically to expect this matter to be disclosed as a risk whether or not 
there had been board or committee discussions of it. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







Question 4: Does the information help shareholders to press directors on 
key issues relating to strategy and risk, or inform their business decisions?  
 
Comments 
 
If the information is of the appropriate quality it clearly will assist 
shareholders in asking directors questions on key issues relating to 
strategy and risk. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
Question 5: If a company does not provide sufficient or material 
information to you, do you challenge it? Is there anything which could help 
you to do so?   
 
Comments 
 
As auditors our formal responsibilities are limited to reviewing whether 
any information in the narrative part of the annual report is inconsistent 
with that in the financial statements. This naturally does not preclude us 
from making suggestions to the client on information contained, or not 
contained, in the business review, corporate governance or directors’ 
report. 
 
There are currently suggestions that information contained in the 
business review, or part thereof for example in relation to future strategy 
and risk management should be subject to a fuller degree of assurance.  
We believe it would be helpful to further explore these issues with 
shareholders, especially institutional shareholders, and to ask them 
what form of additional assurance, if any, they would find valuable and 
whether the benefits they would gain would justify any additional costs 
involved.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 







Question 6: What other sources of company information do you use and 
how valuable are they (e.g. information provided on the website, analysts’ 
briefings, dialogue with the company, corporate social responsibility 
report)? 
 
Comments 
 
There are plenty of other sources of information on companies, a 
number of which are set out in the question. Depending on the 
circumstances, they will be of varying degrees of relevance and 
reliability to shareholders. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







Question 7: Is there scope to reduce or simplify the requirements on which 
companies report?   
 
Comments 
 
We broadly support the current requirements and the differentiation in 
them that is drawn between fully listed and other companies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Question 8: Is there scope to arrange the information in a more useful way?  
 
Comments 
 
This question alludes to a very important issue for discussion, namely 
that the quality of reporting depends on the presentation and ordering of 
information as well as the fact that particular information is included.  
 
There has been a strong tendency in recent times to focus on the 
provision of necessary information and rather less on how presentation 
and ordering can have a significant impact on the messages conveyed. 
For example, if important information is concealed among voluminous 
disclosures of less relevance, key messages may be hidden. We 
therefore support FRC’s project on reducing complexity and clutter in 
annual reporting.  
 
A full review of which information should be required to be published in 
the annual report and which may be provided by way of the company’s 
website is also long overdue. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







Business Review 
 
Question 9: Looking at an Operating & Financial Review and the existing 
business review (see Annex D), do you see value in reinstating elements of 
an OFR and if so what would they be? In particular, would a statutory 
reporting standard help to improve the quality of reporting?   
 
Comments 
 
For fully listed companies the Companies Act 2006 reinstated much of 
that which was lost when the OFR was originally replaced by the 
business review and the last redraft of the UK Code on Corporate 
Governance now calls on listed companies to disclose their business 
model. 
 
On cost/benefit grounds, we do not on balance see merit, especially at 
this stage in the economic cycle, in reintroducing the above 
requirements for other companies, eg AIM-listed companies and private 
companies required to prepare a business review.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Question 10: The business review provisions require quoted companies to 
report, to the extent necessary, on:  
 main trends and factors likely to affect the future development, 


performance and position of the company’s business 
 information on environmental matters 
 information on employees 
 information on social and community matters 
 persons with whom the company has essential contractual and other 


relationships   
i) is this information useful to you?  How do you use it? 
ii) Could disclosure be improved? If so, how?  
iii) Are there key issues which are missing? If so, please explain? 


 
Comments 







 
We believe this information is generally useful to readers of annual 
reports . 
 
As previously discussed, the quality of disclosure provided does vary 
between companies and so the issue of whether improvements could be 
made in disclosure will need to be looked at on a company by company 
basis. 
 
We are not aware of any key issues that are missing from disclosure 
requirements when one has regard also to the UK Code on Corporate 
Governance for listed companies.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







Question 11: Would more guidance be helpful?  If so, what form should this 
take? For example, best practice example, sample Key Performance 
Indicators, etc?  
 
Comments 
 
We do not believe there is a need for more statutory guidance  
 
There may be merit in the development of a Reporting Standard or 
alternatively non-mandatory guidance on the business review, including 
the enhanced disclosures for quoted companies. Such a standard would 
have significant regard to the content of the existing Reporting Standard 
on the Operating and Financial Review. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Question 12: Should there be a shareholder’s advisory vote on the 
Business Review? 
 
Comments 
 
We would, in principle, support a shareholder’s advisory vote as it 
would increase the attention paid by investors, and in particular 
institutional investors, to the information contained in the Business 
Review if they were asked to vote on it.  The views of shareholders 
would be very important on this matter. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







Question 13: Are there non-regulatory solutions to increasing quality 
through better guidance or publicising excellence in business reports? If 
so, what? 
 
Comments 
 
We also support best practice guidance, probably from the FRC, based 
on reviews of annual reports of listed companies. 
 
In addition, there is scope for an authoritative set of awards for high 
quality reporting, including narrative reporting, especially with respect 
to that by listed companies. 
 
We are not persuaded of the merits of generic lists of, for example, KPIs. 
There will be a risk that they will be adopted as a standard list of 
measures whereas we believe those reported on should be company-
specific and based on the measures actually used by the board and 
management to steer its business.     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







Directors’ Remuneration Report 
 
Question 14: Do the current disclosure requirements provide clear and 
usable information about:  


 the total remuneration paid to directors, and how this is made up; 
 the performance criteria for payments to directors, and how 


these relate to the company’s strategic objectives; 
 company performance against these criteria, so that there is a 


demonstrable link between pay and performance.; 
 the process by which directors’ remuneration is decided? 


 
 
Comments 
 
The current arrangements with regard to director’s remuneration seem 
broadly to be working satisfactorily and we would not propose changing 
them at present.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Costs 
  
Question 15:  
If you can provide any information on costs associated either with the 
existing narrative reporting requirements eg preparing your business 
review or your views on potential costs and benefits in relation to any of 
the ideas in this consultation, please give details    
 
 
Comments 
 
We doi not have any such information readily available. 
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Jane Leavens  
Corporate Law & Governance Directorate  
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills 
1 Victoria Street 
London 
SW1H 0ET 
 
Narrativereporting@bis.gsi.gov.uk 
 
 
15 November 2010       
 
 
Dear Ms. Leavens, 
 
BIS – The Future of Narrative Reporting 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The Quoted Companies Alliance (QCA) is a not-for-profit membership organisation working for small 
and mid-cap quoted companies.  Their individual market capitalisations tend to be below £500m.    
 
The QCA is a founder member of EuropeanIssuers, which represents over 9,000 quoted companies 
in fourteen European countries. 
 
The QCA Corporate Governance and Financial Reporting Committees has examined your proposals 
and advised on this response.  A list of committee members is at Appendix A. 
 
RESPONSE 
 
The Quoted Companies Alliance is pleased to comment on the above consultation.  We warmly 
welcome the consultation as narrative reporting is a critically important element of corporate reporting 
which has often been in the shadow of the audited financial statements with regards to the attention 
paid to it by companies and regulators.  We seek to promote high quality narrative reporting in our 
Corporate Reporting Charter, a copy of which is enclosed. 
 
No support for legislative or regulatory reform 
We do not believe there is currently a case for legislative or regulatory reform in relation to narrative 
reporting and would urge that no additional reporting burdens be placed on smaller quoted companies 
at this stage, as every effort should be made to reduce the costs of regulation for them in order to 
enable them to maximise their growth and thereby create much needed new employment in the UK 
economy, as we build our way out of recession. 
 
Good practice reporting 
We would support non mandatory initiatives to highlight how companies can ensure their narrative 
reporting, and corporate reporting generally, is of a high standard. These should both encompass the 
processes to be followed by management and the board to facilitate this outcome and the key features 
which underpin high quality reporting.  The QCA itself has produced a guidance booklet, Guidance for 
Smaller Quoted Companies on preparing a Business Review (August 2006), which provides small and 
mid-cap quoted companies practical assistance in developing their own narrative reporting on areas 
covered by the Business Review.  We have also enclosed this with our response.   
 


The Quoted Companies Alliance 
6 Kinghorn Street 
London EC1A 7HW 
Tel: +44 20 7600 3745 
Fax: +44 20 7600 8288 


 
Web: www.theqca.com 
Email: mail@theqca.com 
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Good practice examples of narrative reporting, especially by quoted companies of different sizes 
under relevant headings and perhaps with an explanatory commentary might also be helpful and could 
be produced under the auspices of FRC.  The QCA would support this and would be very willing to 
actively promote such a publication to its membership and to the wider constituency of smaller quoted 
companies. 
 
A prestigious award for high quality reporting 
We believe there is scope for encouragement of best practice in narrative reporting through initiatives 
such as a new prestigious scheme of self financing awards for high quality reporting backed probably 
by BIS, FEE (Federation of European Accountants), the London Stock Exchange, professional bodies, 
investors/shareholders, representative bodies for quoted companies, and potentially other users of 
accounts (e.g. stockbrokers).  The QCA would be willing to play its full part in the development and 
promotion of such an initiative. 
 
Strategic review of corporate reporting requirements 
There would be merit in a strategic review of corporate reporting requirements to see which need to 
continue to be met by being provided in paper form in the annual report and which could be satisfied 
by publication on the company’s website.  When it comes to reporting, the requirements still seems to 
be focused on a largely pre-electronic age. 
 
Further discussion 
If you would like to discuss further any points in our response, we would be pleased to attend a 
meeting. 
 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 


 
 
Tim Ward 
Chief Executive 
 
 
Enc: QCA Response to BIS – The Future of Narrative Reporting – Questions 


Guidance for Smaller Quoted Companies on Preparing a Business Review (August       2006) – 
PDF version 
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The Quoted Companies Alliance is committed to working with boards, »»
investors, regulators and standard-setters to promoting high quality 
corporate reporting by quoted companies, especially smaller quoted 
companies.


We will encourage the boards of quoted companies to be aware of the importance of high quality 
reporting in order that the market can have confidence in their businesses and in the information 
provided by companies generally.  In order to undertake our work effectively, we will work with 
investors to better understand their information needs.  We will also encourage standard-setters, 
regulators and others to set standards and other requirements that meet the genuine needs of 
investors in a practical way.


We seek to foster a culture of continuous improvement in corporate »»
reporting.   


We will encourage companies to keep their corporate reporting under regular review and to seek 
ways of responding to changing market needs.  Information provided should be understandable, 
avoid unnecessary complexity, be presented in a timely fashion and in a format that makes use of 
modern technology where appropriate.  We will similarly encourage regulators and standard-setters 
to remain responsive to marketplace changes and to provide information to preparers on good 
practice and on reporting issues which companies generally need to address.  Standard-setters 
should also take a strategic rather than a piecemeal approach to their work and should periodically 
seek to eliminate requirements which have not been found to provide useful information. 


We believe the concept of stewardship lies at the heart of good »»
corporate reporting.


Directors are responsible to the shareholders for the long-term success of their businesses and 
this will have a bearing both on what they are expected to report on and the most suitable method 
of measurement in financial statements.  It is likely to have implications, for example, for the 
circumstances in which fair values are used and for what is considered to be the most appropriate 
means of measuring fair value in particular situations. 


Corporate reporting requirements should be subject to robust cost-»»
benefit tests. 


Standard-setters need to carefully assess the costs compared to the benefits of introducing 
requirements and to avoid unintended consequences wherever possible.  To do this, they need 
to be conscious of the risks of a ‘one-size-fits-all’ approach since quoted companies encompass 
both global companies with a market valuation of tens of billions of pounds and smaller quoted 


The QCA Financial Reporting Committee’s
Corporate Reporting Charter







Standard-setters should be in close touch with their marketplace.  »»
In a fast-changing modern market economy, if standards are to reflect economic reality and to be 
practical, the standard-setters need to be fully in touch with their marketplace.  Standard-setters as a 
team should have substantial current or recent practical experience of operating in the marketplace 
as a user, preparer or adviser.  They should also be drawn from a broad range of backgrounds, 
including those related to smaller quoted companies as well as to global corporations.


We press for accounting standards which properly reflect economic »»
reality when implemented.


Standards when applied, as well as when written, should focus on principles and not rules, enabling 
appropriate judgement to be exercised, and in their drafting should take account of practical 
concerns raised when they are being prepared.  In measurement terms, a theoretically optimum 
solution may turn out to be sub-optimal if, for example, the assumptions of active markets are not 
met in practice.  A mission to reflect economic reality also calls for post-implementation reviews of 
issues arising.  Furthermore, investors may well wish to distinguish between those profits that have 
between realised in cash and those that have not.  Moreover, how best to reflect economic reality 
may be impacted by the time horizon over which performance is being measured.  Further work 
on what is meant by, and how best to capture, economic reality in financial statements would be 
helpful.  There should be a pre-eminent emphasis on economic reality when standard-setters agree 
on convergence programmes.


We emphasise the importance of good narrative reporting as an »»
integral part of corporate reporting.


Whilst the focus on narrative reporting is increasing, it has traditionally tended to be the ‘Cinderella’ 
of the corporate reporting model. To enable the development of a business to be seen in its proper 
context, it is essential that high quality information be provided on its strategy, its key risks and how 
they are being managed, the KPIs used to manage the business, current performance and future 
prospects, and its corporate governance.


companies with one of a relatively few million pounds.  Moreover, there should be a clear and public 
consensus between boards, investors, standard-setters, regulators and auditors on how materiality 
is to be applied in practice by companies when preparing their financial statements.  A proportionate 
approach to corporate reporting that focuses on significant disclosures and avoids clutter in the 
financial statements with immaterial disclosures will both improve the quality of corporate reporting 
and reduce the costs of providing relevant information.  





		QCA Response to BIS - Future of Narrative Reporting Cover Letter - Nov 10 final.pdf

		CorpReportingCharter_Feb10.pdf






 
 
 
Consultation response form: The Future of Narrative Reporting  


 
A copy of the consultation available at: http://www.bis.gov.uk/consultations. 


 
Responses to the Consultation by be received by 19 October 2010 


 
Name: The Quoted Companies Alliance 
 
Organisation (if applicable): 
 
Address: 6 Kinghorn Street 


      London 
      EC1A 7HW 


                   
Email:       
 
Return completed forms to: 
Jane Leavens  


Corporate Law & Governance Directorate  


Department for Business, Innovation and Skills 


1 Victoria Street 


London 


SW1H 0ET 


 


Tel: 020 7215 1686 


Narrativereporting@bis.gsi.gov.uk 
 


Please tick the box from the following list of options that best describes you: 
 
 Quoted company 
 Other company  
 Investor or investment manager 


X Business representative organisation 
 Investor representative organisation  
 Non governmental organisation (NGO) 
 Trade Union 
    Lawyer or accountant 
 Other (e.g. consultant or private individual) 
 
Value of narrative reporting  
 



http://www.bis.gov.uk/consultations

mailto:Narrativereporting@bis.gsi.gov.uk





Question 1: Are company directors providing useful and relevant 
information on the company’s: 


i) forward-looking strategy and  
ii) principal risks and opportunities? 


 


Comments 
 
We believe smaller listed companies are providing useful information on their forward-looking 
strategy and principal risks and opportunities.  
 
There will naturally always be opportunities for companies to enhance the quality of their 
narrative reporting and we would support non-regulatory initiatives that seek to achieve this 
goal. 
 
We believe that the most effective advocate for such change will be a company’s 
shareholders. 


 
 
 
Question 2: What are the constraints on companies providing information on 
these issues? 
 
Comments 
 
For smaller quoted companies, constraints include a lack of resources and, linked to this, 


knowledge of best practice and where to obtain guidance. 


 
Question 3: Does the information provided reflect the issues discussed by 
the directors in board meetings?  
 
Comments 
 
We would hope the information provided does reflect the issues discussed by the Board.  
However, smaller quoted companies, in particular, may be concerned that some disclosures 
in the Business Review may reveal commercially sensitive information, eg the risks resulting 
from a reliance on a small number of key suppliers or customers, which, if openly highlighted 
in the annual report, could weaken the company’s negotiating position.  
 
Boards consider two types of issues: 
 


 ‘matters in hand’ and transactions; and 


 strategic issues 
 
Narrative reporting will and should only ever relate to some of these points and only those 
which are relevant. 







 


Question 4: Does the information help shareholders to press directors on 
key issues relating to strategy and risk, or inform their business decisions?  
 
Comments 
 
The information should help shareholders to press directors on key issues relating to strategy 
and risk, assuming it is of the necessary quality. 


 


  
Question 5: If a company does not provide sufficient or material information 
to you, do you challenge it? Is there anything which could help you to do 
so?   
 
Comments 
 
We view this question as not applicable to an organisation representing small and mid-cap 
quoted companies. 


   


Question 6: What other sources of company information do you use and 
how valuable are they (e.g. information provided on the website, analysts’ 
briefings, dialogue with the company, corporate social responsibility 
report)? 
 
Comments 
 
A number of alternative sources of company information are available as set out in the 
question.  The differing sources will be of varying degrees of relevance and reliability to 
shareholders and others. 
 
We particularly welcome companies placing analyst and shareholder presentations on their 
websites, including, where relevant, transcripts, to ensure transparency.  These materials 
should be a relevant balanced summary and a useful resource. 


 







 


Question 7: Is there scope to reduce or simplify the requirements on which 
companies report?   
 


Comments 
 
We broadly support the current requirements and the differentiation in them that is drawn 
between fully listed and other companies. 
 
As a general policy, we do not support a ‘one size fits all’ approach for quoted companies 
given the enormous difference in nature, size and complexity of a smaller quoted company 
with a market capitalisation of well under £100m compared with a globally quoted business 
with a capitalisation of tens of billion pounds sterling at the upper end. 
 
 
Question 8: Is there scope to arrange the information in a more useful way?  
 


Comments 
 
We strongly believe the presentation and ordering of information is very important as well as 
the fact that particular information is included.  However, there will be different priorities for 
different businesses as well as for different stages in a company’s development.  It would not 
be useful therefore to define a hierarchy that must be adopted.  Nonetheless, a culture of 
transparency and improvement should be promoted.    
 
The presentation and ordering can have a significant impact on the messages conveyed.  If 
important information is concealed among voluminous disclosures of less relevance, key 
messages may be hidden or, at least, diluted in impact. We therefore continue to strongly 
support FRC’s project on reducing complexity and clutter in annual reporting.  
 
There would also be merits in reviewing which information should be required to be published 
in the annual report and which may be provided by way of the company’s website.  Reporting 
requirements are still to a very large extent in a pre-electronic age. 


 
 


 


 


Business Review 
 
Question 9: Looking at an Operating & Financial Review and the existing 
business review (see Annex D), do you see value in reinstating elements of 
an OFR and if so what would they be? In particular, would a statutory 
reporting standard help to improve the quality of reporting?   
 
 
 
 
 
 







Comments 
 
In the case of fully listed companies, the Companies Act 2006 reinstated much of that which 
was lost when the OFR was originally replaced by the Business Review and the UK 
Corporate Governance Code now calls on listed companies to disclose their business model. 
 
The onus is on companies to disclose all material information and additional regulation risks 
encouraging clutter by promoting companies to make irrelevant disclosures.  In any event, 
such information should have been disclosed in compliance with the Listing Rules, AIM Rules 
and PLUS Markets rules as appropriate.  Narrative reporting should promote the quality 
analysis of factual and material information. 
 
We do not see merit, in particular at this stage in the economic cycle, in reintroducing the 
above requirements, especially for companies quoted on exchange regulated markets, eg 
AIM and PLUS-quoted companies.  


 
 


Question 10: The business review provisions require quoted companies to 
report, to the extent necessary, on:  


 main trends and factors likely to affect the future development, 
performance and position of the company’s business 


 information on environmental matters 


 information on employees 


 information on social and community matters 


 persons with whom the company has essential contractual and other 
relationships   


i) is this information useful to you?  How do you use it? 
ii) Could disclosure be improved? If so, how?  
iii) Are there key issues which are missing? If so, please explain? 


 
Comments 
 
We believe disclosures set out in the question are generally useful to readers of annual 
reports. 
 
We believe the increased dissemination of good practice reporting examples by quoted 
companies could help improve the overall quality of narrative reporting. 
 
We do not believe that there are any key issues that are missing from disclosure 
requirements when one also takes into account the UK Corporate Governance Code.   


 
 


Question 11: Would more guidance be helpful?  If so, what form should this 
take? For example, best practice example, sample Key Performance 
Indicators, etc?  







 
Comments 
 
We would not support more statutory guidance on narrative reporting. 
 
We would see merit in the development of non-mandatory guidance on the Business Review, 
including the enhanced review, and have produced a guide, Guidance for Smaller Quoted 
Companies on preparing a Business Review (August 2006), which provides small and mid-
cap quoted companies practical assistance in developing their own narrative reporting on 
areas covered by the Business Review.  Any guidance produced needs to be high-level and 
non-prescriptive and it is difficult to see how any additional guidance may be substantially 
different from the current reporting standard. 
 
We would not favour providing best practice examples of KPIs as such an approach tends to 
lead to boilerplate reporting with the template being adopted on more occasions than those 
where it is relevant.  There may, however, be merit in listing different types of KPIs (sample 
KPIs) from which companies could draw on when preparing their Business Reviews. 


 
 


Question 12: Should there be a shareholder’s advisory vote on the Business 
Review? 
 
Comments 
 
In principle, we can see some merit in a shareholder’s advisory vote as it may increase the 
attention paid by investors to the information contained in the Business Review.  The views of 
shareholders would be very important on this matter. 
 
On balance, however, we are not persuaded on cost/benefit grounds of the merits of adding 
to current AGM requirements at present.  Voting against the report and accounts is the 
currently available mechanism to express concerns about a company’s reporting.  A 
shareholder with concerns should engage with the company about its concerns and so an 
additional vote is not necessarily desired.  


 
 


Question 13: Are there non-regulatory solutions to increasing quality 
through better guidance or publicising excellence in business reports? If so, 
what? 
 
Comments 
 
Please see our comments on Question 11.  We would support best practice guidance, 
probably from the FRC, based on reviews of annual reports of quoted companies. 
 
We also consider there is an opportunity for the promotion of a prestigious set of awards for 
high quality reporting, including narrative reporting, especially for quoted companies.  We 
would be pleased to discuss how we might contribute to such an initiative as the 
representative body for small and mid-cap quoted companies.   


 
 







Directors’ Remuneration Report 
 


Question 14: Do the current disclosure requirements provide clear and 
usable information about:  


 the total remuneration paid to directors, and how this is made up; 


 the performance criteria for payments to directors, and how 
these relate to the company’s strategic objectives; 


 company performance against these criteria, so that there is a 
demonstrable link between pay and performance.; 


 the process by which directors’ remuneration is decided?] 
 
Comments 
 
We would not support changing the current arrangements with regard to director’s 
remuneration at present.  They appear to be operating in a broadly satisfactory manner. 


 


Costs 
  
Question 15:  
If you can provide any information on costs associated either with the 
existing narrative reporting requirements eg preparing your business 
review or your views on potential costs and benefits in relation to any of 
the ideas in this consultation, please give details    
 
 
Comments 
 
We do not have any quantitative evidence on the costs associated with narrative reporting 
requirements readily available.  However, it is clear that Boards that take such narrative 
reporting requirements seriously devote many hours to such matters.   
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This guide aims to help QCA members


to prepare their Business Reviews, the


requirement under the EU directive


which survived the recent abolition of


the Operating and Financial Review


(OFR). Now there is clarity over the


government's intentions in this regard,


we hope that this guidance will provide


practical assistance to QCA members


in developing their own narrative


reporting on the areas covered by the


Business Review. 


We hope that by producing best 


practice guidelines which we have


developed alongside our peer 


organisations in the pan-European


Unique group, as well as with 


institutional investors, we can avoid


the need for detailed prescriptive 


guidance from regulators or 


governments. We believe that better


reporting more tailored to individual


companies will result from flexible best


practice guidance such as this 


publication, rather than from detailed


prescription. The Accounts


Modernisation Directive uses similar


language to the legal requirements for


the OFR, but is less detailed, leaving a


looser framework for reporting. This


should give much more scope for 


flexibility.


The Business Review is an opportunity


for companies to communicate openly


and directly with their shareholders,


and thereby to win additional 


investment and lower their cost of 


capital. It need not be seen as a cost


burden, particularly if companies seize


it as an opportunity to set out their


stall for current and prospective 


shareholders rather than feeling


obliged to comply with rigid guidelines. 


Those companies which already 


produce outlines of their activities and


changes over the year in their 


statements at the start of their Annual


Report will find that they need to


develop this in a limited way to fulfil


the Business Review requirements. A


short but balanced analysis of strategy


and future prospects from a financial


and operational position will be of


greater value to shareholders than


lengthy ‘boilerplate’.


INTRODUCTION
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There is little detail in the EU’s


Accounts Modernisation Directive


about what must be included in the


Business Review. This welcome 


flexibility leaves only a basic 


framework which can be approached


by each board and each company in


the way which they believe is most


appropriate to their circumstances. An


outline of the law which the UK has put


in place to implement the Directive is


included as an Appendix to this guide.


The demand for a Business Review is a


simple one: traditional financial 


reporting is essentially backward-


looking and leaves out much 


information which shareholders value.


In particular, shareholders are keen to


understand the future drivers of the


company’s operations, they want to


know what are the key risks and that


they are being effectively managed,


and they want to gain an insight into


the board's thinking on the future.


Shareholders need to understand the


potential for the company, not just its


past or its current state.


Good boards assess past and current


performance to ensure management is


taking the company forwards, but they


avoid getting so tied up in the past


that they cannot think about the future


direction of the company; much 


THE BUSINESS REVIEW


corporate reporting only looks at the


past and does not open a window on


the future. Boards which demonstrate


that they have at least one eye to the


future are more likely to convince


shareholders that it is worth investing


or continuing to invest.


The QCA hopes that its members will


be able to avoid their Business Reviews


getting buried in detail, and instead


keep in mind the overarching aims of


such reporting. This short guidance


aims to be brief and accessible for the


management of small companies, 


keeping the focus on the macro- rather


than the micro-level. We believe that


your shareholders would also prefer a


brief broad-brush approach to 


excessive degrees of detail.


Business Reviews are most likely to


achieve their overarching aim if they


are written genuinely to reflect the


unique attributes of each company.


This will avoid the boilerplate which is


rightly seen by boards as a waste of


their time and similarly seen by share-


holders as worthless. It is best 


controlled by market-based 


mechanisms whereby disclosure can be


developed over time through 


discussion between boards and long-


term shareholders, rather than by


detailed legislation or formulaic rules.
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HOW DOES THE BUSINESS REVIEW DIFFER FROM
WHAT IS ALREADY PROVIDED IN THE CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT AND CEO AND FD REPORTS?


It needn’t differ much. In fact, those


companies which already produce 


outlines of their activities and changes


over the year in their statements at


the start of the Annual Report will find


they need to develop this only partly to


fulfil the Business Review requirements


- though see below for where this


should be published. 


These developments will be to fit the


existing form of disclosures into the


outline Business Review framework,


including an analysis of changes and


performance over the year, a view on


the state of the company and its likely


future development, and a description


of key risks. A little more is likely to be


needed by way of concrete key 


performance indicators (KPIs), and a


discussion is necessary of 


environmental, employee, and social


and community issues, where these are


relevant. Each of these areas is 


covered in this guidance.
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WHERE SHOULD 
BUSINESS REVIEWS BE 
PUBLISHED?


The new protections for directors in


relation to narrative reporting which


we expect to pass as part of the


Company Law Reform Bill extend to


the Directors' Report and the


Remuneration Report (and the


Summary Financial Statement where it


is derived from these two). Directors


will be keen to enjoy this protection -


which some call a ‘Safe Harbour’ -


which essentially means that they will


be liable for errors only if they 


deliberately mislead or if they are 


reckless. This means that the Business


Review will need to be published within


a segment of the Annual Report which


is called the Directors’ Report. 


The protection does not seem to


extend to anything outside the


Directors' Report, even if it is published


to fulfil Business Review requirements


and is explicitly referred to. Our strong


recommendation is therefore that all


relevant material is included within the


Business Review within the Directors’


Report.


It should be noted that institutional


investors have publicly supported the


introduction of a ‘safe harbour’ 


protection for directors in the 


expectation that it will lead to better


and more forward-looking corporate


reporting. QCA members should be


aware that their reporting will be 


scrutinised to see that it does indeed


rise to this opportunity.
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WHAT IS THE 
OVERARCHING AIM 
OF THE BUSINESS REVIEW?


This guidance repeatedly refers to the


overarching aim of the Business


Review, because we believe that this


must be the primary focus for 


companies preparing them for the first


time - and keeping it in mind will help


avoid Reviews becoming a waste of


board and of shareholder time.


The legislation states that the purpose


is to inform shareholders and to enable


them to assess how the directors have


performed their duty to promote the 


company in the interests of all 


shareholders. 


The directive requires a ‘balanced and


comprehensive analysis’ of the 


development and performance of the


company over the year - which will 


presumably require an analysis of the


main factors and trends which have


driven that performance - its position at


the year-end, and the risks and 


uncertainties which will impact its


future development. It must be a ‘fair


review’, discussing negative issues as


well as positives.


To fulfil their role, reviews will need to


be prepared to help the shareholders


assess the strategies of the company


and the prospects for their success.
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WHO AND WHAT 
IS THE BUSINESS 
REVIEW FOR?


It is now explicit that the Review is a


vehicle for the board to report directly


to shareholders. While others will


undoubtedly read it, the Review needs


to be designed for use by shareholders,


and must therefore be written with


them in mind.


The Review is not a vehicle for short-


term price sensitive information - this


must continue to be disclosed when


necessary according to the Listing


Rules (or AIM Rules) - and note the


comment on ongoing negotiations and


impending developments in ‘Must we


disclose competitively sensitive infor-


mation?’ below. The Review is more


long-term in its focus and is intended


to include information to enable 


shareholders to make judgements on


the prospects for the company and the


quality of management. Honesty - 


discussing negatives as well as 


positives - will be necessary to build


trust, and boards will be unwise to spin


positive prospects about their 


business, because it is then likely to


prove difficult to explain weak 


performance as it occurs. The Review


needs to give a realistic assessment of


the state of the company and its


prospects.
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WHO SHOULD 
WRITE THE 
BUSINESS REVIEW?


The Review formally is part of the


Directors' Report and so should


describe the company through the


eyes of the board. Smaller companies


will rarely have the funds to pay 


external consultants to create their


Reviews, and are thus likely to rely on


key staff members. In many ways, this


should help smaller companies create


Business Reviews which are more in


tune with the aim of the legislation.


Reviews should be documents which


are owned by the board, and if they


are written by board members, or


closely overseen by them, so much the


better.


This board-level nature of the Business


Review drives two other important


aspects of these documents in our


view: scale and what is worthy of 


inclusion.


First, scale. Thankfully for those board


members who take responsibility for


their creation, Reviews need not be


sizeable documents. This is particularly


true for smaller companies whose


operations will tend to be relatively


small and whose business models 


relatively straightforward. Some FTSE


100 companies produce Business


Review-type operating and financial


reviews which are around 50 pages; we


aren't sure that these are appropriate


or useful for those companies and


their shareholders, and we certainly


think that nothing approaching that


length would be appropriate or helpful


for smaller companies. For many, five


pages would be more than sufficient,


and we believe it will be extremely rare


that a small company will find merit in


creating a Business Review that ran to


a dozen pages. The law specifically


states that the Review should be 


‘consistent with the size and 


complexity of the business’, reinforcing


the view that smaller companies’


reports can and should be brief.


Second, nature of the Review. As the


document should be a board-level view


of the company, it should encompass


all issues which fall to be considered at


board meetings and about which the


board receives regular reports. That


does not mean that every detail seen


by the board must be shared in the


Business Review; far from it. But if an


issue is important enough to fall to the


board for consideration, it is likely to


merit some reference in the Review. 
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Similarly, if a matter does not fall to


the board for consideration and deci-


sion, it is unlikely to merit inclusion in


the Business Review. Shareholders


should not seek to micromanage the


companies in which they invest and so


neither should they seek disclosure of


information which is at the micro level


of those companies. Having said that, it


may be that companies will find that


shareholders ask legitimate questions


about issues of concern which boards


had previously not paid attention to; in


that case, the wise board will rapidly


close the gaps in its own oversight of


the company, and reflect its 


consideration of these issues in future


Reviews. This may be particularly the


case in the areas of environment,


employee and community issues, which


must now actively be considered by


boards for inclusion in their Business


Reviews. Business Reviews will work


best if they are living documents,


reflecting the valuable content of 


discussions at board level and between


companies and their shareholders.
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WHAT SHOULD BE 
IN THE BUSINESS 
REVIEW?


The focus of the Review needs to be a


discussion of the strategy of the 


business, setting a context for past


performance, current position, and


future risks and opportunities. This will


require discussion not of PR-based spin


but of a hard analysis of strategy from


a financial and operational position:


the markets targeted, the positioning


within those markets, and the 


company’s competitive advantage. This


last area will probably involve the most


detailed discussion. If, say, a company


depends on patents for competitive


advantage, some discussion of current


patent protection and investment in


R&D will be necessary. Where a 


company believes it has an advantage


through superior customer service, this


will need to be discussed, as will for


example the staff training which goes


alongside it. And so on. The board will


need to consider disclosing the Key


Performance Indicators (see below)


which it uses to assess and manage


these areas of advantage. This 


indicates the extent to which Reviews


must be directly tailored to each 


individual business and avoid boiler-


plate. 


Above all, shareholders wish to see and


understand how it is that the board will


ensure how shareholder value will be


maximised into the future. It will 


therefore be important to discuss not


just the current sources of competitive


advantage but how competitive market


positions will be defended and


enhanced into the future. If there are


key developments in the company’s


markets, then this will also be of vital


importance.


This discussion of competitive 


advantage can be at a broad-brush


level, we believe, enabling an overview


understanding for shareholders, but


not disclosing information which is 


hidden in any way from market 


participants and competitors. This


theme is developed below under ‘Must


we disclose competitively sensitive


information?’.
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WHAT ABOUT 
RISKS AND 
UNCERTAINTIES?


The way the directive talks about the


future is mainly in terms of “the 


principal risks and uncertainties facing


the company”. It’s clear that no discus-


sion of risks and uncertainties will


make sense without some allied 


commentary on opportunities and aims


for the future, against which those


risks and uncertainties will bite. So the


directive implicitly calls for a 


broad-brush discussion of 


opportunities and threats to the future


prospects of the company. 


It’s also clear that this should not be a 


comprehensive list of all possible risks


to the business but should focus on


those ‘principal’ ones that are 


significant enough to be discussed at


board level (with the same comment as


above, that boards should be open to


expanding what they consider relevant


matters for concern if they receive


helpful input from shareholders). Tying


this disclosure to that required under


the Turnbull guidance will be key to


providing assurance to shareholders


that their board is managing the key


risks which their company faces. This


discussion of threats and risks may be


the right place for disclosures on some


of the environmental, employee and


community matters which are 


discussed further below.
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MUST WE DISCLOSE 
COMPETITIVELY SENSITIVE 
INFORMATION?


The Business Review is a 


communication with shareholders.


They will not want boards to harm


their company's interests with 


excessive disclosure. So boards should


not feel obliged to disclose, for 


example, the exact percentage of the


company's dependence on a key 


supplier or customer. But the Review


will need to make clear that there is an


issue in this regard (such things will in


any case be transparently obvious to


competitors and others operating 


within their sector). It should be 


possible for boards to disclose with a


broad brush the fundamental strategic


issues for their businesses without


going further and disclosing detailed


information which is not clear to 


market participants and which there-


fore might be commercially damaging. 


There is also a specific exception: if


there are “impending developments”


or negotiations are ongoing, directors


need not disclose them if to do so


would seriously damage the interests


of the company.
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WHAT’S ALL 
THIS ABOUT 
KPIs?


The legislation requires every company


to judge its overall performance using


key performance indicators (KPIs). It’s


helpful that there are no specific KPIs


against which companies are required


to report. Instead, the board should


highlight those it believes are relevant.


These may not just be financial 


measures such as those arising from


the accounts, but need to include 


richer measures of performance.


Where relevant, they should include


KPIs on environmental, employee or


community matters. These KPIs should


be disclosed - not necessarily the 


target levels, just the criteria against


which the board judges corporate


progress. Rare companies - particularly


perhaps those with early stage 


technologies in development - might


want also to note milestone 


performance targets. There should be


enough discussion of how these 


measures are developed and used to


give shareholders a rounded discussion


of the performance metrics used.


As the intention is that the Business


Review should allow a clearer view of


the prospects of the business, 


shareholders will want an insight into


how it is that boards judge 


performance and stretch management


to perform into the future. That is what


the discussion of KPIs should do. The


most useful KPIs will therefore be


those which give a rounded view of the


future of the company rather than


those simply reiterating the current


financial position.
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DO WE NEED TO DISCUSS 
CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND 
OTHER FINANCIAL MATTERS?


There needs to be some discussion of


these issues, to the extent that they


relate to the company's strategy. Thus,


the board's intentions with regard to


any significant cash pile would need to


be explained, how the company’s cost


of capital is minimised across the cycle,


and so on. Where treasury and hedging


operations are important to the 


strategy and future performance and


success of the business, then these too


will need to be disclosed - at a 


broad-brush level. In the same way as


the disclosure of KPIs is needed to


allow shareholder insight into the 


operational aspects of strategy and


management, so Business Reviews will


need to make some disclosure of the


framework which the board has put in


place to provide financial discipline for


the business.
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WHAT MUST WE DISCLOSE IN RELATION TO
SOCIAL, ETHICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
MATTERS?


The legislation is clear that these


issues (it uses the terms environmental


matters, the company's employees, and


social and community issues) must be


discussed “to the extent necessary” to


understand the development, 


performance or position of the 


company. Furthermore, “where 


appropriate”, companies must also 


disclose KPIs on such issues where


necessary to understand the business.


In approaching this area, we 


recommend that directors consider


how these factors fit within the context


of the overarching aim of the Business


Review, to report on the company to its


shareholders. So, where such factors


are important risks to the future 


success of the company, this will need


to be disclosed and discussed. Many


companies may need to think about


environmental impacts and the future


costs that these may entail. Consumer-


facing businesses are likely to need to


discuss customer relations and 


management of risks to their 


reputation. Most boards will need to


consider discussing the retention and


development of key staff. If any of


these three areas are not covered in


the Review, there needs to be a 


statement to this effect.


Such discussions could be used as an


opportunity to answer the increasing


requests smaller companies face for


information on social, environmental


and ethical issues. We believe that


most shareholders will see a value in


having these issues addressed briefly,


and note that brief discussions should


substantially fulfil the ABI Guidelines


on the disclosure of social, environ-


mental and ethical risks (for reference,


these can be found at


www.ivis.co.uk/pages/gdsc7_1.PDF). 
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AUDITOR OVERSIGHT


The role of the auditors is limited to


assuring that they believe the Business


Review discussions are consistent with


the knowledge of the company they


have gained through the audit. This is


broadly the requirement which 


auditors already apply themselves to


any non-audited information in 


company accounts, and so should not


create an undue burden or additional


cost - or an unnecessary paper trail to


justify what is published in the Review.


We believe that this is welcome.







Not for Distribution


17


IN CONCLUSION


The Business Review is an opportunity


for companies to communicate openly


and directly with their shareholders,


and thereby to win additional invest-


ment and lower their cost of capital. It


need not be seen as a cost burden,


particularly if companies seize it as an


opportunity to set out their stall for


current and prospective shareholders


rather than feeling obliged to comply


with rigid guidelines. We hope that this


practical guide assists companies in


this.
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APPENDIX: 
BUSINESS REVIEW - THE 
LEGAL REQUIREMENTS


According to the current draft clauses


of the Company Law Reform Bill:


The purpose of a business review “is to


inform members of the company and


help them assess how the directors


have performed” their duty to promote


the success of the company.


A directors’ report must contain: “a fair


review of the business of the 


company”; and “a description of the


principal risks and uncertainties facing


the company”.


The review must be “a balanced and


comprehensive analysis of”: “the


development and performance of the


company’s business” over the year;


and “the position of the company’s


business at the end of that year”.


It is expected to be “consistent with


the size and complexity of the 


business”.


To the “extent necessary” to 


understand the development, 


performance and position of the 


company, the review must include: “the


main trends and factors likely to affect


the future development” andperfor-


mance of the company; and


information on environmental, 


employee and community factors. If it


does not cover any of these issues, it


must state that it does not do so.


To the “extent necessary” to 


understand the development, 


performance and position of the 


company, the review must include:


“analysis using key performance 


indicators”; and “where appropriate,


analysis using other key performance


indicators” including information on 


environmental, employee and 


community factors.


“The review must, where appropriate,


include references to, and additional


explanations of, amounts included in


the company's annual accounts.”


The directors are required to report on


the consolidated group rather than just


the state of the parent company.


On the current timetable, we expect


these requirements to apply to 


reporting for financial years starting at


the earliest from April 1st 2006. For
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reporting for the financial year starting


from April 1st 2005 to then, a slightly


more restricted Business Review


requirement applies, which was put in


place by earlier legislation to 


implement the EU’s Accounts


Modernisation Directive. Apart from a


few purely cosmetic changes, this does


not include the clause on the purpose


of the Business Review, and nor does it


include the first “to the extent 


necessary” paragraph above, making


explicit the requirement to cover the


future development issues and the


information on environmental, 


employee and community issues. 


However, given the other requirements


- to report on the position of the 


business and to disclose relevant KPIs


on the environmental, employee and


community issues - we do not believe


that there is a substantive difference


between requirements for the different


years. We would therefore recommend


that QCA members approach their


Business Reviews for all years in the


context of this practical guidance.
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NOTES
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There was much public debate about


the last-minute addition to the


Business Review disclosure 


requirements of a duty to disclose


“information about persons with whom


the company has contractual or other


arrangements which are essential to


the business of the company”. The


addition was so last-minute that it


came after the original publication of


the QCA guide! Hence this short 


addition.


The broad drafting of this requirement


and the noise from NGOs and others


that it was a requirement for 


companies to report comprehensively


on their supply chains have led to a


good deal of nervousness about what


is required. But the efforts of the QCA


among others have meant that 


ministers have made statements in


parliament that make clear that the


requirement is much less demanding


than this. Therefore, it should not add


significantly to the reporting burden.


The ministerial statements make clear


that there is not a requirement to list


suppliers, or customers, or others;


rather the requirement is to report 


significant relationships which are 


ADDENDUM: 
WHAT DO I NEED TO 
SAY ABOUT SUPPLIERS?


likely to have an impact on 


performance or value. This should be


done within the context of the overall


aim of the business review - to give


shareholders a balanced and 


comprehensive analysis of the 


development and performance of the


company, and of the risks and 


uncertainties which will impact its


future development. It is in the area of


risks and uncertainties that the new


requirement comes into play.


Thus, what is required is not a broad


brush discussion of all parties with


which a company has contractual 


relationships. Rather, companies will


need to report where there is a risk or


uncertainty: where they have a 


dominant customer, or a single 


supplier, such that there might be 


disruption to their business if that 


relationship broke down or the 


customer/supplier hit financial 


difficulties. This does mean that 


smaller companies will be 


disproportionately affected by the new


requirement, but it also means that not


all smaller companies will need to add


to their reporting burden.
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If a company does need to include such


a disclosure in its Business Review, it is


not required to disclose the details of


the relationship - there is certainly no


requirement to disclose commercially


sensitive details. The ‘information’ that


needs to be disclosed is much less - a


the overview information which would


in any case be apparent to competitors


(and to the contracting party) - that


the named customer/supplier 


represents around X% of the 


customer/supplier base and there


might be disruption to the business if


this relationship broke down. If 


directors can also give some assurance


that relations continue to go well and


that they have plans in place to 


mitigate any problems that may arise,


their investors would welcome it. 


It is worth noting that while this 


discussion focuses on suppliers and


customers, the clause is not restricted


to such parties, and could extend to


employees, local communities, 


regulators and the like. So in many


ways it is just a restatement of the


general requirement to discuss risks


and uncertainties which face the 


business.


It is worth also noting that there is a


specific exclusion from the 


requirement to report on parties with


which the company has contractual


arrangements. This was introduced for


the benefit of the pharmaceutical


industry worrying about animal rights


extremists: there is no requirement to


disclose information where disclosure


would be - in the opinion of the 


directors - “seriously prejudicial” to the


person reported about, and contrary to


the public interest. This is a steep test,


and it explicitly does not absolve 


directors from responsibility to report


on matters which are prejudicial to the


reporting company itself. But the 


exclusion may be of interest to certain


QCA members.
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Consultation response form: The Future of Narrative Reporting  
 
A copy of the consultation available at: http://www.bis.gov.uk/consultations. 
 
Responses to the Consultation must be received by 19 October 2010 
 
Name: Victoria Whyte 
 
Organisation (if applicable): GlaxoSmithKline plc 
 
Address: 980 Great West Road, Brentford, Middlesex, TW8 9GS 
 
Email:  
 
Return completed forms to: 
Jane Leavens  
Corporate Law & Governance Directorate  
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills 
1 Victoria Street 
London 
SW1H 0ET 
 
Tel: 020 7215 1686 
Narrativereporting@bis.gsi.gov.uk 
 
Please tick the box from the following list of options that best describes 
you: 
 
 Quoted company 


 Other company  
 Investor or investment manager 
 Business representative organisation 
 Investor representative organisation  
 Non governmental organisation (NGO) 
 Trade Union 
 Lawyer or accountant 
 Other (e.g. consultant or private individual) 
 



http://www.bis.gov.uk/consultations
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Value of narrative reporting  
 
Question 1: Are company directors providing useful and relevant 
information on the company’s: 


i) forward-looking strategy and  
ii) principal risks and opportunities? 


 
Comments 
We believe that GSK is providing useful and relevant information in both of 
these areas, and, in our view, other major UK listed companies are likely to be 
providing similarly meaningful information. Subject to any specific legal 
requirements, such as the business review, companies and boards must 
generally be free to frame their narrative reports in the way they judge most 
appropriate. In the event that investors are not satisfied with the way items are 
covered by certain investee companies then they can always ask the 
management of those companies to provide further information, but given the 
vastly differing nature of companies and their businesses it is difficult to see 
how further regulation would improve disclosure in this area.  
 
We noted that in a recent Deloitte / ACCA survey on narrative reporting, 74 
per cent of respondents wanted more discretion and less regulation on 
narrative reporting.  We would agree with this sentiment.  The survey also 
found that the general level of disclosure of the statutory business review 
requirements was very good. 
 
 
Question 2: What are the constraints on companies providing information 
on these issues? 
 
Comments 
The legal and regulatory reporting framework provides the general 
parameters within which companies are required to provide information on 
these issues, and companies also need to bear in mind commercial 
sensitivities when providing such information. The time and resources 
available for the preparation of the narrative reporting may also act as 
constraints, particularly for smaller companies.  
 
With regard to strategy, we believe companies generally seek to share their 
aims with investors and stakeholders, but this may inevitably be tempered 
with caution, as there is a potential danger that some people will regard an 
explanation of opportunities in the Annual Report as definitive commitment.  
 
In the area of risks, we believe that companies will disclose those risks which 
their internal reviews identify as the most important. We note that there is a 
risk of liability if material risks are omitted which later result in losses. While 
the “safe harbour” in the Companies Act 2006 is helpful, for those with US 







listings, this can prove a very real concern, as witnessed by the growth in 
disclaimer wordings included in Annual Reports. We are aware that some 
companies may also be concerned that the disclosure of more detail about 
risks and uncertainties could give a misleading impression of their position. 
 
Please see also our response to question 1. 


 
Question 3: Does the information provided reflect the issues discussed by 
the directors in board meetings?  
 
Comments 
Yes, we would expect such matters to have typically been reviewed at 
companies’ board and/or relevant board committee meetings. The disclosures 
are likely to generally reflect those matters that have preoccupied the board 
throughout the year (subject to materiality, and commercial and political 
sensitivities). However, we do not think it would be helpful or appropriate to 
introduce some form of requirement that the board should specifically disclose 
its business. 
 
 
Question 4: Does the information help shareholders to press directors on 
key issues relating to strategy and risk, or inform their business decisions?  
 
Comments 
Yes, based on our experience of engagement with our shareholders. We 
believe that this is also likely to be the same for other companies and their 
shareholders. In our view, shareholders will also be likely to access and use a 
wide range of other information and sources made available by companies, 
such as those cited by way of example in question 6 below. 


  
Question 5: If a company does not provide sufficient or material 
information to you, do you challenge it? Is there anything which could help 
you to do so?   
 
Comments 
Not applicable.  
 


 
Question 6: What other sources of company information do you use and 
how valuable are they (e.g. information provided on the website, analysts’ 







briefings, dialogue with the company, corporate social responsibility 
report)? 
 
Comments 
Not applicable.  
 


 
Question 7: Is there scope to reduce or simplify the requirements on which 
companies report? 
 
Comments 
Yes. There is scope to rationalise and simplify the requirements and to make 
them less prescriptive, so as to avoid boilerplate statements and to minimise 
the risk of the creation of a box ticking mentality.  
 
The aim of relevant legislation/regulation should be to facilitate the generation 
of more focussed and company-specific information for users of company 
report and accounts. As you will be aware, this is an area that the Financial 
Reporting Council has also been considering in its “Reducing Complexity in 
Corporate Reporting” project.  Indeed, we think there could be potential to 
simplify Annual Reports by exploring the possibility of permitting companies to 
include only the business review. the corporate governance statements, and 
accounts in the Annual Report, and publishing other matters (such as static or 
slow-changing information) on a website. This should not involve any change 
of content, but investors might find such Annual Reports easier to access.  
 
There may also be scope to draw together the regulatory requirements of the 
various bodies setting narrative reporting requirements, to make it easier for 
companies to remain aware of and to help them ensure compliance with their 
various obligations. 
 
Question 8: Is there scope to arrange the information in a more useful way?  
 
Comments 
Yes. There is an ongoing need - as well as an increasing demand from the 
investment community at large - for companies to ensure that their Annual 
Reports tell a cohesive “corporate story” throughout, rather than merely 
complying with a range of underlying reporting requirements. It is therefore 
vital for companies to ensure that this message is not obscured, and that 
shareholders can always see the “wood for the trees”. 
 
It may also be timely for BIS to also review the various disclosure obligations 
in relation to the directors’ report, and whether the requirements could be 
better structured and presented, since many of the requirements have grown 
piecemeal over many years to address various Government policy objectives 







of the day. 
 
Please see also our response to question 7. 
 
Business Review 
Question 9: Looking at an Operating & Financial Review and the existing 
business review (see Annex D), do you see value in reinstating elements of 
an OFR and if so what would they be? In particular, would a statutory 
reporting standard help to improve the quality of reporting?   
 
Comments 
No, we are strongly against the introduction of an Operating and Financial 
Review (“OFR”).  
 
There was extensive debate on this issue under the previous Government, 
resulting in the introduction of the business review. While it makes sense to 
assess how well the business review is working in practice, it would be 
premature to suggest that we need to revert to the OFR. In this regard, the 
new UK Corporate Governance Code recommends that companies include a 
description of their business model. When introducing this change, the FRC 
stated that “there is currently a gap in reporting and that setting out in 
layman’s terms the company’s strategy for generating long term value would 
enhance the ability of investors and other users of reports to assess the 
disclosures required under the business review”. Given that this change only 
applies to financial years commencing on or after 29 June 2010, we strongly 
believe that now is not the time to introduce yet further change. 
 
In substance, the business review and the OFR are in any event broadly 
similar, the main difference being the reference to the reporting standards in 
relation to, and a formal auditors’ review of, the OFR. As the auditors review 
the business review for consistency with the audited parts of the report and 
accounts, there is already a level of assurance in company reporting and 
there is certainly no shortage of best practice guidance.  
 
Furthermore, reinstating the OFR requirements would be unlikely to lead to 
any significant improvement in narrative reporting or more importantly, the 
management of the underlying issues, and we see no significant benefit to 
companies or users of Annual Reports.. Most companies are, in any event, 
likely to already be going beyond the relevant statutory requirements. Please 
see our comment in response to question 7, which we believe is also relevant 
here. 
 
Narrative reporting generally has received much attention in recent years from 
a wide range of organisations. In our view, there are no obvious gaps or 
weaknesses where further statutory or regulatory intervention is required or 
justified. Indeed, we believe that broadly there is a need for stability in the 







reporting framework. That does not mean that there is not scope for some 
individual companies to improve their reporting, but pressure on them for 
improvement is best coming from their shareholders, to whom the annual 
report is addressed.  
 
In our view, the current UK reporting framework is amongst the very best in 
the world, and UK companies are highly-regarded internationally for the 
quality of their reporting to shareholders. We believe that this is attributable in 
large part to the principles-based nature of the existing regulatory regime, and 
the flexibility that this creates. We believe, therefore, that a more prescriptive 
regime would actually weaken the quality of narrative reporting as companies 
are obliged to make box-ticking disclosures rather than attempt real 
communication. More change or prescription would inevitably also cost 
businesses more, in terms of internal resources and external fees, and erode 
the competitive advantage afforded to UK businesses by the current regime. 
 
Finally in this regard, we note that, under the Prospectus Rules, an OFR must 
be included in a prospectus. However, we would suggest that consideration 
might also usefully be given by BIS to determine whether investors find it 
useful. In 2008, the Rights Issue Review Group’s Report to the Chancellor of 
the Exchequer found that “due to its length and complexity, most investors do 
not use the prospectus as a means of information prior to investment 
decisions”. The Group did not recommend the inclusion of an OFR in its 
proposed short-form prospectus, which suggests it considered that investors 
do not value the OFR highly. 
 
Question 10: The business review provisions require quoted companies to 
report, to the extent necessary, on:  
 main trends and factors likely to affect the future development, 


performance and position of the company’s business 
 information on environmental matters 
 information on employees 
 information on social and community matters 
 persons with whom the company has essential contractual and other 


relationships   
i) is this information useful to you?  How do you use it? 
ii) Could disclosure be improved? If so, how?  
iii) Are there key issues which are missing? If so, please explain? 


 
Comments 
i) Not applicable. 
ii) Generally we feel that the requirements are sufficiently detailed to enable 
companies to give a comprehensive response on such matters. Please see 
also our comments set out earlier in the response form. 
iii) No, and, to our knowledge, there is also no noticeable demand on the part 
of the wider investor community for more detailed reporting in the business 







review from the companies in which they invest.  
Please see also our comments set out earlier in the response form. 
 


 
Question 11: Would more guidance be helpful?  If so, what form should this 
take? For example, best practice example, sample Key Performance 
Indicators, etc?  
 
Comments 
No, we believe that sufficient guidance already exists, However, it may be 
helpful for all the guidance to be made available/accessible at or via one 
location, eg via the Accounting Standards Board or the Financial Reporting 
Council’s websites. The relevant guidance may inevitably need to be updated 
from time to time to ensure that it always remains in step with best practice. 


 
Question 12: Should there be a shareholder’s advisory vote on the 
Business Review? 
 
Comments 
We do not believe that it is appropriate for there to be an advisory vote on the 
business review within the Annual Report. Shareholders already have the 
opportunity to, and currently do, express their satisfaction with the wider 
governance and performance of a company via the annual votes on a 
company’s Annual Report, directors’ remuneration report and the re-
appointment of auditors. In our view, this would also add further bureaucracy 
to the AGM process. We believe that support for the matters within the 
business review is implicit in the vote on the Annual Report. Adding a specific 
vote on the business review section could not only potentially lead to an 
increased level of boilerplate disclosure in this important area, but to a 
business review box ticking mentality, which would only ultimately serve to 
constrain the way in which companies communicate with shareholders on 
matters within the business review.  
 
Question 13: Are there non-regulatory solutions to increasing quality 
through better guidance or publicising excellence in business reports? If 
so, what? 
 
Comments 
The recently launched ICSA Hermes Transparency in Governance Awards is 
a welcome development and a good example of a non-regulatory solution, 
seeking to identify and reward high standards of disclosure, with the aim of 
encouraging improvements both in the disclosure process and in governance 







performance itself. 
 
However, while the principle of non-regulatory solutions is attractive, overall 
basic regulation should ensure an acceptable degree of comparable reporting 
for all shareholders. In our view, the Financial Reporting Review Panel 
(“FRRP”) exerts a significant influence over corporate reporting, as company 
boards generally wish to avoid investigation by, or referral to, the FRRP. 
 


In any event, we doubt whether an annual ranking of companies’ Business 
Reviews would achieve the intended clarity of disclosure. Although a number 
of companies are motivated about positions in league tables, there are likely 
to be many for whom this would not act as an incentive. Finally, each 
company is individual and distinct and a comparison of different Business 
Reviews would not be comparing like with like. Any form of ranking is 
therefore likely to be somewhat arbitrary and artificial. 
 
It is important to strike a balance between increasing burden on companies 
through prescriptive requirements on the one hand, and driving up quality on 
the other. At present we believe that there is a good balance, subject to the 
opportunities for the simplification/rationalisation of disclosure being fully 
explored. (Please see also our comments set out earlier in the response 
form). 
 
Directors’ Remuneration Report 
 
Question 14: Do the current disclosure requirements provide clear and 
usable information about:  


 the total remuneration paid to directors, and how this is made up; 
 the performance criteria for payments to directors, and how 


these relate to the company’s strategic objectives; 
 company performance against these criteria, so that there is a 


demonstrable link between pay and performance; 
 the process by which directors’ remuneration is decided? 


 
Comments 
Yes. The current disclosure requirements seek to provide for full and 
comprehensive disclosure, but the complexity and variety of companies’ 
remuneration and reward schemes, can inevitably lead to complex 
disclosures in some instances. Therefore consideration might be given by BIS 
as to whether and how the current statutory disclosure requirements might be 
simplified. 
 
However, we believe that, generally, the current level of disclosure in 
companies’ directors’ remuneration reports provides clear and helpful 
information to shareholders. Since the directors’ remuneration report 
regulations were introduced, the quality of reporting has improved each year 







as best practice has evolved.  
 
We note from various surveys that last year saw a significant improvement in 
disclosures with most companies providing more information about both how 
remuneration arrangements for the coming year were being tailored to fit the 
circumstances of the particular company, and how remuneration in the year 
under review was linked to the performance for the year. This was driven by 
companies needing to review and change remuneration arrangements in the 
context of a very challenging and uncertain economy and by increasing 
pressure from shareholders who naturally want to see that remuneration is 
very clearly aligned to company strategy and performance, particularly when 
there is a downturn in a company’s performance. 
 
We would be particularly concerned about any proposals requiring any further 
disclosure relating to the total remuneration paid to directors. Current ‘best 
practice’ disclosure allows investors to assess the total level of remuneration 
that would be paid for maximum performance and the level that would be paid 
if ‘on-target’ performance were achieved. Including a total remuneration 
‘number’ would add a significant level of complication in determining how 
some elements of the package are to be valued which would need to be 
consistently applied for all companies. In our view, the disclosure of such a 
number would fuel media interest and encourage pay comparisons and 
potential ‘ratcheting’ rather than add any value to investors since these 
numbers can be misleading and not necessarily comparable across 
companies. In any event and as a broader point, we query whether the 
information provided about directors’ remuneration, generally, under the 
current disclosure requirements is helping restrain, or has accelerated, growth 
in executive pay across UK plc.  
 
While there are elements of the remuneration package, such as pensions and 
annual bonus, where no current disclosure on policy is required by the 
regulations, best practice has evolved such that very few companies do not 
provide some degree of information. Most of the FTSE 350 companies now 
include information relating to the performance criteria used in both short and 
long term incentive plans, and how these relate to the company’s strategic 
objectives. An increasing number of companies provide information 
demonstrating the link between pay and performance.  
 
Over the past few years, investors in companies have increasingly demanded 
more and better quality information. This is set to continue with the 
introduction of the Stewardship Code for Institutional Investors which is likely 
to increase the level of shareholder engagement. We believe that increased 
communication between companies and shareholders is more likely to lead to 
remuneration structures which are tailored and appropriate to each company 
than any route of increased regulation which, in our view, tends to encourage 
boilerplate disclosure and more standardised arrangements. 







Costs 
 
Question 15:  
If you can provide any information on costs associated either with the 
existing narrative reporting requirements eg preparing your business 
review or your views on potential costs and benefits in relation to any of 
the ideas in this consultation, please give details    
 
Comments 
A sizeable amount of time/time costs and audit costs are associated with the 
existing narrative reporting requirements. Any increased requirements would 
increase such costs without any significant benefit in terms of the quality of 
the business review. In our view, the quality of narrative reporting does not 
necessarily follow the quantity of either the prescribed underlying disclosure 
requirements or the resultant disclosures.  


 
 


URN 10/1057RF 





